Genetic Alterations Associated with Development of Human Diffusely Infiltrating Astrocytomas

Alterações Genéticas Associadas com o Desenvolvimento dos Astrocitomas Infiltrativos Difusos Humanos

> Rui Manuel Vieira Reis Porto 2001



Genetic Alterations Associated with Development of Human Diffusely Infiltrating Astrocytomas

Alterações Genéticas Associadas com o Desenvolvimento dos Astrocitomas Infiltrativos Difusos Humanos

Rui Manuel Vieira Reis

Porto, 2001

DISSERTAÇÃO DE CANDIDATURA AO GRAU DE DOUTOR APRESENTADA À FACULDADE DE MEDICINA DA UNIVERSIDADE DO PORTO.

Artigo 48º, § 3º - A Faculdade não responde pelas doutrinas expendidas na dissertação. (Regulamento da Faculdade de Medicina do Porto – Decreto-Lei nº 19337, 29 de Janeiro de 1931).

AGRADECIMENTOS / ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is a difficult task to condense in few lines my gratitude to all the people that during these four years, directly or indirectly, made possible the accomplishment of this "journey".

To Prof. Paul Kleihues and Dr. Hiroko Ohgaki, I wish to express my sincere thank for your scientific support, for the time spent on my supervision and for all insightful discussion, which were decisive for this fruitful experience. It was a grateful privilege to work and learn with you at IARC.

Ao Prof. José Manuel Lopes, quero agradeçer todo o apoio científico e pessoal, bem como a sua disponibilidade. O seu incentivo, rigor e alguma paciência, foram preponderantes para a concretização deste trabalho. O meu muito obrigado pela forma amiga como o fez.

Ao Prof. Sobrinho-Simões, agradeço o inestimável apoio, estímulo e entusiasmo que foram determinantes neste trabalho. Pela oportunidade de trabalhar no IPATIMUP que tem sido a pedra basal da minha formação científica, o meu mais sincero obrigado.

Ao Prof. Sobrinho-Simões e à Prof. Fátima Carneiro, Director do Laboratório de Anatomia Patológica Faculdade de Medicina do Porto e Directora do Serviço de Anatomia Patológica do Hospital S. João, respectivamente, agradeço a disponibilidade de meios para a concretização de parte dos trabalhos apresentados.

To the co-authors of the publications for their contributions and suggestions.

To "MPA team", I want to thank you the precious help and friendship. Special thanks to Nicole, Huatao, Fujisawa, Stefano, Anick and Nathalie.

To all my IARC Friends, especially Andrea, Sabina, Denise, Bertrand and Isabelle, thanks for making me feel like home.

A todos os meus amigos e colegas do IPATIMUP, e em especial à Paulinha, Fátima Magalhães e Paula Silva, um Muito Obrigado.

Aos meus Amigos, em especial à Carla e ao Nelo, pelo imprescindível suporte nas diferentes fases desta caminhada.

O meu agradecimento à Prof. Maria de Sousa, coordenadora do Programa GABBA, pela oportunidade concedida.

À Fundação para a Ciência e tecnologia agradeço a bolsa de doutoramento.

Aos meus pais, a quem devo o que sou. A eles, à Paula, Gaspar, Cláudia e Sara, obrigado pela indespensável presença.

Ao abrigo do Art. 8º do Decreto-Lei nº 388/70 fazem parte integrante desta dissertação os seguintes trabalhos:

I. Rui M. Reis, Akira Hara, Paul Kleihues, Hiroko Ohgaki. Genetic evidence of neoplastic nature of gemistocytes in astrocytomas. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 2001, 102:422-425.

II. Hironori Fujisawa, Rui M. Reis, Mitsutoshi Nakamura, Stefano Colella, Yasuhiro Yonekawa, Paul Kleihues, Hiroko Ohgaki. Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 10 is more extensive in primary (de novo) than in secondary glioblastomas. *Laboratory Investigation*, 2000, 80: 65-72.

III. Rui M. Reis, Mitsutoshi Nakamura, Jun Masuoka, Takao Watanabe, Stefano Colella, Yasuhiro Yonekawa, Paul Kleihues, Hiroko Ohgaki. Mutation analysis of *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes in glioblastomas. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 2001, 101:297-304.

IV. Rui M. Reis, Riita Herva, Sebastian Brandner, John Koivukangas, Nikolai Mironov, Walter Bär, Paul Kleihues, Hiroko Ohgaki. Second Primary Glioblastoma. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 2001, 60:208-215.

V. Rui M. Reis, Dilek Könü-Lebleblicioglu, José M. Lopes, Paul Kleihues, Hiroko Ohgaki. Genetic profile of the gliosarcoma. *American Journal of Pathology*, 2000, 156:425-432.

Em cumprimento do disposto no referido Decreto-Lei declara que participou activamente na recolha e estudo do material incluído em todos os trabalhos, tendo redigido os textos com a colaboração dos outros autores. Inclui também resultados, não publicados, relativos a mutações do gene *p53* em astrocitomas difusos.

NOTA EXPLICATIVA

A presente dissertação está escrita em inglês na sua quase totalidade, exceptuando o Sumário e Conclusões, pelo facto de a Doutora Hiroko Oghaki e o Professor Doutor Paul Kleihues terem sido seus co-orientadores.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABBREVIATIONS | 13 |
|---|----|
| INTRODUCTION | 15 |
| 1-Epidemiological, clinical and histological features of diffusely infiltrating | |
| astrocytomas | 17 |
| 1.1-Epidemiological features | 17 |
| 1.2-Clinical and histological features | 18 |
| 1.2.1-Diffuse astrocytoma | 19 |
| 1.2.1.1-Fibrillary astrocytoma | 19 |
| 1.2.1.2-Gemistocytic astrocytoma | 19 |
| 1.2.1.3-Protoplasmic astrocytoma | 20 |
| 1.2.2-Anaplastic astrocytoma | 20 |
| 1.2.3-Glioblastoma | 20 |
| 1.2.3.1-Giant-cell glioblastoma | 22 |
| 1.2.3.2-Gliosarcoma | 22 |
| 2-Genetic alterations of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas | 23 |
| 2.1-Alterations of genes involved in cell-cycle control | 23 |
| 2.1.1-Rb pathway (p15 ^{INK4b} /p16 ^{INK4a} /CDK4/6/Rb) | 23 |
| 2.1.2-p53 pathway (p53/MDM2/p14 ^{ARF}) | 27 |
| 2.2-Alterations of Growth Factors and Growth Factor Receptors | 31 |
| 2.2.1-Epidermal growth factor (EGF) / Epidermal growth factor receptor | |
| (EGFR) | 31 |
| 2.2.2-Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) / Platelet-derived growth factor | |
| receptor (PDGFR) | 31 |
| 2.3-Chromosomal instability | 32 |
| 2.3.1-LOH and inactivation of tumour suppressor genes | 33 |
| 2.3.1.1-Chromosome 10, PTEN and other tumour suppressor genes | 33 |
| 2.3.1.2-Other common deleted chromosomal regions | 35 |
| 2.4-Diffuse astrocytoma genetic profile | 36 |
| 2.5-Primary and secondary glioblastoma genetic profile | 37 |
| 2.6-Giant cell glioblastoma genetic profile | 38 |
| 2.7-Gliosarcoma genetic profile | 39 |
| AIMS | 41 |
| MATERIAL AND METHODS | 47 |
| | |

| RESULTS51 |
|---|
| 1-p53 mutations and gemistocytes in diffuse astrocytomas (Unpublished results |
| and paper I)53 |
| 1.1-Distribution of <i>p53</i> mutated cells in a diffuse astrocytoma (Unpublished |
| results)53 |
| 1.2-Analysis of <i>p53</i> mutations in gemistocytes of gemistocytic astrocytomas |
| (Paper I) |
| 2-LOH on chromosome 10 and human BUB gene family mutations in glioblastomas |
| (Papers II and III) |
| 2.1-LOH on chromosome 10 in glioblastomas (Paper II)55 |
| 2.2-Mutation analysis of <i>hBUB1</i> , <i>hBUBR1</i> and <i>hBUB3</i> mitotic checkpoint genes |
| in glioblastomas (Paper III)57 |
| 3-Second primary glioblastoma (Paper IV)58 |
| 4-Genetic characterisation of gliosarcomas (Paper V) |
| DISCUSSION |
| 1- <i>p53</i> mutations and gemistocytes in diffuse astrocytomas |
| 2-LOH on chromosome 10 and human BUB gene family mutations in glioblastomas68 |
| 3-Second primary glioblastoma |
| 4-Genetic characterisation of gliosarcomas74 |
| CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES |
| REFERENCES |
| SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS |
| SUMÁRIO E CONCLUSÕES |
| PAPERS I-V |

ABBREVIATIONS

ARF - Alternative reading frame

ATM - Ataxia-telangiectasia mutated

ATR - Ataxia-telangiectasia and Rad3-related

BCNU - 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea

bp - Base pair

BUB - Budding-uninhibited-by-benzimidazole

CDK - Cyclin dependent kinase

CDKN2A - Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A

CIP - CDK-interacting proteins

CNS - Central nervous system

CNTF - Cilliary neutrophic growth factor

CpG – Cytosine phospho guanine

CT - Computed tomography

DMBT1 - Deleted in malignant brain tumours 1

DNA – Deoxyribonucleic acid

EGF - Epidermal growth factor

EGFR - Epidermal growth factor receptor

FGF2 - Fibroblast growth factor 2

GAB1 - GRB2-associated binder-1

GADD45 - Growth arrested-and DNA damage-inducible gene

GDNPF - Glial derived neurite promoting factor

GFAP - Glial fibrillar acidic protein

GRB2 - Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2

H&E –Haematoxylin and eosin

HDM2 - Human double minute 2

HGF- Hepatocyte growth factor

HIF - Hypoxia-inducible factor

INK4 - Inhibitors of CDK4

LOH - Loss of heterozygosity

MAD - Mitotic-arrest-deficient

MAX - Myc-associated factor X

MBD4 – Methyl-CpG binding domain 4

MDM2 - Mousse double minute 2

MGMT - O⁶-Methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase

MMAC1 - Mutated in multiple advanced cancers-1

MPS1 – Monopolar spindle-like 1

MRI - Magnetic resonance imaging

- mRNA Messenger RNA
- MTS1 Multiple tumour suppressor 1
- MXI1 Max interacting protein 1
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor
- PIP-3 Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-triphosphatase
- PKB Protein kinase B
- PTEN -- Phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome ten
- Rb Retinoblastoma
- RNA Ribonucleic acid
- RTK Receptor tyrosine kinase
- RT-PCR Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction
- SPARC Secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine precursor
- SSCP Single strand conformation polymorphism
- SV40 Simian virus 40
- TDG Thymine-DNA glycosylase
- TEP1 TGF-regulated and epithelial cell-enriched phosphatase
- TGF Transforming growth factor
- TIMP-3 Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 3
- TSP-1- Trombospondin type 1
- TYRO3 Tyrosine protein kinase SKY
- UV Ultraviolet
- WAF1 Wild-type p53-activated fragment 1

INTRODUCTION

1-Epidemiological, clinical and histological features of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas

1.1-Epidemiological features

Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas constitute a distinct group within the astrocytic tumour types, including the following tumours subtypes: diffuse astrocytoma, anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma multiforme ^{1,2}.

Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas are far the most frequent intracranial tumours and account for more than 60% of all primary brain tumours ². These tumours can develop at any age but with a peak of frequency in the fourth and fifth decades, and affect men more frequently than women, with overall male/female ratios ranging from 1.1 to 1.6^{1,2}.

The incidence of tumours of the central nervous system (CNS) ranges between 7 to 9 new cases annually per 100,000 population, corresponding to less than 2% of all new cancers ^{1,3}. The highest rates are observed in developed areas (North America, Europe, and Oceania) and lowest in Africa and Pacific Islands (Fig. 1) ^{4,5}. The incidence of CNS tumours in Portugal is among the highest in the world, with 4.7 cases per 100,000 for women and 7 cases per 100,000 for men (Fig. 1) ⁵.



Fig. 1 - Incidence and mortality data of central nervous system tumours in the world (reproduced from Globocan, 2000 ⁵).

Numerous studies reported an increase in brain tumour rates over the past several decades, particularly among the elderly ⁶⁻⁹. However, several authors argued that this increase is largely artifactual, mainly reflecting improvements on the diagnosis and reporting of brain tumours ^{3,10,11}. For the same reason, brain tumour incidence may be

underestimated in many less developed countries and this may well explain, at least in part, the observed geographic differences ⁴.

1.2-Clinical and histological features

Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas have the following features: they occur anywhere along the neuro-axis, but they are most frequent in the white matter of the cerebral hemisphere in adults and may extend to the cortex or basal ganglia; they have a wide range of histological features and biological behaviour; they tend to infiltrate the surrounding brain, and consequently, their complete removal is very difficult and they tend to recur. Frequently, the recurrence is associated with progression to more malignant lesions ^{1,2}. The factors associated with a more favourable clinical course in infiltrative diffuse astrocytomas are; young age of patient; high preoperative Karnofsky performance score; gross total tumour resection; and adjuvant radiotherapy and chemotherapy ¹. Unlike other solid tumours, these neoplasms very rarely metastasise outside the CNS. Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas should be clearly differentiated from the other astrocytic tumours, namely, pilocytic astrocytoma, pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma and subependymal giant cell astrocytoma that are typically encountered in children and young adults. These tumours lack the diffusely infiltrating growth pattern, have different biological ground and a more favourable prognosis ^{1,2}.

Around 1950, Kernohan *et al*, ¹² and Ringertz et al ¹³ introduced a grading system for astrocytic tumours to indicate prognosis, with four grades of increasing malignancy (grade I to IV). Currently, the most widely used is the World Health Organisation (WHO) classification of astrocytic tumours, which also includes the malignant grade and is organised in a malignancy scale (Table 1)².

| WHO Designation | WHO Grade | |
|--------------------------|-----------|--|
| Diffuse astrocytomas | 11 | |
| Fibrillary astrocytoma | П | |
| Gemistocytic astrocytoma | П | |
| Protoplasmic astrocytoma | 11 | |
| Anaplastic astrocytoma | Ш | |
| Glioblastoma | IV | |
| Giant cell glioblastoma | IV | |
| Gliosarcoma | IV | |

Table 1 - Histological Classification of Diffusely Infiltrating Astrocytomas

1.2.1-Diffuse astrocytoma

Diffuse astrocytomas (WHO grade II) are also termed low-grade diffuse astrocytoma or "well-differentiated" astrocytoma. They are slow growing tumours, with a high degree of cellular differentiation, that diffusely infiltrate the normal brain structures and have a tendency for recurrence and progression to anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO grade III) and ultimately glioblastoma multiforme (WHO grade IV) ¹⁴⁻¹⁶. Diffuse astrocytoma represents 10-15% of all astrocytic brain tumours and typically manifest in young adults with a peak of incidence between 30 and 40 years of age ^{14,15}. The meantime interval to progression to glioblastoma is 4-5 years with a considerable individual variation, with some cases remaining relatively latent for several years and others progressing rapidly ¹⁴.

Histologically three different variants can be distinguished: *fibrillary*, *gemistocytic* and *protoplasmic astrocytomas*.

1.2.1.1-Fibrillary astrocytoma

Fibrillary astrocytoma (Fig. 2A) is the most common variant and is composed of fibrillary neoplastic astrocytes, with elongated glial process expressing glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP). Nuclear atypia, including enlarged, elongated or irregular hyperchromatic nuclei, is a histological criterion differentiating neoplastic cells from normal and reactive astrocytes. Cell density is low to moderate ¹⁴⁻¹⁶.

1.21.2-Gemistocytic astrocytoma

Gemistocytic astrocytoma (Fig. 2B) is a rare variant with predominant presence of gemistocytes. Gemistocytes are characterised by voluminous, eosinophilic cytoplasm, eccentric nuclei, plump cell processes and marked expression of GFAP ^{14,16,17}. These tumours are particularly prone to progress to anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma multiforme ¹⁴⁻¹⁸. However, according to new WHO classification of brain tumours ¹⁴, this does not justify a general classification of the gemistocytic astrocytoma as anaplastic astrocytoma to receive astrocytoma as anaplastic astrocytoma to progress the gemistocytic astrocytoma as anaplastic astrocytoma to progress the gemistocytic astrocytoma as anaplastic astrocytoma to progress the gemistocytoma to progress to progress to the gemistocytic astrocytoma as anaplastic astrocytoma to progress to progress to the gemistocytoma to progress to progres



Fig. 2 - Histological appearance of fibrillary astrocytoma (A) and gemistocytic astrocytoma (B) (H&E staining).

It remains to clarify the cut off value of gemistocyte fraction associated with a worse prognosis. Krouwer *et al.* ¹⁸ in a series of 28 gemistocytic astrocytomas, reported that patients containing more than 20% gemistocytes showed a considerably lower 5-year survival rate when compared to those astrocytomas containing less gemistocytes. In the new WHO classification of brain tumours ¹⁴, a cut off value of 20% of gemistocytes fraction has been proposed for the diagnosis of gemistocytic astrocytoma. However, Watanabe *et al* ¹⁷ have reported that diffuse astrocytoma patients containing more than 5% gemistocytes had a significantly shorter time till progression to more malignant lesions when compared to those containing less than 5% gemistocytes. In addition, Mahler-Araujo *et al* (unpublished results) also observed that diffuse astrocytomas containing more than 5% gemistocytes had a significant tendency to progress to higher malignancies, than those with less than 5% gemistocytes. The biological basis underlying the poor outcome of gemistocytic astrocytomas remains unclear, since gemistocytes themselves have a low proliferative activity ^{17,19,20}, and resemble to some extent reactive astrocytes encountered in a variety of other non-neoplastic CNS diseases ^{19,22,23}.

1.2.1.3-Protoplasmic astrocytoma

Protoplasmic astrocytoma, a rare variant, is characterised by neoplastic astrocytes with small cell bodies with few, flaccid processes, with a low content of glial filaments and scant GFAP expression ^{14,15}.

1.2.2-Anaplastic astrocytoma

Anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO grade III) may arise from progression of diffuse astrocytoma or occur *de novo* without evidence of a less malignant precursor lesion. It is characterised by a high cellularity, presence of mitotic figures and nuclear atypia. As does diffuse astrocytoma, anaplastic astrocytoma exhibits considerable variation in cellularity as well as in morphologic heterogeneity. They have a tendency for progression to glioblastoma multiforme with a mean time till progression of 2 years, however, with a considerable variability ²⁴. The incidence is highest in patients between 40 and 50 years old ^{24,25}.

1.2.3-Glioblastoma

Glioblastoma (WHO grade IV), previously known as glioblastoma multiforme, is the most malignant and most common brain tumour, accounting for approximately 12-15% of all intracranial neoplasms and 50 to 60% of all astrocytic tumours ^{26,27}. In 1940, Scherer ²⁸ used the terms *primary* and *secondary* glioblastoma to subdivide glioblastoma based on their clinical and biological features. Primary (*de novo*) glioblastoma constitutes the vast majority of glioblastomas (approximately 80%). They develop rapidly, with a short clinical history (usually less than 3 months) and without clinical, histologic or radiologic evidence of

a less malignant precursor lesion. Secondary glioblastomas are less frequent, develop more slowly, through progression from diffuse astrocytoma or anaplastic astrocytoma ^{27,28}. Primary glioblastoma occur in older patients (mean, 55 years), whereas secondary glioblastoma arises in younger patients (mean, 40 years) ^{27,29,30}. It is still a matter of discussion whether patients with secondary glioblastoma harbour a better prognosis than primary glioblastoma. This classification of primary and secondary glioblastoma has been merely conceptual, since both subtypes are similar histologically.

Despite multimodal treatment, including surgery, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy, the prognosis of glioblastoma patients remains dismal. The mean survival time is less than 1 year and has changed little over the past two decades ^{26,27,31}. Less than 2% of patients survive more than 3 years ³², and a recent review reported only 30 cases of patients that had survived up to 10 years ³³.

Histologically, glioblastoma is characterised by poorly differentiated neoplastic astrocytes, nuclear atypia and presence of high mitotic activity. The presence of necrosis, which can appear with a pseudopalisading pattern or in massive areas, and exuberant microvascular proliferation, are histological hallmarks of glioblastomas (Fig. 3). The histology reveals an architectural pleomorphism, not only between patients but also within the same tumour. There are two histological glioblastoma variants, *giant-cell glioblastoma* and *gliosarcoma*^{15,16}.



Fig. 3 - Histological appearance of glioblastoma (H&E staining).

1.2.3.1-Giant-cell glioblastoma

Giant-cell glioblastoma (WHO grade IV) represents less than 1% of all brain tumours and up to 5% of glioblastomas ³⁴. Histologically it is characterised by the predominance of bizarre and multinucleated giant cells ^{34,35} (Fig. 4). The giant cell glioblastomas typically arise *de novo*, i.e., without the presence of a less malignant precursor lesion. They occur in patients with a mean age of 42 years and have a male/female ratio of 1.6 ³⁴. Therefore, this variant shares some features with both primary and secondary glioblastoma.



Fig. 4 - Histological appearance of giant cell glioblastoma (H&E staining).

1.2.3.2-Gliosarcoma

Gliosarcoma is a rare variant and accounts for approximately 2% of all glioblastomas. Gliosarcoma presents a clinical profile characteristic of primary glioblastoma ³⁶. The majority of cases develop *de novo*, occur in old patients (mean of 53 years), and have a sex ratio of 1.4. Phenotypically it is characterised by a biphasic tissue pattern with alternating areas of sarcomatous and gliomatous differentiation (Fig. 5) ³⁶.

The histogenesis of the sarcomatous component of gliosarcomas has been a controversial issue. Earlier morphological and immunohistochemistry studies suggested an evolution of the sarcomatous component from microvascular proliferation within a highly malignant glioblastoma ³⁷⁻³⁹. However, more recent molecular studies suggested a monoclonal origin of both gliomatous and sarcomatous components ^{40,41}.



Fig. 5 – Immunohistochemical appearance of gliosarcoma (GFAP staining).

2-Genetic alterations of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas

Carcinogenesis is a multistep process characterised by deregulation of growth, loss of differentiation, sustained angiogenesis, absence of apoptosis, limitless replicative potential and tissue invasion and metastisation. These steps reflect acquisition of genetic alterations in oncogenes (promoters of cancer initiation and progression) and tumour suppressor genes (inhibitors of cancer initiation and progression) that drive the progressive transformation of normal human cells into highly malignant cells ^{42,43}. Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas biology is complex, and a full description of genetic alterations involved in all tumourigenic processes is far from complete and beyond the scope of this section. We here will briefly focus on several genetic abnormalities involved in cell-cycle control, growth factor signalling, and genetic instability of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas.

2.1-Alterations of genes involved in cell-cycle control

2.1.1-Rb pathway (p15^{INK4b}/p16^{INK4a}/CDK4/6/Rb)

The mammalian cell-cycle is divided into four distinct phases: G_1 , S, G_2 and M. G_1 phase is the interval in which cells respond to extracellular signals that ultimately determine whether cells will replicate DNA and divide or, alternatively, to exit the cell-cycle into a quiescent state (G_0). Once cells make the decision to begin DNA replication, they are

irreversibly committed to complete the cycle, and the time late in G₁ phase at which this decision is made was designated the "restriction checkpoint" ^{44,45}. When cells are stimulated by mitogen factors to enter the cycle from G₀, they generally require continuous mitogenic stimulation to be driven to the restriction checkpoint, after which mitogens can be withdrawn and the cells will enter S phase and complete the cycle in their absence. Conversely, antiproliferative compounds, such as transforming growth factor- β or drugs such as rapamycin, can arrest the proliferation of cells that are progressing through G₁ phase but have not yet reached the restriction checkpoint.

A complex network co-ordinates the cell cycle. In a simplified manner, progression of cells from G₁ to S phase is positively regulated by proteins such as cyclins (cyclin D and E) and cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) (CDK4, CDK6 and CDK2), and negatively by their inhibitors that can be of two major families; the CIP/Kip family, that includes the p21^{Wat1/Cip1}, p27^{kip1}, and p57^{KIP2} proteins; and the INK4 family, including the founding member p16^{INK4a} and the other closely related proteins p15^{INK4b}, p18^{INK4c} and p19^{INK4d}. These positive and negative factors regulate ultimately the phosphorylation status of the retinoblastoma protein (Rb). The phosphorylation of Rb protein induces the release of the E2F transcription factor family that in turn activates genes involved in the late G₁ and S phase leading to cell-cycle progression (Fig. 6) (For review see ^{45.47}).



Fig. 6 - Simplified model of mammalian G₁/S phase regulation of cell cycle.

The *p16^{INK4a}* (*p16*, *CDKN2A*, *MTS1*) and *p15^{INK4b}* genes map to chromosome 9p21, a locus commonly deleted in diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas. This locus also encodes another distinct protein through alternative reading frame, the p14^{ARF} protein (Fig. 7) ⁴⁸. *p16^{INK4A}* is encoded by the unique exon 1α and common exon 2 and 3 (Fig. 7). The p16^{INK4a} and p15^{INK4b} proteins bind to CDK4/6 and inhibit the formation of CDK4/6-cyclin D complex. When activated, this complex phosphorylates the Rb protein, causing it to dissociate from E2F and freeing E2F to induce cell-cycle progression (Fig. 6).

In diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas, $p16^{INK4a}$ mutations are rare and the loss of $p16^{INK4a}$ expression is mainly due to homozygous deletion ⁴⁹⁻⁵¹ or promoter methylation ^{52,53}. $p16^{INK4a}$ homozygous deletion has been frequently detected in glioblastomas, principally primary glioblastomas (30-40%) ^{27,50,54,55}. In anaplastic astrocytomas the frequency is lower (13-25%) ^{2,50}, and absent in diffuse astrocytomas ^{2,50,51}. Recently, studies have reported that loss of expression of $p16^{INK4a}$ can be due to methylation of the CpG island in the promoter or first exon region. This mechanism is associated with delayed replication, condensed chromatin and inhibition of transcription initiation, resulting ultimately in gene silencing ^{52,56}. Promoter methylation is responsible for $p16^{INK4a}$ loss of expression in 7-20% of diffuse astrocytomas ⁵³. Recently, Nakamura *et al* ⁵¹, found that promoter methylation is preferentially associated with the secondary glioblastoma variant. These results suggest that $p16^{INK4a}$ deletion is a late event, while $p16^{INK4a}$ promoter methylation constitutes an early event in diffusely infiltrating astrocytoma tumourigenesis.



Fig. 7 - Scheme of human genomic structure of INK4a/ARF and INK4b loci on 9p21 region.

Introduction

The $p15^{INK4b}$ (p15, *CDKN2b*, *MTS2*) gene is structurally and functionally homologous to the $p16^{INK4}$ gene (Fig. 7) ⁵⁷. Concomitant deletion of $p16^{INK4}$ and $p15^{INK4b}$ occurs in approximately 30% of astrocytic tumours ^{50,58,59}, suggesting that both genes may be targets of 9p21 deletions ⁶⁰. Like for $p16^{INK4a}$, loss of $p15^{INK4b}$ expression can be due to methylation of the CpG island in the promoter region ⁶¹.

The retinoblastoma (Rb) protein is a central element in the control of G₁ checkpoint and inactivation of *Rb* would lead to unrestrained cell cycle ^{45,46}. *Rb* tumour suppressor gene is located on chromosome 13q14, a locus that is altered in about one-third of high-grade astrocytic tumours ². *Rb* inactivation can be due to a variety of mechanisms, such as mutations, homozygous deletion and promoter methylation ^{50,51,54,62}.

Genetic alteration of *Rb* has been found to occur in 14-43% of glioblastomas ^{50,51,54,62}. A clear correlation has been found between loss of expression of Rb by immunohistochemistry, and promoter methylation ⁶³, which was found to occur more frequently in secondary than primary glioblastomas (43% and 14%, respectively) ⁶³. Approximately 20% of anaplastic astrocytomas have *Rb* alterations, whereas in diffuse astrocytomas no alterations were found ^{24,50,54,62,63}.

CDK4 and *CDK6* genes map to chromosome 12q13-14 and 7q21-22, respectively. Both proteins can form a complex with the cyclin D family, and phosphorylate the Rb protein, leading to release of the E2F transcription factor and cell cycle progression (Fig. 6). Therefore, overexpression of *CDK4/6* would lead to abnormal cell progression ⁴⁶. Amplification of *CDK4* has been detected in approximately 8-15% of glioblastomas ^{50,56,44} and in around 10% in anaplastic astrocytomas ⁵⁰. No amplification of *CDK4* has been found in diffuse astrocytomas ⁵⁰. Recently, *CDK6* amplification has been detected in 6% of high-grade astrocytic tumours (anaplastic astrocytomas and/or glioblastomas) ⁶⁵, and overexpression of CDK6 protein has been found in 44% of glioblastomas ⁶⁶. No amplification or overexpression of *CDK6* has been detected in diffuse astrocytomas, suggesting that both *CDK4* and *CDK6* amplification/overexpression are late events in astrocytic tumourigenesis ^{65,66}.

Amplification and overexpression of cyclin D family is rarely (approximately 3%) observed in diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas ⁶⁷.

Notably, alterations of $p16^{INK4}$, *Rb* and *CDK4* genes are almost mutually exclusive, suggesting that alteration of any one of these components is adequate to sufficiently abrogate the G₁/S checkpoint ^{50,54,55,62}. Altogether, deregulation of the Rb pathway occurs in 7-20% of diffuse astrocytomas ^{51,53}, a significant proportion of anaplastic astrocytomas (20 to 40%) ^{50,55,62}, and in the majority of glioblastomas (50% to 70%) ^{50,55,62}.

2.1.2-p53 pathway (p53/MDM2/p14^{ARF})

The *p53* (*TP53*) tumour suppressor gene is located on chromosome 17p13.1. The human p53 protein has been divided structurally and functionally into four domains; N-terminus that constitutes a transcriptional activation domain; a central sequence-specific DNA binding domain; a nuclear localisation domain; and a C-terminal oligomerization domain. p53 protein forms a tetramer and acts as transcriptional activator through binding to specific sequences on target genes and thereby activates or represses transcription from a large, and ever increasing number of genes ⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰. p53 can also exert its effects through transcription-independent mechanisms, such as direct binding of p53 protein to several cellular proteins ^{70,71}.

p53 is involved in a diversity of cellular processes in mammalian cells. It plays an important role in the maintenance of genomic stability, hence its denomination as "genome guardian" ⁷². In the cell, p53 exists at low concentration in a latent form that becomes stable (through several mechanisms, such as phosphorylation and acetylation) and is activated in response to various signals, including carcinogen-induced DNA damage, telomere erosion, changes in redox potential, aberrant proliferative signals, hypoxia, radiation, and loss of adhesion or survival signals. The best understood function of p53 is the capacity to inhibit growth of potential tumour or stressed cells. This ability is associated with cell-cycle arrest (at G₁ and/or G₂/M phases), differentiation, senescence, or apoptosis. Among the genes transcriptionally controlled by p53, $p21^{Waf1/Cip1}$ constitutes a central effector in G₁ arrest, through the binding and inhibition of cyclinD/CDK4/6 and most important to cyclin E/CDK2 complex (Fig. 6) ^{69,70,73}. p53 can also contribute directly to DNA repair, and to inhibition of angiogenesis ^{69,70,74} (Fig. 8). The large degree of overlap between these cellular processes, as well as the fact that none of them is exclusively p53-dependent, suggests that the function of p53 is to control, co-ordinate and integrate these various pathways ⁶⁹⁻⁷¹.

Inactivation of *p53* by mutation is a key molecular event, detected in approximately 50% of all neoplasms, including brain tumours ⁷⁵. In most of the cases, mutations in one allele are associated with loss of the other allele. These mutations impair the ability of mutant protein to carry out its activities and in some cases bestow a new dominant negative or gain of function properties ⁷⁶. The great majority of these mutations (approximately 95%) are localised to the DNA-binding domain (exon 4 to exon 8) of the protein ⁷⁷.



Fig. 8 - Simplified representation of p53 signalling networks.

In diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas approximately 45% of mutations are localised in several codon "hotspots", such as codon 158, 175, 179, 245, 248, 273, and 282. All classes of mutations (deletions, insertions, transitions and transversions) can occur in the *p53* gene, but the most common are (G:C \rightarrow A:T transitions at CpG sites) (data from IARC *p53* database, R5 version ⁷⁷)(Fig. 9).

p53 mutations have been reported to occur in approximately 40% of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas of all grades. An extremely high frequency of *p53* mutations, (60 - 82%) and

85%, has been observed in gemistocytic astrocytomas and giant cell glioblastomas, respectively ^{34,78}.

There is compelling evidence that *p53* mutations constitute an early event in astrocytic tumourigenesis. Although *p53* mutations are rare in primary glioblastomas (<10%), they are frequent in secondary glioblastomas (>65%) and in 90% of cases the mutation was already present in the first biopsy ^{25,30,68}. Patients with Li-Fraumeni syndrome, which is caused by a germline *p53* mutation, are characterised by the frequent occurrence of brain tumours in early life, including astrocytomas ⁷⁹. This suggests that in astrocytic tumours *p53* can act as a *gatekeeper* gene, directly preventing tumour initiation ⁸⁰. However, Sidranski *et al* ⁸¹ and more recently Ishii *et al* ⁸² demonstrated that the fraction of *p53* mutated cells increases in the same patient during the progression of diffuse astrocytoma to higher malignancies. These facts suggest that *p53* is an early progression event rather than an initiation event.



Fig. 9 - Spectrum of *p53* somatic mutations in diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas (data from IARC *p53* database, R5 version 77).

In addition, experimental animal models, as well as in human and animal cell lines studies also support the important role of p53 in astrocytic tumourigenesis. Astrocytes derived from p53 -/- mice show an increased growth rate and become spontaneously immortalised in successive cultures ^{83,84}. In human glioblastoma cell lines lacking p53 function, the exogenous expression of wild-type p53 results in growth arrest and/or apoptosis ^{85,86}.

The *MDM2* gene (mouse double minute 2) also called *HDM2*, contains a *p53* DNA binding site and is localised on chromosome 12q14.3-q14. MDM2 is a multifunctional protein that binds to and abrogates the *p53* function by either targeting p53 for degradation

Introduction

in the cytoplasm by the proteasome, or by repressing p53-mediated transcriptional activity in the nucleus ⁸⁷. It has been demonstrated that, under a variety of conditions, MDM2 transcription is induced by wild-type *p53* ^{88,89} (Fig. 6 and 8). This autoregulatory feedback loop regulates the activity of the p53 protein as well as the expression of MDM2 ⁹⁰. Amplification of *MDM2* is absent in diffuse astrocytomas and anaplastic astrocytomas ⁹¹, but present in up to 10% of primary glioblastomas that lack a *p53* mutation ⁹¹. However, overexpression of MDM2 has been observed in more than 50% of primary glioblastomas and less frequently in secondary glioblastomas (<10%) ^{92,93}. Thus, alteration of *MDM2* by amplification/overexpression constitutes an alternative mechanism for escaping the *p53*regulated cell-cycle control.

The *p14*^{ARF} (human homologue of the mouse *p19*^{ARF}) has been recently identified as another important regulator in this pathway. The p14^{ARF} protein is encoded by the *CDKN2A/INK4a* locus that maps on chromosome 9p21 (Fig. 7). It has been shown that p14^{ARF} stabilises p53 by antagonising the p53-negative regulator MDM2 ^{94,95}. The expression of p14^{ARF} is down-regulated by p53, which would establish an autoregulatory feedback loop between p53, MDM2 and p14^{ARF 96} (Fig. 6 and 8). *p14^{ARF}* expression is activated by abnormal mitogenic signals induced by overexpression of oncoproteins such as Myc ⁹⁷, Ras ⁹⁸ and E2F1⁹⁶ (Fig. 8). In this manner p14^{ARF} induces p53 activity under abnormal mitogenic signals and serves to connect the *Rb* pathway with the *p53* pathway.

Homozygous deletion and promoter methylation of *p14*^{ARF} have been reported in astrocytic brain tumours. Homozygous deletions were reported in 40% to 58% of glioblastomas ^{50,51}, in 13% of anaplastic astrocytomas ⁵⁰ but in none of diffuse astrocytomas ^{50,51}. In contrast, promoter methylation has been found at high frequency in diffuse astrocytomas (33%) and secondary glioblastomas (31%) ⁵¹.

Overall, impairment of *p53* pathway occurs in approximately 74% of diffuse astrocytomas that progressed to higher malignancies, and this frequency increases to approximately 88% in secondary glioblastomas (Nakamura *et al*, unpublished results). In primary glioblastomas the frequency was 70% (Nakamura *et al*, unpublished results). About 75% of non-specified glioblastomas were reported to exhibit abnormalities of *p53* pathway ⁵⁰. Unlike the Rb pathway, several findings suggest that alterations of the *p14*^{ARF}, *MDM2* and *p53* are not always mutually exclusive. Some studies showed that *p14*^{ARF} loss of function is not restricted to tumours with wild-type *p53* ^{99,100}. In addition, each protein may interfere with other cellular pathways, such has been reported for the regulation of E2F1 by MDM2 ¹⁰¹, and the above mentioned regulation of *p14*^{ARF} by *c-myc*, *ras*, and *E2F1* oncogenes ⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸.

2.2-Alterations of Growth Factors and Growth Factor Receptors

Normal cells require mitogenic growth signals to proliferate. These growth factors bind to their respective receptors and their signal is transmitted into the cells. One of the most important classes of receptors belongs to the family of receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) that have an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain. Alteration of this homeostatic mechanism is frequently observed in diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas, leading to self-sufficiency in growth signals.

2.2.1-Epidermal growth factor (EGF) / Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)

EGFR is a transmembrane glycoprotein composed of an extracellular ligand-binding domain, a single hydrophobic membrane-spanning domain, and a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase domain ¹⁰². The major ligands are the epidermal growth factor (EGF) and transforming growth factor alpha (TGF- α) and their binding to the EGFR results in receptor dimerization, autophosphorylation of the receptor itself and phosphorylation of the downstream cellular substrates leading ultimately to cell division and proliferation ¹⁰².

EGFR gene is located on chromosome 7p12.1-p12.3, and it was the first gene to be found amplified in astrocytic tumours. Approximately 40% of primary glioblastomas show *EGFR* amplification, which results in overexpression of the EGFR transcript ¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵. *EGFR* amplification has rarely been detected in diffuse astrocytoma, anaplastic astrocytoma and secondary glioblastoma ^{2,106,107}. The observation of both ligands and receptors expression in gliomas suggest an autocrine stimulation loop. Approximately half of glioblastomas with gene *EGFR* amplification also contain gene rearrangements ². The most common rearrangements, called EGFRvIII or Δ EGFR, result in the elimination of exon 2-7 from the extracellular domain, which leads to a truncated receptor ^{108,109}. This mutant variant displays constitutive ligand-independent kinase activity ^{110,111}, and overexpression of this mutant variant in human glioblastoma cell lines leads to enhanced tumourigenicity *in vivo* by stimulating proliferation and inhibiting apoptosis ¹¹².

2.2.2-Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) / Platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR)

The platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) is a major mitogen for connective tissue cells and glia, involved in normal development, especially of the CNS ^{113,114}. For almost two decades, PDGF homodimers (PDGF-AA and PDGF-BB) and the heterodimer (PDGF-AB) were thought to be the only ligands for the PDGF α -receptor (PDGFR- α) and PDGF β

receptor (PDGFR- β) ¹¹⁵. Recently, two additional ligands were identified, PDGF-C and PDGF-D ¹¹⁶⁻¹¹⁸. Like EGFR, PDGFRs belong to the receptor tyrosine kinase family. Despite the low frequency of *PDGFR-* α amplification ^{119,120}, overexpression is frequently observed in all grades, suggesting that this alteration is important for the development of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas ¹²⁰. The mechanism that leads to such overexpression remains unclear. Tumours frequently express both ligands and receptors, suggesting autocrine growth stimulation ^{2,120}. The newly identified PDGF-C and PDGF-D seem to have some functional analogy to the classic PDGF-A and –B, but their precise role is unknown ¹¹⁶⁻¹¹⁸.

2.3-Chromosomal instability

Genetic instability is a critical phenomenon in the development of malignant human neoplasms and occurs at least in two different forms, microsatellite instability and chromosomal instability ¹²¹⁻¹²³. The genes involved in DNA repair and maintenance of genomic stability, are classified as *caretakers* ⁸⁰. Inactivation of caretaker genes indirectly promotes cancer development, by favouring mutations in gatekeepers and other cancer-related genes ⁸⁰. Microsatellite instability is characterised by widespread insertions and deletions in microsatellite repeats ^{121,123}. In adult diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas the frequency of microsatellite instability is low, approximately 3% ^{124,125}. Tumours with microsatellite instability usually have a normal complement of chromosomes, i.e. a diploid or near-diploid karyotype ¹²³.

In diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas, as well as in the majority of other neoplasms, the most common form is chromosomal instability, that is characterised by gains and/or losses of whole chromosomes, referred as aneuploidy ^{123,126-130}. At molecular level, aneuploidy is reflected in allelic imbalance and is often associated with loss of heterozygosity (LOH) ¹²³.

One of the possible mechanisms leading to aneuploidy is the inactivation of the mitotic spindle checkpoint ^{123,126,130}. This is a highly conserved mechanism, which monitors the proper assembly of mitotic spindles, which consist of microtubules and ensures stable attachment of chromosomes (at the kinetochore), to microtubules. In the presence of spindle problems or unattached chromosomes the mitotic checkpoint delays the onset of anaphase and prevents improper segregation of sister chromatids to the two daughter cells, avoiding in this way abnormal chromosomal segregation and chromosomal instability ¹³¹⁻¹³³.

Seven gene products, essential for mitotic checkpoint, were initially identified in budding yeast, including BUB (budding uninhibited by benomyl)-family genes (*Bub1*, *Bub2* and *Bub3*) and MAD (mitotic arrest defective)-family genes (*Mad1*, *Mad2* and *Mad3*) and *Mps1*¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶. Several human homologues have been identified, including *hBUB1* at chromosome

2q14 ¹³⁷, *hBUBR1 (hBUB1B/MAD3-L)* at 15q14 ¹³⁷, and *hBUB3* at chromosome 10q26 ^{138,139}, *hMAD1L1* at chromosome 7pter-p15 ^{139,140}, *hMAD2 (hMAD2L1)* at chromosome 4q27 ¹³⁹, *hMAD2B (hMAD2L2)* at chromosome 1p36 ¹³⁹ and *hMPS1 (TTK/MPS1L1)* at chromosome 6q13-21 ¹³⁹.

Although still limited, there is some evidence suggesting that mutational inactivation of mitotic spindle checkpoint genes is involved in the evolution of a fraction of human neoplasms, in particular, those with aneuploidy. Cahill *et al.* ¹³⁷ has detected both *hBUB1* and *hBUBR1* mutations in 2 out of 19 colon cancer cell lines with chromosomal instability. Moreover, ectopic expression of *hBUB1* mutant genes in euploid cells resulted in disruption of the mitotic checkpoint control, in a dominant negative fashion, supporting the notion that aneuploidy may be the result of defects in the mitotic checkpoint ¹³⁷. In addition to the human mutational data, animal models support the importance of such genes in chromosomal stability. In Drosophila and mice, *BUB1* inactivation induces chromosome missegregation and fail to block apoptosis ^{141,142}. *BUB3* ^{-/-} deficient mice showed several mitotic errors, including lagging chromosomes and irregular nuclear morphology leading to embryonic death ¹⁴³.

2.3.1-LOH and inactivation of tumour suppressor genes

2.3.1.1-Chromosome 10, PTEN and other tumour suppressor genes

LOH of chromosome 10 (LOH#10) is the most frequent alteration in glioblastomas, occurring in approximately 80% of this neoplasm ^{2,144-146}. In anaplastic astrocytomas the frequency of LOH is lower (about 30%) ^{24,145-148}, while in diffuse astrocytomas it is rarely observed ^{145,146,149}. Most glioblastomas exhibit loss of an entire copy of chromosome 10, and in cases with partial deletion, a complex pattern of LOH occurs on both arms of the chromosome ^{144,145,147,150}. A frequent deleted locus is the 10q25-qter ^{144,145,147,150}. Fujisawa *et al* ¹⁵¹ have found an association between LOH in this locus and neoplasms with an abrupt histological transition of diffuse astrocytoma or anaplastic astrocytoma to glioblastoma. Other frequently deleted loci include the 10p14-pter and the 10q23-24 ^{144,145,147,150}. These frequent and complex deleted regions indicate the presence of several tumour suppressor genes on chromosome 10.

The tumour suppressor gene *PTEN* (*MMAC1* or *TEP1*) was recently identified and it maps to the common deleted region, 10q23.3 ¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴. The *PTEN* gene has homology with dual-specificity phosphatases, which are capable of dephosphorylating both tyrosine phosphate and serine/threonine phosphate residues on proteins ¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴. The N-terminal domain of the protein also has extensive similarity to two cytoskeletal proteins tensin and

auxilin ¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴. Besides the protein phosphatase activity ¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷, PTEN has an important lipid phosphatase activity. In particular, PTEN is a phosphatidylinositol-3 phosphatase and dephosphorylates phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-triphosphatase (PIP-3), a product of phosphoinositol-3-kinase (PI3K), which is required for the phosphorylation and activation of PKB/Akt ¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶⁰ (Fig. 10). PKB/Akt is a important survival factor that protects various cell types against apoptosis and is involved in cell proliferation by mediating cell-cycle progression ^{161,162}. Consistent with the role of PTEN in the PI3K/Akt pathway, multiple studies have shown that PTEN negatively regulates cell survival ^{159,162,163}. In addition, PTEN plays a role in other cellular processes. It is considered to be involved in G₁ cell-cycle arrest, down-regulation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and inhibition of angiogenesis ^{156,157,164-168} (Fig. 10).



Fig. 10 - Simplified scheme of PTEN signalling pathways.

Germline mutations of *PTEN* are found in several rare inherited benign tumour (hamartoma) syndromes, including Cowden syndrome, which is associated with a high risk of breast, thyroid and others cancers ^{169,170}, Bannayan-Zonana syndrome ^{171,172}, Lhermitte-Duclos disease ^{170,173} and Proteus-like syndrome ¹⁷⁴. In addition, sporadic *PTEN* mutations are frequent in several types of tumours, including primary glioblastoma (24-44%) and

anaplastic astrocytomas (approximately 23%), while in diffuse astrocytomas they are generally absent ^{107,144,175,176}. Germline and somatic mutations occur mostly in the phosphatase domain ¹⁷⁵, supporting the importance of this domain for normal development and tumour suppressor activity of *PTEN*. In addition to deletion/mutations, recent reports suggest that *PTEN* inactivation can also be due to *PTEN* promoter methylation ¹⁷⁷ (and Baeza *et al*, in preparation).

A potential tumour suppressor gene, *DMBT1*, has been identified on the region 10q25.3-26.1 ¹⁷⁸ and encodes a member of the scavenger receptor cystein-rich family. Homozygous deletions in the gene have been reported in both glioblastoma and medulloblastomas ^{178,179}. In another study, the gene was homozygously deleted in a small number of recurrent astrocytic tumours ¹⁸⁰. However, because no mutations were detected and its loss does not correlate with changes in tumour cell growth *in vitro* or with increased aggressiveness of tumours *in vivo* ^{181,182}, the target of deletions may be another closely located gene other than *DMBT1*.

MXI1 gene, located on 10q25.1, is another putative glioblastoma suppressor gene ¹⁸³. MXI1 protein is thought to function as a negative regulator of the *myc* oncogene ¹⁸⁴. High frequency of *MXI1* LOH (approximately 65%) has been found in glioblastomas, however, sequence analysis revealed no somatic mutations ^{144,183}. Re-introduction of *MXI1* into human glioblastoma cell lines lacking endogenous *MXI1* expression resulted in cell growth inhibition, supporting *MXI1* as a candidate tumour suppressor gene in glioblastomas ¹⁸³.

Several other putative tumour suppressor genes have been identified on 10q, including *LGI1* at 10q24 ¹⁸⁵, *hBUB3* at 10q26 ¹³⁸, *FGFR2* at 10q26 ¹⁸⁶ and *hours-neu* at 10q25.1 ¹⁸⁷, however, their actual role in astrocytic tumourigenesis is still unclear.

2.3.1.2-Other common deleted chromosomal regions

LOH#1p – Allelic loss of short arm of chromosome 1 occurs in less than 10% of diffuse astrocytomas, approximately in 20% of anaplastic astrocytomas and in around 10% of glioblastomas ^{125,188-191}. The most common deleted region was localised on 1p36 ^{189,192}, where several potential tumour suppressor genes are mapped, including the *p73* ¹⁹³, *p18^{I/NK4C 194}* and *hMAD2B* ¹³⁹. However, there is no evidence for their role in development and progression of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas.

LOH#11p – Allelic deletion of 11p occurs in less than 13% of diffuse astrocytomas and in 15-28% of high grade astrocytomas ^{125,196,196}. Based on a limited number of mapping studies, the common deleted region has been localised on 11p15. The *c*-*H*-ras gene that maps on this locus has been excluded as a candidate based on the absence of mutations ¹⁹⁷.

LOH#19q - Although the presence of a glioma 19q tumour suppressor gene was first suggested a decade ago ^{198,199}, this putative gene remains unidentified. Deletions of 19q occur in 11-25% of diffuse astrocytomas, in 32-50% of anaplastic astrocytomas and in 13-32% of non-specified glioblastomas ^{125,189,199}. Recently, Nakamura *et al* ¹⁸⁸ showed that LOH19q occurs frequently in secondary glioblastomas (54%) and is rarely observed in primary glioblastomas (6%).

LOH#22q - LOH on chromosome arm 22q occurs in 20-30% of diffuse infiltrating astrocytomas, regardless of malignancy grade, suggesting the presence of a tumour suppressor gene involved in early diffuse astrocytic development ²⁰⁰⁻²⁰². Recent reports have defined a minimal region to 22q13 ^{203,204}, however, no clear candidate gene has been identified hitherto.

2.4-Diffuse astrocytoma genetic profile

Karyotyping analysis of diffuse astrocytomas showed that diffuse astrocytomas are diploid and the majority of them have a normal karyoptype ²⁰⁵. Comparative genomic hybridisation (CGH) and LOH studies have shown some non-random alterations, with some regions known to be associated with specific gene targets, such as LOH#17p (*p53* gene) (Table 2). Recently, using cDNA arrays several genes were found abnormally expressed in diffuse astrocytomas ^{206,207} (Table 2).

Recently, Costello *et al* ²⁰⁸ assessed the methylation status of thousands of genes in diffuse astrocytomas and found non-random aberrant methylation in a significant proportion of genes. Indeed, overexpression of DNA-methyltransferase, enzyme responsible for methylation, is already present in diffuse astrocytomas ²⁰⁹. Nakamura *et al* found frequent aberrant promoter methylation of *p14*^{ARF 51} and *p16*^{INK4a 51} and *MGMT* ²⁷⁷ genes in diffuse astrocytomas (Table 2).

Table 2 - Summary of genetic abnormalities in diffuse astrocytomas

Chromosomal alterations + 7q, +8q, -9p (*p16*^{INK4a}), -10p, -11p, -13q, **-17p (p53)**, -19q, **- 22q**, - X

Gene alterations Overexpression of **PDGFR-**α, **PDGF-A**, *FGF2*, *CNTF*, *SPARC*, *GDNPF*, *TIMP-3*, *DNA-Mtase* Downregulation of IFI 9-27, GAB1, TYRO3 Mutations of **p53**

Epigenetic alterations Methylation of $p16^{INK4a}$, $p14^{ARF}$, MGMT

+, chromosomic gains; -, chromosomic losses; data described in bold indicates the most frequent alterations; data from ^{14,21,51,145,205-207,209-213,277}.

The understanding of the molecular factors that are involved in diffuse astrocytoma recurrence and malignant progression have been elusive ^{1,14}, and few studies have focused on this issue. Although not consensual, the presence of *p53* mutations has been associated with recurrence and progression of diffuse astrocytomas ^{14,25,82,210,214}. Despite the low frequency of 9p losses reported in unspecified diffuse astrocytomas ²¹⁵, 8 out of 14 (57%) diffuse astrocytoma cases that progressed to a higher grade of malignancy disclosed LOH#9q21 (INK4A/ARF locus) ^{210,216,217}. It remains to be determined whether this and others genetic alterations mentioned in Table 2 have a prognostic role in diffuse astrocytoma outcome.

2.5-Primary and secondary glioblastoma genetic profile

Recent studies showed that primary and secondary glioblastomas have not only distinct clinical features ²⁸, but also evolve through distinct genetic pathways that lead ultimately to the same phenotype ^{27,29,218}. During the last decade these molecular pathways started to be unveiled, although the whole picture of the molecular events is far from complete (Fig. 11).

Primary glioblastoma is characterised by high frequency of *EGFR* amplification, $p16^{INK4a}$ deletion, and *PTEN* mutations, while secondary glioblastoma is characterised by high frequency of *p53* mutations, LOH#19q, and *Rb* and *MGMT* methylation. However, some genetic alterations can occur at similar extension in both subtypes, such as homozygous deletion of $p14^{ARF}$. Another observation that can be drawn from this picture is the frequent

association between abnormal promoter methylation mechanisms with secondary glioblastomas (Fig. 11).



Fig. 11 - Summary of some major genetic alterations in primary and secondary glioblastomas. Adapted from Kleihues *et al* 27 .

2.6-Giant cell glioblastoma genetic profile

Recent studies showed that the genetic profile of giant cell glioblastoma, as well as their clinical features, occupies a hybrid position between primary and secondary glioblastoma 34,35,219 . Giant cell glioblastomas are characterised by extremely high frequency of *p53* (85%) and high frequency of *PTEN* (27%) mutations, and low or absence of *EGFR* amplification (5%) and *p16*^{*INK4a*} deletion (<5%) ³⁴.

2.7-Gliosarcoma genetic profile

The known genetic alterations associated with gliosarcomas are limited. Cytogenetic studies showed that the most frequent abnormalities included gains of chromosome 7, losses of chromosome 10 and deletion of short arm of chromosome 9^{41,220,221}. One study has reported *p53* mutations in 1 out of 12 gliosarcomas ⁴⁰.
AIMS

Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas are the most common primary tumours of the CNS. Regardless of the significant advances in surgical techniques, radiation and drug therapies, the prognosis of affected patients remain dismal.

There is increasing evidence that the phenotypic features of tumours are a reflection of genetic events underlying them. Therefore, the combination of histological features with the identification and characterisation of relevant genetic alterations, would lead to a more objective and reliable classification of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas. This may also contribute to the development of new treatment strategies through the identification of novel therapeutic targets and to the improvement of the current used chemotherapeutic and radiotherapeutic agents.

In the last decade the genetic alterations responsible for the initiation and progression of these tumours have been extensively studied, but remain far from being clarified.

For practical reasons – pre-eminence of translational research based upon clinical cases and leaving apart experimental models – we decided to address the aforementioned problems using human specimens as the unique source of material of the present thesis.

The study of human pathology curbs the possibility of flowing smoothly from a question to another. Since it depends upon the availability of appropriate material ("individual cases") it is prone to create fragmented pieces of evidence. The challenge in this setting is to be able to integrate into a coherent frame the data obtained in such diverse studies.

General aim

The general aim of the study was to progress in the understanding of the genetic alterations underlying the development of diffusely infiltrative astrocytoma subtypes.

Specific aims

To achieve our purpose the following specific topics were addressed:

1- p53 mutations and gemistocytes in diffuse astrocytomas

Diffuse astrocytomas have an inherent tendency for recurrence and progression to anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO grade III) and glioblastoma multiforme (WHO grade IV). However, time till progression varies considerably among individuals, and some cases remain dormant for several years, while others progress rapidly.

Mutations of p53 gene are considered a genetic hallmark of diffuse astrocytomas. In this study we aimed to determine the degree of p53 mutated tumour cells expansion in an attempt to clarify the role and timing of p53 mutations appearance in common diffuse astrocytomas. For that purpose we screened all tumour areas of a fibrillary astrocytoma, as

well as adjacent non-tumour tissue of a whole brain section for the presence of p53 mutations.

Gemistocytic astrocytoma (WHO grade II) is particularly prone to undergo malignant progression. The role of gemistocytes in tumour evolution is enigmatic, since their presence is associated with poor prognosis. However, gemistocytes themselves do not proliferate and may also occur in a variety of other non-neoplastic CNS diseases. These findings raise the question whether gemistocytes are true neoplastic cells or represent reactive glial cells. To elucidate this issue, we performed *p53* mutation analysis of pure populations of gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells in a series of gemistocytic astrocytomas.

2- Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on chromosome 10 and mutations in human BUB gene family in glioblastomas

Genetic instability, particularly chromosomal instability, is a common feature in glioblastomas and is characterised by an alteration in chromosome number, aneuploidy. At the molecular level, chromosomal instability can be identified by LOH of defined chromosomal regions. LOH on chromosome 10 (LOH#10) is the most common genetic event in glioblastoma.

It has been established that primary and secondary glioblastomas evolve through distinct genetic pathways. The first aim of this topic was to assess LOH#10 in both primary and secondary glioblastomas and elucidate whether the frequency and extension of LOH differ between both subtypes.

Mutations in the human *BUB* mitotic checkpoint genes have been associated with aneuploidy in a subset of colorectal cancer. Thus, we attempted to examine the mutation status of *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes in glioblastomas and integrate it with the LOH data.

3- Second primary glioblastoma

The prognosis of patients with glioblastomas is extremely poor. Less than 2% of patients survive more than 3 years irrespectively of aggressive radio or chemotherapy. We studied a case of a patient who was diagnosed with a glioblastoma and had survived 10 years before developing a second glioblastoma in the opposite frontal lobe site. Given the unusual prolonged survival, we performed a genetic characterisation of both glioblastomas aiming to shed light on the molecular events involved in such peculiar behaviour.

4- Genetic characterisation of gliosarcomas

The knowledge of molecular events underlying the development of gliosarcomas is limited. We aimed to analyse the genetic lesions that are frequently involved in glioblastomas using immunohistochemistry and molecular biology methods. We also performed a comparative genetic analysis of both gliomatous and sarcomatous tumour components, to further elucidate the histogenesis of the sarcomatous component.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Materials

The clinical and histological features of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas used in the different studies of this thesis are detailed in papers I to V.

Summary of the clinical-pathological data concerning the unpublished study of the role of *p53* in diffuse astrocytomas:

A 37-year-old male patient was diagnosed with a fibrillary astrocytoma on the right frontal lobe, following a stereotactic biopsy. The patient did not receive any further treatment for the brain neoplasm. Six weeks before death, the patient had a septic shock after a necrotizing pancreatitis, resulting in apallic syndrome. A posterior post-mortem whole brain paraffin section was performed.

The tumour mass was relatively well demarcated and mostly localized in the deep temporal lobe. Histologically, it was a homogenous and fairly cellular tumour, composed of well-differentiated fibrillary neoplastic astrocytes with small areas showing a microcystic matrix. Most tumour cells have scant and slightly eosinophilic cytoplasm. No mitoses were observed. Scattered atypical cells were depicted. Based on these features a diagnose of diffuse fibrillary astrocytoma (WHO grade II) was made.

Methods

The techniques performed in papers I to V will be briefly mentioned:

Laser assisted microdissection – Used for single cell microdissection of gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells (Paper I).

Histochemistry - Used for the study of reticulin expression (Paper V).

Immunohistochemistry – Avidin-biotin-peroxidase method used for expression study of glial fibrillar acidic protein (GFAP) (Papers I, II, III, IV, V), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (Paper V), p53 (Paper V), retinoblastoma (RB) (Papers IV and V), and MDM2 (Paper V) proteins.

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) – Used for microsatellite markers analysis (Papers II and IV), amplification of *p53* exon 5 to 8 (unpublished study and papers I, II, IV and V), *PTEN* exon 1 to 9 (Papers II, IV, and V), and amplification of *hBUB1* exon 1 to 25, *hBUBR1* (entire coding sequence) and *hBUB3* (entire coding sequence) (Paper III).

Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) – Used to obtain cDNA from glioblastomas for LOH analysis and to perform analysis of *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes (Papers II and III).

Differential PCR – Used for analysis of *p16^{INK4a}* homozygous deletion (Papers IV and V), and amplification of *EGFR* (Papers II, IV and V), *CDK4* (Paper V) and *MDM2* (Paper V) genes.

Single strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) – Used for mutation screening of *p53* (unpublished study and Papers I, II, IV, and V), *PTEN* (Papers II, IV, and V) and *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes (Paper III).

Direct DNA sequencing – Manual sequencing for *p53* (unpublished study and Papers II, IV and V), *PTEN* (Papers II, IV and V), *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes (Paper III), and automated sequencing for *p53* gene (Paper I).

Statistical analysis - Unpaired Student's t test (Papers II, III and V).

Other methods used additionally (unpublished study):

Whole brain section division and DNA extraction and amplification – A grid divided in squares of 4mm² area each was placed under and attached to the whole brain section. Under a stereomicroscope, each of the 4mm² square areas were scraped off, using a 23G needle, to a 0.5ml-eppendorf tube containing 20 µl lysis buffer (100 mmol/L Tris-HCl pH 7.5 and 500 µg/ml proteinase K) and briefly vortexed and spun down by centrifugation. After incubation at 55°C overnight, proteinase K was inactivated at 99°C for 10 minutes.

Mutation Detection by Restriction Endonuclease Analysis – Fifteen microliters of *p53* exon 8 PCR products were digested with restriction endonuclease NIaIII (New England Biolabs, Hertfordshire, UK), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The mutation in codon 273, CGT \rightarrow CAT, Arg \rightarrow His (Arg273 \rightarrow His) induce a CATG sequence that is recognized by the NIaIII enzyme that cleaves the sequence generating two fragments of 74 bp and 136 bp from the 210-bp product of the exon 8 PCR. The absence of a mutation in codon 273 results in an uncleaved 210-bp fragment (full-length PCR product). These fragments were separated and identified on 2% agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide.

RESULTS

In this chapter a summary of the most relevant results is presented. A detailed description of results are documented in papers I to V.

1-*p53* mutations and gemistocytes in diffuse astrocytomas (unpublished results and Paper I)

1.1-Distribution of *p53* mutated cells in a diffuse astrocytoma (unpublished results)

A representative tumour area of a whole brain section from a diffuse astrocytoma was first pre-screened for mutations of the *p53* tumour suppressor gene. A missense mutation in codon 273, CGT \rightarrow CAT, Arg \rightarrow His (Arg273 \rightarrow His) at exon 8 was identified. This mutation creates a restriction site recognised by the endonuclease *Nla1II*, that cleaves the sequence, generating two smaller fragments. Therefore, we used a PCR, followed by restriction endonuclease digestion to detect the presence of *p53* Arg273 \rightarrow His mutation. Control experiments (using DNA from a homozygous *p53* Arg273 \rightarrow His mutated glioblastoma cell line, U251, and wild-type *p53* from blood DNA*)* showed a sensitivity of mutated versus wild-type DNA sequence of \geq 0.25.

A total of 475 areas of $4mm^2$ each, were individually analysed for the presence of p53 Arg273 \rightarrow His mutation. The method did not allow to precisely quantify the proportion of the mutated versus wild-type sequences. Thus, the results were described as positive, (red colour) when the mutated sequences were observed, and negative, (blue colour) when only the wild-type sequence was detected. When both mutated and wild-type sequences were observed, the result was also considered as positive (red colour). The results showed the presence of the mutant sequence in all turnour regions and absence of mutation in normal surrounding tissue (Fig. 12).

Twenty samples were submitted to a second and third independent PCR-restriction endonuclease analysis to confirm the reproducibility of the method. Similar results were found in almost all samples, except in few samples localised in the infiltrating areas.



Fig. 12 - Distribution of *p53* mutations in a diffuse astrocytoma (WHO grade II).

1.2-Analysis of *p53* mutations in gemistocytes of gemistocytic astrocytomas (Paper I).

With the assistance of a laser microdissection system, individual gemistocytes and nongemistocytic neoplastic cells were separately isolated and DNA was extracted for comparative analysis of *p53* mutations in 6 gemistocytic astrocytomas. The results demonstrated that in all 6 cases, both cell types harboured identical *p53* mutations (Table 3). These mutations were somatic and in all cases the wild-type sequence was absent.

| Patient | Age/ | WHO | p53 mutation | | | | | |
|---------|------|-------|----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| ID | Sex | grade | Gemistocytes | Non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells | | | | |
| 142 | 54/M | П | codon 242, TGC \rightarrow GGC | codon 242, TGC \rightarrow GGC | | | | |
| 145 | 57/M | 11 | codon 248, CGG→CAG | codon 248, CGG→CAG | | | | |
| 147 | 20/F | 11 | codon 175, CGC→CAC | codon 175, CGC→CAC | | | | |
| 148 | 38/M | П | codon 248, CGG→CAG | codon 248, CGG→CAG | | | | |
| 150 | 32/M | П | intron 7, $G \rightarrow C$ | intron 7, $G \rightarrow C$ | | | | |
| 151 | 33/F | Ш | codon 273, CGT \rightarrow TGT | codon 273, CGT \rightarrow TGT | | | | |

Table 3 - p53 mutations in gemistocytic astrocytomas.

2-LOH on chromosome 10 and human *BUB* gene family mutations in glioblastomas (Papers II and III)

2.1-LOH on chromosome 10 in glioblastomas (Paper II)

Using a panel of 28 microsatellite markers spanning the entire chromosome 10, 17 primary glioblastomas and 13 secondary glioblastomas were investigated for LOH status.

The frequency of LOH#10 was similar in both primary and secondary glioblastomas, 47% and 54%, respectively. However, the pattern of deletion was different. Seven primary glioblastoma cases demonstrated LOH at all informative loci, indicating loss of whole copy of chromosome 10, and in one case (Patient ID: 294) the deletion region was restricted to the 10p arm (Table 4).

In secondary glioblastomas, the deleted loci were almost exclusively restricted to the 10q arm. With one case (Patient ID: 25) showing complete loss of 10q arm, and the other 6 cases showing partial deletions of 10q arm. Only one case (Patient ID: 70), showed LOH at 10p arm (Table 4). The common deleted region identified was located in the region 10q25qter. In 4 cases in which normal tissue was used as reference, three of them showed identical allelic pattern between diffuse astrocytoma and normal tissue, and one showed that a partial deletion at 10qter had already occurred in the diffuse astrocytoma.

The analysis of p53 and PTEN mutations, as well as amplification of EGFR in both primary and secondary glioblastoma was also performed. No significant associations have been found between LOH#10 and the other genetic abnormalities, although, there was a tendency for correlation between complete LOH#10 and EGFR amplification (P=0.10).

| Patient | LC | ЭН | Other genetic alterations | | | | |
|-----------------|--------------|--------------|---------------------------|----------------|--------------------|--|--|
| ID | 10p | 10q | p53 mutations | PTEN mutations | EGFR amplification | | |
| Primary gliobla | astomas | | | | | | |
| 233 | (2) | - | - | - | | | |
| 234 | + | + | - | + | - | | |
| 256 | 122 | 141 | + | | - | | |
| 257 | S - 3 | 121 | 12 | - | | | |
| 258 | (14) | 3 2 3 | - | -24 | | | |
| 287 | + | + | - | - | 1 <u>1</u> 2 | | |
| 288 | + | + | - | - | - | | |
| 289 | + | + | - | - | + | | |
| 292 | | - | - | - | - | | |
| 294 | + | - | - | (#C | - | | |
| 296 | - | - | - | - | - | | |
| 300 | + | + | - | - | + | | |
| 301 | + | + | - | - | + | | |
| 302 | + | + | ~ | + | + | | |
| 303 | | | | - | | | |
| 314 | 175 | | + | - | + | | |
| 344 | - | <i>1</i> 2 | - | - | 100 | | |
| Secondary glic | blastomas | | | | | | |
| 11 | 57.0 | - | +* | _* | inter a | | |
| 25 | - | + | $+^{\star}$ | -* | | | |
| 26 | - | + | $+^{\star}$ | -* | | | |
| 35 | - | 2 | $+^{\star}$ | -* | - | | |
| 57 | | - | +* | _* | 9 | | |
| 58 | - | 2 <u>8</u> | +* | _* | - | | |
| 59 | - | <u> </u> | +* | _* | - | | |
| 60 | - | + | -* | _* | - | | |
| 64 | - | + | +* | _* | 1 2 0 | | |
| 68 | -1 | + | +* | _* | - | | |
| 70 | + | + | -* | -* | - | | |
| 72 | - | - | + | <i></i> | | | |
| 295 | - | + | + | ÷. | | | |

Table 4 - LOH on chromosome 10 and other genetic alterations in primary and secondary glioblastomas.

*, previously reported ^{30,107}.

2.2-Mutation analysis of *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* mitotic checkpoint genes in glioblastomas (Paper III)

PCR-SSCP followed by direct DNA sequencing of all 25 exons of the *hBUB1* gene showed a silent mutation at codon 144, CAG \rightarrow CAA, Gln \rightarrow Gln (Gln144 \rightarrow Gln) in one out of 22 glioblastomas (Table 5). We further screened 18 giant cell glioblastomas, and found that 2 of them also disclosed the same silent mutation at codon 144.

| Patient | Age/ | hBUB1 | hBUBR1 alterations | | hBUB3 |
|---------|------|---------------|--------------------|----------------|--------------------------------|
| ID | Sex | alterations | Codon 349 | Other codons | alterations |
| 72 | 28/F | - | Gln/Arg | - | Position -6, $C \rightarrow T$ |
| 201 | 63/M | ÷. | Gln/Arg | Ala388→Ala | - |
| 233 | 59/M | - | Gln/Gln | Ala388→Ala | - |
| 234 | 43/M | - | Gln/Arg | - | - |
| 256 | 56/F | | Gln/Gln | | - |
| 257 | 50/M | - | Gln/Arg | - | Position -6, $C \rightarrow T$ |
| 258 | 65/F | 2 <u>8</u> 11 | Gln/Gln | Asp952→Asp | Position -6, $C \rightarrow T$ |
| 287 | 47/F | - | Gln/Gln | Ala388→Ala | - |
| 288 | 69/M | | Gln/Gln | Ala388→Ala | - |
| 289 | 58/F | - | Gln/Gln | Ala388→Ala | 12 |
| 290 | 63/F | - | Gln/Gln | ÷ | e . |
| 292 | 62/M | - | Gln/Arg | Ala388→Ala | |
| 295 | 47/M | - | Gln/Gln | i . | 2 |
| 296 | 63/F | - | Gln/Gln | Ala388→Ala | - |
| 298 | 30/M | - | Gln/Gln | - | 24 |
| 299 | 50/F | - | Gln/Gln | ÷ | - |
| 300 | 71/F | Gln144→Gln | Arg/Arg | - | - |
| 301 | 68/F | - | Gln/Arg | - | - |
| 302 | 64/M | 1 | Gln/Gln | Ala388→Ala | - |
| 303 | 67/M | - | Arg/Arg | - | 12 |
| 314 | 40/M | - | Gln/Arg | - | - |
| 344 | 47/M | - | Gln/Gln | | Position -6, $C \rightarrow T$ |

Table 5 - Genetic alterations of mitotic checkpoint genes in glioblastomas.

, secondary glioblastomas.

The screening of the entire coding sequence of the *hBUBR1* gene revealed a silent mutation at codon 388, GCG \rightarrow GCA, Ala \rightarrow Ala (Ala388 \rightarrow Ala) in 8 glioblastomas and another silent mutation at codon 952 GAC \rightarrow GAT, Asp \rightarrow Asp (Asp952 \rightarrow Asp) in one glioblastoma (Table 5). A known polymorphism at codon 349 CAA \rightarrow CGA, Gln \rightarrow Arg (Gln349 \rightarrow Arg) was also detected with an allele frequency of 0.75 for Gln and 0.25 for Arg.

The analysis of peripheral blood leukocytes DNA from Caucasian individuals showed similar allele frequencies (0.73 for Gln and 0.27 for Arg) (Table 6).

Table 6 - Frequency of hBUBR1 and hBUB3 polymorphisms.

| | hBUBR1 codon 349 | hBUB3 position (-6) | |
|--------------------------|------------------|---------------------|--|
| | Gln / Arg | C→T | |
| Glioblastomas (n=22) | 0.75 / 0.25 | 0.18 | |
| Random population (n=60) | 0.73 / 0.27 | 0.15 | |

The analysis of the entire coding sequence of *hBUB3* gene did not show any mutation in the coding region, but a base substitution was found at 6 nucleotides upstream the ATG initiator codon ($C \rightarrow T$) in four glioblastomas (Table 5). These mutations were also found in peripheral blood leukocytes DNA from these patients, suggesting that they are polymorphism. The further analysis of Caucasian individuals for this polymorphism, showed the presence of the mutation at similar frequency (Table 6).

The *hBUB3* gene is localised on a common deleted region on chromosome 10q26. Of the 18 glioblastomas previously analysed for LOH#10, 12 were informative, and four of them were LOH positive for the 10q26 locus. In addition to the results described in Paper III, the expression of *hBUB3* mRNA by differential RT-PCR analysis was further studied (unpublished results). All samples expressed *hBUB3*, at similar levels to those obtained from non-tumour brain tissue (cortex and medulla), and no differences were observed between samples with or without LOH#10q26.

3-Second primary glioblastoma (Paper IV)

In an attempt to elucidate the ground genetic events of a patient that developed a second glioblastoma 10 years after the surgical excision of a first glioblastoma, both glioblastomas were screened for some genetic alterations usually found in glioblastomas, including *p53* and *PTEN* mutations, $p16^{INK4a}$ homozygous deletion, *EGFR* amplification and Rb expression. Further analysis of LOH on chromosomes 10, 19q and additional markers to determine microsatellite instability status was performed.

The results showed the presence of multiple *p53* and *PTEN* gene mutations, both in the first and second tumour biopsy. None of the mutations was common to both tumours. Homozygous deletion of $p16^{NK4a}$ was detected in both tumours (Table 7).

The microsatellite analysis of chromosome 10 and 19q did not show LOH in both tumours. In addition to the results described in Paper IV, LOH status was also assessed on 1p35-36 region and on 3q21 (*MBD4* locus) with 4 microsatellite markers each (unpublished results). All 8 markers were informative but no LOH was found in any of them. Except for one marker on chromosome 10, no allelic shift was detected in both tumours. A forensic DNA test with polymorphic DNA markers confirmed that both tumours were indeed from the same patient.

| Biopsy | First | Second |
|-------------------------------|--|----------------------------------|
| Age | 54 years | 64 years |
| Diagnosis | glioblastoma | glioblastoma |
| p53 mutations | codon 213, CGA→TGA | codon 158,CGC→CAC |
| | codon 306,CGA→TGA | codon 273, CGT \rightarrow TGT |
| PTEN mutations | codon 154, TTC→TTT codon 257, TTC→TTA | codon 233, CGA→TGA |
| p16 ^{INK4a} deletion | Yes | Yes |
| EGFR amplification | No | No |
| RB expression | Yes | Yes |
| LOH 10 and 19q | No | No |
| Microsatellite instability | No | No |

Table 7 - Multiple genetic alterations in first and second tumour biopsies.

4-Genetic characterisation of gliosarcomas (Paper V)

To define the genetic profile of gliosarcomas, an extensive molecular analysis in 19 *bona fide* cases was carried out. All tumours showed a typical biphasic pattern with alternating areas of gliomatous and sarcomatous neoplastic tissue. The gliomatous component showed GFAP positive cells without reticulin stroma, while the sarcomatous component was rich in reticulin stroma and the tumour cells lacked GFAP (see Fig. 5).

By PCR-SSCP followed by direct DNA sequencing, *PTEN* and *p53* mutations were found with a frequency of 37% and 26%, respectively. Differential PCR showed a high frequency of $p16^{INK4a}$ homozygous deletion (37%). Amplification of *CDK4* and *MDM2* occurred with a frequency of 10% and 5%, respectively. None of the cases showed *EGFR* amplification (Table 8).

Immunohistochemistry analysis of Rb, p53, MDM2 and EGFR proteins was also carried out. Rb immunohistochemistry showed lack of expression in only one case (5%) (Patient ID: 210). Four cases with *p53* miscoding mutations showed p53 protein accumulation and

one case with a stop codon induced mutation did not show immunoreactivity. MDM2 overexpression (>50% of positive cells) was detected in both glial and mesenchymal components in one case that also showed amplification of *MDM2*. No overexpression of EGFR was found.

In seven gliosarcoma cases, it was possible to dissect separately the gliomatous and the sarcomatous component. In five cases, identical genetic alterations in both tumour components were found, such as *p53* mutations (Patient ID: 210), *PTEN* mutations (Patient ID: 215 and 218), *p16^{I/NK4a}* homozygous deletion (Patient ID: 214) and co-amplification of *CDK4* and *MDM2* (Patient ID: 220). One case (Patient ID: 213) showed *p16^{I/NK4a}* homozygous deletion only in the sarcomatous component, whereas the gliomatous component showed no *p16^{I/NK4a}* deletion (Table 8).

| Patient | Biopsy/ | Area | p53 | PTEN | p16 ^{INK4a} | CDK4 | MDM2 | EGFR |
|---------|----------------------|------|---------------|-------------------------|----------------------|-------|-------|-------|
| ID | diagnosis | | mutation | mutation | /sts | /IFGN | /DR | /CF |
| | | | | | ratio | ratio | ratio | ratio |
| 210 | 1 st /GS | S | Pro190→Ser | | 1.10 | 0.92 | 1.40 | 0.96 |
| 210" | 2 nd /GS | S | Pro151→Ser | | 0.32 | 0.83 | 1.22 | 1.08 |
| | | G | Pro151→Ser | | 0.50 | 0.44 | 0.78 | 0.85 |
| 213# | 1 st /GS | S | - | i e | 0.08 | 0.61 | 0.79 | 0.75 |
| | | G | | - | 0.31 | 0.56 | 1.06 | 0.81 |
| 214# | 1 st /GS | S | - | | 0.04 | 0.74 | 0.59 | 1.23 |
| | | G | - | | 0.01 | 0.79 | 0.60 | 1.18 |
| 215# | 1 st /GS | S | - | Asp107→Ala | 0.75 | 1.19 | 1.09 | 1.35 |
| | | G | 1.2 | Asp107→Ala | 0.65 | 1.08 | 1.02 | 0.83 |
| 218# | 1 st /GS | S | | Trp274→stop | 0.60 | 1.23 | 1.29 | 0.88 |
| | | G | | Trp274→stop | 0.78 | 1.24 | 1.47 | 1.28 |
| 220# | 1 st /GS | S | | * | 0.62 | 3.08 | 5.78 | 1.15 |
| | | G | - | 8 | 0.45 | 3.44 | 9.24 | 1.18 |
| 223# | 1 ^{sl} /GS | S | - | | 0.48 | 0.71 | 0.74 | 1.13 |
| | | G | 21 <u>4</u> 1 | 8 | 0.58 | 0.80 | 0.68 | 1.06 |
| 200 | 1 st /GS | S | 2.71 | | 0.38 | 0.95 | 1.17 | 1.25 |
| 206 | 1 st /GS | S | Gly245→Asp | | 0.04 | 0.63 | 0.79 | 0.8 |
| 207 | 1 st /GS | S | Val197insGT | Trp111→stop | 0.44 | 1.06 | 1.02 | 0.99 |
| 208 | 1 st /GS | S | - * | 8 | 0.16 | 2.33 | 1.04 | 1.25 |
| 209 | 1 st /GS | S | - * | Tyr88→Ser | 0.51 | 1.30 | 1.03 | 0.94 |
| 211 | 1 st /GS | S | - * | - | 0.17 | 1.34 | 1.49 | 1.67 |
| 212 | 1 st /GS | S | nd | Gln17→Pro | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| | 2 nd /GS | S | - * | $GIn17 \rightarrow Pro$ | 0.31 | 0.95 | 0.88 | 0.76 |
| 216 | 1 st /AA | G | 1 | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| | 2 nd /GBM | G | 1941 | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| | 3 rd /GS | S | Val274→Ala | × | 0.59 | 0.96 | 1.90 | 0.73 |
| 217 | 1 st /GS | S | 2.4 | × | 0.33 | 2.3 | 1.43 | 0.83 |
| 219 | 1 st /GS | S | - | Trp274→stop | 0.17 | 0.34 | 0.49 | 0.58 |
| 221 | 1 st /GBM | G | nd | nd | 0.14 | nd | nd | nd |
| | 2 nd /GS | S | - | | 0.02 | 0.98 | 0.96 | 0.83 |
| 222 | 1 st /GS | S | Met237→Ile | Asn48→Asp | 0.8 | 3.10 | 0.97 | 1.08 |

Table 8 - Genetic alterations of gliosarcomas.

[#], Samples suitable for comparative analysis of both tumour components; S, sarcomatous component; G, gliomatous component; *, previously reported by Biernat *et al*⁴⁰; - negative; differential PCR data described in bold indicates amplification or deletion; nd, not determined; AA, anaplastic astrocytoma; GBM, glioblastoma; GS, gliosarcoma.

DISCUSSION

In this part the results described in the previous section will be discussed and analysed according to the proposed aims.

1-p53 mutations and gemistocytes in diffuse astrocytomas

1.1-Distribution of *p53* mutated cells in a diffuse astrocytoma

Although *p53* mutations are considered a genetic hallmark of diffuse astrocytomas, their precise role and timing of appearance remains unclear. *p53* mutations in diffuse astrocytomas (WHO grade II) might be associated with a poor prognosis but the results of several studies are inconsistent ^{14,222}. In non-specified diffuse astrocytomas, the reported frequencies of *p53* mutation varies among studies (25 to 40%) ^{25,68,223}, and in cases that progress to higher-grade malignancies, more than 65% harbour *p53* mutations ^{25,210,216,224}. Ishii *et al* ⁸² found that diffuse astrocytoma patients with *p53* mutations had higher risk of malignant progression and shorter time till progression. Watanabe *et al* ²⁵ also observed a trend toward a shorter time till progression in patients with diffuse astrocytomas carrying *p53* mutations. In contrast, other studies found no association between *p53* mutations and clinical course of diffuse astrocytoma patients ^{225,226}. Moreover, one study showed that diffuse astrocytoma patients ^{225,226}. Moreover, one study showed that diffuse astrocytoma patients containing *p53* mutation is not the only progression associated event in diffuse astrocytomas. Other genetic alterations must be involved in progression of diffuse astrocytomas.

In contrast to other neoplasms, such as colorectal carcinomas where p53 mutations occur in the late stage of tumour progression, p53 mutations occur at similar frequencies in diffuse astrocytomas, anaplastic astrocytomas and secondary glioblastomas ^{2,68}. In p53 mutated positive anaplastic astrocytomas or glioblastomas that had developed from diffuse astrocytomas, more than 90% (22/24) of cases already disclosed the mutation in the first biopsy ²⁵. These evidences suggest that when p53 mutations occur they are an early event in astrocytomas. *In vitro* experiments have suggested the clonal expansion of p53 mutated cells during diffuse astrocytoma progression to anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma ^{81,82}. These results support the possibility that p53 mutation is an early progression event, rather than "the" initiation event, since only a fraction of cells in the primary diffuse astrocytoma harboured p53 mutations. However, the high risk of astrocytoma development early in life observed in patients with Li-Fraumeni syndrome, points toward an initiation role of p53 in the tumours of these patients ⁷⁹.

In our study we conducted an extensive p53 mutation analysis of a diffuse astrocytoma (fibrillary variant) whole brain section. The results showed the presence of a p53 missense mutation (Arg273 \rightarrow His) in all tumour regions. Due to the low sensitivity of the method used

in this study, it was not possible to precisely determine the proportion of mutated versus wild-type p53 allele in the different tumour regions. The codon 273 is the most frequently mutated in diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas ⁶⁸, and this amino acid change (arginine to histidine) is believed to inactivate the transcriptional activity of p53 ²²⁷. In some adjacent normal tissue, it was also found the presence of mutated *p53*. This observation is likely due to the infiltrating neoplastic cells into surrounding normal brain tissue, as it was confirmed by the histological examination of the respective regions. The absence of mutated sequence in non-tumour tissue excludes the possibility of a germline mutation.

In our study the only molecular alteration analysed was the presence of *p53* mutation. It remains to be clarified whether *p53* mutation is associated with other genetic abnormalities. It is interesting that LOH of *p53* locus was significantly associated with PDGFR- α overexpression in astrocytomas ²²⁸. Moreover, primary cortical astrocytes without functional *p53* become transformed only in the presence of basic fibroblast growth factor ⁸³, suggesting that concomitant loss of *p53* and growth factor(s) overexpression are involved in tumour development of diffuse astrocytoma.

To the best of our knowledge, these results document for the first time that a p53 mutation is present in all tumour regions of low-grade astrocytoma (WHO grade II). These findings suggest that, at least a subset of sporadic diffuse astrocytomas evolve from clonal expansion of p53 mutated cells, supporting the role of p53 as a gatekeeper in diffuse astrocytoma.

1.2-Analysis of *p53* mutations in gemistocytes of gemistocytic astrocytomas

The role of gemistocytes in diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas has been a disputable issue. Gemistocytic astrocytomas have a poorer prognosis than fibrillary astrocytomas ^{2,15,17,18,229}, leading Krouwer *et al* ¹⁸ to suggest the classification of gemistocytic astrocytomas as anaplastic astrocytomas. Indeed, according to the WHO classification ²⁴, although rarely, some tumours are diagnosed as anaplastic gemistocytic astrocytoma. Gemistocytic astrocytomas, WHO grade IV, (probably, glioblastomas with predominant gemistocytic component) have also been described ²³⁰.

Several factors have been proposed to explain the poor prognosis associated with gemistocytic astrocytomas. This diffuse astrocytoma variant has a high frequency of p53 mutations (60-82%) ^{78,230}. Watanabe *et al* ¹⁷ reported that diffuse astrocytomas containing more than 5% gemistocytes have significant shorter time till progression, and that all of these cases have *p53* mutations, whereas only 61% of cases containing less than 5% gemistocytes were *p53* mutated positive and had a significant longer time till progression ¹⁷. However, the prognostic value of *p53* mutations in gemistocytic astrocytomas remains controversial, as previously mentioned for diffuse astrocytomas.

The mechanism responsible for gemistocyte differentiation remains obscure. Some reports suggested that this type of differentiation is caused by deprivation of nutrients and oxygen, due to competition with surrounding neoplastic cells ¹⁹. In fact, gemistocytes are also found in a variety of central nervous system disorders associated with ischemic or hypoxic conditions ^{19,22,23}. Thus, the hypoxic/anoxic tumour environment may be responsible not only for the phenotype of gemistocytes, but also for a worse prognosis associated with their presence in tumours. Hypoxia has been shown to increase genomic instability, and up-regulation of proteins involved in tumour invasiveness, as well as of growth factors (e.g. fibroblast growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor) 231,232. Interestingly, some studies have reported the expression of basic and acid fibroblast growth factor by gemistocytes in astrocytic tumours ^{233,234}. Thus, the anoxic conditions could act as a selective force to induce the development of more resistant and malignant cells, leading to a more aggressive behaviour of the tumour 235-237. Graeber et al 235 have reported the association of anoxic conditions with the selection and expansion of apoptotic resistant p53 mutated cells in solid tumours. Furthermore, Watanabe et al 17 also reported a marked bcl-2 expression in gemistocytes, suggesting that the gemistocyte accumulation within diffuse astrocytomas may be due to bcl-2-mediated apoptosis escape. Increased bcl-2 expression under p53 inactivation was suggested to provide cells with a selective survival advantage in cervical carcinoma cell lines ²³⁸.

It is interesting to stress that gemistocytes do not seem to proliferate, even if present in anaplastic astrocytomas or glioblastomas, which lead to speculate their possible terminal differentiation status ^{17,19,20}. The aforementioned evidence raises the question of whether gemistocytes are neoplastic cells or reactive astrocytic cells. This question was the main objective in our study of gemistocytic astrocytomas.

Kros *et al* ²³⁹ analysed astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and mixed oligoastrocytomas with gemistocytes for abnormalities of chromosomes 1, 7, 10 and 17 by *in situ* hybridisation. There was no difference in spot distribution between gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells in six out of nine cases with abnormalities. In the remaining cases, the concordance was incomplete ²³⁹. In our study we observed identical *p53* mutations in both gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells in all six gemistocytic astrocytomas analysed. The use of a laser-assisted microdissection in our study, guaranteed a pure histologic population for DNA analysis. Notably, in all 6 gemistocytic astrocytomas analysed only the mutated allele was detected, indicating the loss of the wild-type allele. In a previous study of the same tumours, in which tumour areas were dissected manually, the wild-type *p53* allele was detected in four of the samples ⁷⁸, probably due to contamination with entrapped non-neoplastic cells. These data stress the importance of use of laser microdissection system to more precisely determine the loss of wild-type allele in primary tumour samples, namely, *p53*.

Discussion

In summary, our findings strongly support the monoclonal origin of both gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells and that gemistocytes are indeed neoplastic cells in gemistocytic astrocytomas.

2-LOH on chromosome 10 and human *BUB* gene family mutations in glioblastomas

2.1-LOH on chromosome 10 in glioblastomas

Deletions of chromosome 10 are the most frequent genetic abnormality in glioblastomas ^{27,145,147}. Although the majority of glioblastomas have deletion of the entire chromosome 10 (monosomy 10), a number of attempts have been made to identify the smallest commonly deleted region, which would harbour tumour suppressor genes. The pattern of deletions observed suggests at least three putative tumour suppressor loci, i.e., 10p14-ter, 10q23-24, and 10q25-qter ^{144-147,240}.

The results of our study showed that LOH#10 occurs at similar frequency in both primary (47%) and secondary glioblastomas (54%), but with different patterns of deletion. Primary glioblastomas are characterised by loss of an entire copy of the chromosome 10, while secondary glioblastomas typically display partial loss on 10q.

Ichimura *et al* ¹⁴⁵ studied 198 astrocytic tumours for LOH#10 and showed that most glioblastomas lost the entire copy of the chromosome 10, while diffuse astrocytomas preferentially lost the 10p. However, the astrocytomas and glioblastomas analysed derived from distinct patients ¹⁴⁵. Contrasting with this study, we and others authors, observed the absent of LOH#10p on secondary glioblastomas; Weber *et al* ²²⁴ reported that 4 of 10 anaplastic astrocytomas and glioblastomas that had progressed from diffuse astrocytomas showed 10q deletions using comparative genomic hybridisation (CGH) analysis of ²²⁴. Further evidence is provided by Fujisawa *et al* ¹⁵¹ that observed deletion of 10q in 4 of 5 secondary glioblastomas.

Like in previous reports ²⁴¹⁻²⁴³, we found that *EGFR* amplification is associated with chromosome 10 monosomy. Of the several putative tumour suppressor genes that have been identified on chromosome 10, including *DMBT1* ¹⁷⁸, *MXI1* ¹⁸³, *hBUB3* ¹³⁸, *LGI1* ¹⁸⁵, only *PTEN* (10q23) was established as a tumour suppressor gene involved in glioblastoma tumourigenesis. Tohma *et al* ¹⁰⁷ reported that *PTEN* mutations are frequent in primary glioblastomas (32%) and rarely observed in secondary glioblastomas (4%). These findings, together with the observed LOH#10q frequencies in both primary and secondary glioblastomas, indicate that inactivation of other gene(s) on chromosome 10q may be involved in the development of secondary glioblastomas. Indeed, in our study, as well as in

a previous study ¹⁵¹, the commonly deleted locus detected in secondary glioblastomas lies between the 10q25-qter region, distal to the *PTEN* region.

Overall, this study shows that LOH#10 is more extensive in primary than in secondary glioblastomas, suggesting that while putative tumour suppressor gene(s) on 10q may be involved in both subtypes, the gene(s) located on 10p may be preferentially associated with the primary glioblastomas.

2.2-Mutation analysis of *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* mitotic checkpoint genes in glioblastomas

A mutational analysis of the *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes was performed in order to determine whether inactivation of mitotic checkpoint genes is involved in the evolution of glioblastomas. The analysis of *hBUB1* showed only a silent mutation at codon 144 in one glioblastoma and two giant cell glioblastomas. This silent mutation has been previously detected in colon and bladder tumours, as well as from blood of the corresponding patients ^{137,244}, indicating to be a polymorphism.

The screening of the entire coding sequence of *hBUBR1* gene revealed two silent mutations at codons 388 and 952, both of which have previously been detected in colon, breast and lung tumours ^{139,245,246}. It was also identified a known polymorphism on codon 349 (CAA \rightarrow CGA, GIn \rightarrow Arg). The allelic frequency was 0.75 for the amino acid glutamine (GIn) and 0.25 for the amino acid arginine (Arg), similar to the frequency detected in Caucasian individuals. However, these values were significantly different from the ones obtained for Japanese individuals (Table 9), suggesting differences in ethnical allelic frequencies. Nevertheless, from the molecular epidemiological point of view, this polymorphism may be of interest because of its possible association with different genetic susceptibility in different populations to the occurrence of aneuploidy. Interestingly, the incidence of CNS tumours in Switzerland is 6.1 cases per 100,000 for men, whereas in Japan is 3.0 cases per 100,000 for men⁴. Further studies should be developed to address the biological effects of this polymorphism.

The analysis of the entire coding *hBUB3* sequence revealed no mutations in any of the cases. However, a substitution mutation, $C \rightarrow T 6$ bp upstream from the initiation codon was found in four glioblastomas, as well as in blood DNA from the corresponding patients, suggesting a polymorphism. The screening of Caucasian individuals was conducted to determine whether this polymorphism was over-represented in patients with glioblastomas. The frequency of T base in patients with glioblastoma was not statistically different from the frequency observed in the control individuals (Table 9). Moreover, Haruki *et al*, ²⁴⁷ have found no significant differences of allelic frequencies in patients with lung cancer (Table 9). Nevertheless, this polymorphism is localised near the Kozak's consensus sequence ²⁴⁹,

and its functional significance remains to be clarified in terms of translation efficiency. Together with lack of *hBUB3* mutations, the absence of *hBUB3* transcript downregulation in all of our glioblastoma cases, even the ones with LOH#10q, showed that *hBUB3* gene is not genetically deregulated, suggesting the exclusion of *hBUB3* as a candidate tumour suppressor gene in glioblastoma development.

| | hBUBR1 codon 349 | hBUB3 position (-6) |
|------------------------------|------------------|---------------------|
| | GIn / Arg | C→T |
| Caucasian | | |
| Glioblastoma patients (n=22) | 0.75 / 0.25 | 0.18 |
| Random population (n=60) | 0.73 / 0.27 | 0.15 |
| Japanese | | |
| Lung cancer patients (n=44)* | 0.39 / 0.61 | 0.27 |
| Random population (n=224)** | 0.31 / 0.69 | nd |

Table 9 - Frequency of hBUBR1 and hBUB3 polymorphisms.

*,Haruki et al 247; **, Katagiri et al 248; nd, not determined.

Considering the absence of mutational inactivation of the *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes in glioblastomas together with other mutational analysis (Table 10), it is unlikely that mutations in these mitotic checkpoint genes are associated with the genetic instability in most human tumours. Additional studies are also necessary to clarify whether mutations of other mitotic checkpoint genes, such as *hMAD1L1*, *hMAD2*, and *hMPS1* play any role in glioblastoma tumourigenesis. However, previous studies have also reported rare or absent mutations of these genes in a variety of other tumour types ^{139,244,250-253,253}. Indeed, a recent work reported absence of inactivation mutations of *hMAD1L1* in 5 glioblastoma cell lines ²⁵⁴.

Further studies will be necessary to determine whether these genes are inactivated by other mechanisms, such as promoter methylation, defects at post-transcriptional regulation, or microsatellite instability. Indeed, the later mechanism was recently detected within the *hBUB1* gene in a subset of colorectal cancers ²⁵⁹.

| Tumours | N° Cases | hBUB1 | hBUBR1 | hBUB3 | Reference |
|-----------------|----------|-------|--------|-------|--------------------------|
| Brain | 22 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Present study |
| Digestive tract | 32 | 1 | nd | nd | Imai ²⁵⁰ |
| | 19 | 2 | 2 | 0 | Cahill 137,139 |
| | 5 | 0 | nd | nd | Shigeishi 255 |
| Lung | 102 | 1 | 0 | nd | Sato 246 |
| | 44 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Haruki ²⁴⁷ |
| | 60 | 1 | nd | nd | Gema ²⁵⁶ |
| | 25 | 0 | nd | nd | Yamaguchi 257 |
| Breast | 19 | 0 | 0 | nd | Myrie ²⁴⁵ |
| Bladder | 21 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Olesen 244 |
| | 52 | 0 | nd | 0* | Hernando 251 |
| Leukaemia | 10 | 1 | 3 | nd | Oshima 258 |
| Head and Neck | K 6 | 0 | nd | nd | Yamaguchi ²⁵⁷ |

Table 10 - Summary of miscoding mutations in hBUB-family gene in human tumours

nd, not determined; *, analysed in only 9 out of the 52 samples.

3-Second primary glioblastoma

Glioblastomas remain one of the deadliest human neoplasms, despite advances in neurosurgical techniques, radiation and drug therapies ^{1,260}. Long-term (more than 3 years) survival patients with glioblastomas are uncommon, and clinical-pathological parameters associated with long-term survivors are: young age (approximately 40 years old), high Karnofsky performance score, low proliferative index, presence of an oligodendroglial component, and multimodal treatments ^{32,33,261-264}.

In our study we reported a peculiar case of a 54 years old male patient that survived 10 years after the diagnosis of a glioblastoma. After this period the patient developed a second glioblastoma. Both tumours depicted a high proliferative activity. Clinically, both glioblastomas of our patient developed *de novo*, after a short clinical history and without evidence of a less malignant precursor lesion. Surprisingly, both biopsies presented multiple genetic alterations in the *p53* and *PTEN* tumour suppressor genes, and most strikingly, none of *p53* and *PTEN* mutations occurred in both tumours. These findings indicate that the second tumour is not a recurrence of the first neoplasm. To rule out the hypothesis of sample identity error a forensic DNA analysis was carried out and confirmed the same identity of both tumour samples.

An important observation emerged from our results; the second tumour represents a second primary glioblastoma.

Except for organs with significant exposure to environmental carcinogens, such as oesophagus and oropharynx following many years of excessive tobacco and alcohol consumption ²⁶⁵, and hereditary syndromes, second primary tumours are considered to be rare. There is currently no evidence for significant exogenous risk factor for human brain tumours, with the exception of ionising radiation ². Our patient was not submitted to radiotherapy before the development of the first tumour. Since the patient was submitted to radiotherapy after surgical resection of the first tumour, one may argue that the second glioblastoma could have been caused by the radiotherapy treatment. However, it is more likely that the development of the second tumour is associated with the genetic background of the patient since the first tumour contained already multiple mutations and deletion of tumour suppressor genes.

A recent review of the literature found only 30 cases of patients that survived 10 or more years ³³. Of the 30 cases, 2 had an oligodendroglial component, one was a Turcot syndrome case, and a fourth was possibly a pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma ³³. The mean age of these 30 cases was 32 years ³³. At present it is not known whether long-term survival patients with glioblastomas have a distinct pattern of genetic alterations. The few reported molecular studies available are summarised in Table 11. No specific genetic alterations can be drawn from these studies. In contrast with lno *et al* ²⁶¹, none of the tumours of our patient disclosed LOH of 1p35-36 region, which has been associated with long-term survival patients with glioblastomas ²⁶¹ (Table 11).

| Age/ | Survival | | | G | enetics | | | | Imm | unohistoch | nemistry | Reference |
|-------|----------|------|------|----------|---------|-----|--------|----------|-----|------------|----------|-----------------------|
| Sex | (years) | p53 | PTEN | p16"NK4a | EGFR | 1p | 10 | 19q | p53 | EGFR | Rb | |
| 54/M | 10 | Mut | Mut | Del | 1020 | - | - | | nd | nd | + | Present study |
| 41/M | 11 | 0.00 | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | - | + | nd | Morita 262 |
| 28/F | 8 | | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | + | - | nd | Morita 262 |
| 62/M | 7 | 1.00 | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | + | + | nd | Morita 262 |
| 24/M | 15 | 157 | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | 1 | - | nd | Morita 262 |
| 25/F | 7 | - | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | + | 100 | nd | Morita ²⁶² |
| 51/M | 7 | - | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | - | + | nd | Morita 262 |
| 30/M | 7 | - | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | + | + | nd | Morita 262 |
| 51/M | 7 | | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | - | - | nd | Morita 262 |
| 40/M | 9 | | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | | 12 | nd | Morita 262 |
| 40/F | 7 | - | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | - | | nd | Morita 262 |
| 69/M | 18 | Mut | nd | nd | 873 | = | LOH10p | - | nd | nd | nd | Sabel 33 |
| 44/M | 6 | | nd | 53 | | LOH | | a | nd | nd | nd | Ino 261 |
| 61/F* | 6 | Mut | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | Kosel 230 |
| 45/F | 15 | - | nd | Del | | LOH | LOH10q | a | nd | nd | nd | Ino ²⁶¹ |

Table 11 – Summary of clinical, genetic and immunohistochemistry features of glioblastoma from long-term survivors.

nd, not determined. Mut, mutation, Del, homozygous deletion, -, no alteration, *, gemistocytic astrocytoma (WHO grade IV).

Considering the unremarkable familiar history of the patient, it is unlikely that this case represents some of the known cancer familiar syndromes; the absence of *p53* germline

mutations (Reis *et al*, unpublished results) excluded the possibility of Li-Fraumeni syndrome; absence of microsatellite instability phenotype in both tumour biopsies also excluded the possibility of Turcot syndrome. This syndrome is characterised by colorectal carcinomas and glioblastomas caused by microsatellite instability phenotype due to germline mutations of the mismatch repair enzymes and is associated with a very good prognosis ²⁶⁶.

A remarkable finding of our study was the high frequency of transition mutations, G:C \rightarrow A:T (6 out of 7), and 5 of them were located at CpG sites. This type of mutation is frequent in astrocytic tumours 68 and is thought to be due to deamination of 5methylcytosine, which occurs spontaneously or induced through the action of oxygen radicals or nitric oxide in all cell types and is normally corrected by DNA repair mechanisms ²⁶⁷. Thymine-DNA glycosylase (TDG) and MDB4 are enzymes involved in the initiation repair of this type of errors ^{268,269}. Mutations in the *TDG* gene have not been identified. However, decreased levels of mRNA were reported in pancreatic tumour cell lines ²⁷⁰ and a high frequency of LOH (42%) was observed in the TDG locus in gastric carcinomas 271. Mutations of the MBD4 gene have only been detected in colorectal and endometrial tumours with microsatellite instability 272.273. The LOH analysis of MBD4 locus, did not disclose any allelic deletion in both glioblastomas of the present case (Reis et al, unpublished results). O⁶-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) is a DNA repair protein that specifically removes promutagenic alkyl groups from the O⁶ position of quanine in DNA 274. Several lines of evidence have showed that inactivation of MGMT is also associated with the generation of G:C \rightarrow A:T transition mutations ^{275,276}. In addition, Nakamura et al 277 found a significant correlation between p53 transition mutations $(G:C \rightarrow A:T)$ and promoter methylation of *MGMT* gene in diffuse astrocytomas.

Although both tumours showed clinical features of primary glioblastomas, they disclosed genetic features common to both primary (*de novo*) glioblastomas, (e.g. *PTEN* mutations and *p16*^{INK4a} deletion) and secondary glioblastomas, (e.g. *p53* mutations and absence of *EGFR* amplification), which raises the possibility of a distinct genetic pathway for long-term survival patients with glioblastomas.

In summary, these results provide for the first time a genetic evidence of a second primary glioblastoma, and suggest the involvement of a novel unknown disease mechanism, characterised by multiple alterations in transformation-associated genes, and a favourable prognosis.

73

4-Genetic characterisation of gliosarcomas

The genetic alterations associated with gliosarcomas were largely unknown. In this study we showed that gliosarcomas contain several genetic alterations similar to those encountered in primary glioblastomas, including high frequency of $p16^{INK4a}$ homozygous deletion (37%) and *PTEN* mutations (37%). Twenty-six percent of gliosarcomas had *p53* mutations. This *p53* mutation frequency is higher than the usually observed in primary glioblastomas (11%), but is significant lower than the one found in secondary glioblastomas (67%) (Table 12) ²⁷.

| able 12 - | Clinical | and | genetic | data d | of gl | lioblastoma | subtypes | |
|-----------|----------|-----|---------|--------|-------|-------------|----------|--|
| | | | | | | | | |

| | Primary Glioblastoma | Gliosarcoma | Giant cell glioblastoma | Secondary glioblastoma |
|-------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------|---|
| Clinical onset | de novo | de novo | de novo | secondary |
| Preoperative clinical | 1.7 ³⁰ | 3 ^a | 1.6 ³⁵ | 53 m. ^{30°} 25 m. ^{30°°} |
| Sex ratio M/F | 1.4 ³⁰ | 1.4 ^a | 1.2 ^{35, 219} | 0.8 30 |
| Age of diagnosis | 56 ^{30,218} | 56° 53 ³⁶ | 44 ^{35,219} | 40 ^{30, 218} |
| p53 mutation | 2/19 (11%) 30 | 8/35 (23%) ^{a, 40, 290} | 31/37 (84%) ^{35, 2} | ¹⁹ 20/30 (67%) ³⁰ |
| PTEN mutation | 9/28 (32%)107 | 8/21 (38%) a, 291 | 6/22(27%) 35, 291 | 1/25 (4%) ¹⁰⁷ |
| p16 ^{/NK4a} deletion | 10/28 (36%)55 | 7/19 (37%) ^a | 1/37(3%) 35, 219 | 1/23 (4%) ⁵⁵ |
| MDM2 amplification | 2/29 (7%) ⁹² | 1/19 (5%) ^a | 0/18 (0%) 35 | 0/27(0%) 92 |
| EGFR amplification | 11/28 (39%) ¹⁰⁷ | 1/22 (4%) ^{a, 292} | 2/37(5%) ^{35,219} | 0/22(0%) 107 |
| CDK4 amplification | 1/28 (4%) ⁵⁵ | 2/19 (10%) ^a | 1/19 (5%) ²¹⁹ | 3/23 (13%) ⁵⁵ |
| Rb loss expression | 2/28 (14%) 55 | 1/19 (5%) ^a | nd | 5/22 (23%) ⁵⁵ |

^a, present study; superscripts are numbers from the the list of references; *, from diffuse astrocytomas; **, from anaplastic astrocytoma; nd, not determined

The only significant difference between gliosarcomas and primary glioblastomas is the absence of *EGFR* amplification or overexpression in the former. This finding is particularly interesting, since the most frequent genetic alterations in gliosarcomas detected by cytogenetic studies are gains of chromosome 7 (*EGFR* gene location) and loss of chromosome 10 ^{220,221,278}. Early studies raised the possibility that amplification of *EGFR* was one of the targets of chromosomal 7 alterations in gliosarcomas ^{220,221,278}. The absence of *EGFR* amplification reported in our study, suggests the existence of other oncogenes on chromosome 7 involved in the development of this tumour type. *CDK6*, *PDGF-A*, *c-MET* and his respective ligand HGF/scatter factor are genes reported to be amplified or overexpressed in glioblastomas ^{65,120,279,280}. The immunohistochemistry analysis of HGF/c-MET in 10 gliosarcomas showed expression of both proteins only in the gliomatous component, suggesting an autocrine stimulation loop not involved in the acquisition of the sarcomatous phenotype (Reis *et al*, unpublished results). The role of *CDK6* and *PDGF-A* genes in development of gliosarcomas remains to be clarified.

Deregulation of the Rb pathway (*p16^{I/NK4a}* deletion, *CDK4* amplification and Rb loss of expression) was found in more than a half of gliosarcomas (10/19, 53%). The alterations identified were mutually exclusive as previously described in glioblastomas ^{50,54,55,62}, indicating that deregulation of one of these genes may lead to uncontrolled cell cycle in gliosarcomas.

The clinical onset of gliosarcomas is mainly in *de novo* fashion. Perry *et al* ²⁸² reported that 25 of 32 gliosarcoma cases (78%) were diagnosed as *de novo*, whereas 7 (22%) were diagnosed after irradiation for glioblastomas. In this study a gliosarcoma appeared as a recurrence of a glioblastoma (patient ID 221). Rarely, gliosarcomas develop through progression from diffuse ²⁸¹ or anaplastic astrocytoma ²⁸³ and a patient (ID 216) of this study.

Gliosarcoma is defined as a glioblastoma variant composed of two distinct, gliomatous and sarcomatous components ^{36,37}. It was initially assumed that the sarcomatous component developed secondary from hyperplasia of endothelial or non-endothelial constituents of the vessel wall within glioblastoma ^{37,39,284-286}. Recently, molecular studies have suggested a common origin of both tumour components. Boerman *et al* ⁴¹ found identical genetic changes in both tumour components using comparative genomic hybridisation, cytogenetics and microsatellite instability. Similar results have been found by Biernat *et al*, ⁴⁰, who described identical *p53* mutations in both gliomatous and sarcomatous tumour components in 2 cases.

In our study of both sarcomatous and gliomatous components only one case showed discordant results; the sarcomatous component showed a value clearly below the 0.2-ratio threshold of homozygous deletion, while the gliomatous component had a ratio of 0.3, not reaching the threshold limit. Since the manual dissection method used does not avoid all normal cells, as previously mentioned, their presence in the gliomatous component may explain this discrepancy. In all the other 5 gliosarcomas we observed in both tumour components identical genetic alterations, such as mutations of *PTEN* (two cases), mutation of p53 (one case), homozygous deletion of $p16^{INK4a}$ (one case) and co-amplification of *MDM2* and *CDK4* (one case).

The present study gives further support to the concept of monoclonal origin of both components of gliosarcomas. This observation supports the hypothesis that the sarcomatous portion of a gliosarcoma arise by a process of divergent differentiation either from the same common precursor cell as does the gliomatous component, or by metaplasia from the gliomatous component itself. The observation that rodent multipotent stem cells, which normally gave rise to neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, can differentiated under certain culture conditions into a smooth muscle cells ^{287,288}, supports that sarcomatous cells evolved from a multipotent neural stem cell or an early glial progenitor that retains the capacity to differentiate into a mesenchymal phenotype. On the

75

other hand, numerous studies documented the frequent loss of glial and acquisition of mesenchymal features in human glioma cell cultures and xenografts ²⁸⁹. In addition, a subset of gliosarcomas evolves from a primary astrocytic tumour. Interestingly, one of our gliosarcomas that evolved from a primary glioblastoma (Patient ID 221) harboured a $p16^{iNK4a}$ deletion in both primary and recurrent tumours. Therefore, it is likely that the sarcomatous portion evolves from a malignant astrocytic neoplasm, with acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype.

Although gliosarcomas are genetically and clinical similar to primary glioblastomas, the observation of a striking differences, absence of *EGFR* amplification, raises the possibility that gliosarcomas arise through an independent genetic pathway distinct from the ones responsible for the other glioblastoma subtypes, namely, primary, secondary and giant cell glioblastoma.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Conclusions

The main conclusions of the present study are the following:

A subset of diffuse astrocytomas evolves from clonal expansion of *p53* mutated cells, supporting the role of *p53* as a gatekeeper in diffuse astrocytoma.

In gemistocytic astrocytomas, gemistocytes are not reactive astrocytes, but true neoplastic cells.

LOH#10 is frequent in both primary and secondary glioblastomas. However, the pattern of deletion is different. Primary glioblastomas are characterised by loss of the entire chromosome 10, whereas secondary glioblastomas disclose partial or complete loss of chromosome 10q but no loss of 10p.

The *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* mitotic checkpoint genes are not mutated in glioblastomas. Several polymorphisms were detected in these genes. A Gln349 \rightarrow Arg polymorphism of *hBUBR1* showed different frequencies in Caucasian and Japanese populations.

Two glioblastomas of a long-term survivor were characterised by multiple and distinct mutations in *p53* and *PTEN* genes, as well as homozygous deletion of $p16^{INK4a}$ gene. This case constitutes the first report of a second primary glioblastoma confirmed by genetic analysis.

Gliosarcomas disclose not only clinical features, but also a genetic profile similar to those of primary or *de novo* glioblastomas, with frequent $p16^{NK4a}$ homozygous deletion and *PTEN* mutations. However, unlike primary glioblastomas, gliosarcomas do not present amplification/overexpression of *EGFR*. The identification of identical genetic alterations in both gliomatous and sarcomatous components strongly supports the concept of monoclonal origin of both components of gliosarcomas.

The aforementioned conclusions derive directly from the different studies that were included in the thesis. As we had foreseen (Aim section) they represent fragmented pieces of evidence that are difficult to put together, especially if one attempts to create a comprehensive model of tumour development. Nevertheless, the data we obtained provide interesting insights in several windows of the astrocytic tumourigenesis. The challenge is, as we previously mentioned, to be able to build, with those pieces-of-evidence, coherent pathways.

Based on the literature review and our own results, we feel tempted to provide the oversimplified view that is represented on Figure 13. In this scheme the most important genetic pathways associated with the histogenesis of diffuse infiltrating astrocytomas subtypes have been highlighted. We also included in Figure 13 the relative frequencies, mean age at diagnosis, WHO grade and mean survival time that reflect the behaviour of each diffusely infiltrating astrocytoma subtype.



Fig. 13 – Schematic overview of diffusely infiltrating astrocytoma subtypes development. The most relevant events observed in the different studies included in this thesis are indicated in italic, and the clinico-prognostic features in dashed rows of each histologic subtype; The relative frequencies were estimated considering major reported series; y, years; m, months; mut., mutation; meth., methylation; ampl., amplification; over., overexpression; del; homozygous deletion.

Future perspectives

Several questions concerning the understanding of development of diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas are still unsolved. The present thesis also raises many additional questions, some of which are delineated:

Our results indicate that *p53* mutation represents an initiation event in diffuse astrocytomas. It will be warrant to extend this study to a higher number of diffuse astrocytomas. In fact, it is still controversial whether *p53* mutation occurs alone or in combination with other genetic alterations. Transgenic mouse models would help to clarify this issue, by the possibility of manipulation of several genes simultaneously.

It would also be interesting to study the role of gene inactivation by abnormal promoter methylation, as a possible early event in astrocytic tumour development.

Our results showed that in gemistocytic astrocytomas, gemistocytes are indeed neoplastic cells. It remains to be determined the factors involved in the gemistocyte phenotype, and why the presence of gemistocytes is associated with a poor prognosis.

Our results support the existence of several tumour suppressor genes on chromosome 10. We found a common deleted region on the 10q25-qter in secondary glioblastomas. Further studies would be necessary to refine the smallest deleted regions, and in combination with techniques for gene identification, isolate the candidate genes.

Given the importance mitotic checkpoint genes, including *BUB* family, in regulating the mitotic mechanisms and avoidance of chromosomal instability, it would be interesting to develop classic and conditional knockouts (gene deletion limited to astrocytic cells) mice to clarify the role of mitotic checkpoint genes in astrocytic tumour development.

The detection of a possible new mechanism of genetic instability in a long-term survival patient with glioblastoma, may be related with specific types of mutations / repair enzymes, namely *TDG* and *MBD4*. It would be of interest to determine their precise role in the development of our case, and in other long-term survival patients with glioblastomas.

The complete sequence of human genome will provide new tools and insights that will enhance our understanding of the genetic mechanisms underlying cancer. In recent years a variety of techniques have been developed that will allow a complete and the highthroughput analysis of genetic profile and alterations in neoplasms.

With techniques such as cDNA microarray, which allow the rapid survey of thousands of genes, it will be possible to determine the molecular fingerprints of each tumour type.

The use of such methodologies to the analysis of the diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas subtypes would help to clarify many of the aforementioned questions.

Noteworthy, the knowledge of the genetic alterations present in each tumour type will be essential to define gene therapy strategies, that may help to overcome the ominous prognosis of patients with diffuse infiltrating astrocytomas in the future.

REFERENCES
- 1. Ohgaki, H., Reifenberger, G., Nomura, K., and Kleihues, P. Gliomas. *In* UICC (ed.), Prognostic factors in cancer, 2nd ed, pp. 725-743. Toronto: Wiley-Liss, Inc, 2001.
- Cavenee, W. K., Furnari, F. B., Nagane, M., Huang, H. J. S., Newcomb, E. W., Bigner, D. D., Weller, M., Berens, M. E., Plate, K. H., Israel, M. A., Noble, M. D., and Kleihues, P. Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas. *In* P. Kleihues and W. K. Cavenee (eds.), Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, 2nd ed, pp. 10-21. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000.
- 3. Gurney, J. G. and Kadan-Lottick, N. Brain and other central nervous system tumors: rates, trends, and epidemiology. Curr.Opin.Oncol., *13*: 160-166, 2001.
- 4. Parkin, D. M. The global burden of cancer. Semin.Cancer Biol., 8: 219-235, 1998.
- 5. Ferlay, J., Bray, F., Pisani, P., and Parkin, D. M. GLOBOCAN 2000, vol. 5, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide (CR-rom) ed.Lyon: 2001.
- Devesa, S. S. and Silverman, D. T. Cancer incidence and mortality trends in the United States: 1935-74. J.Natl.Cancer Inst., 60: 545-571, 1978.
- 7. Bahemuka, M. Worldwide incidence of primary nervous system neoplasms. Geographical, racial and sex differences, 1960-1977. Brain, *111*: 737-755, 1988.
- 8. Davis, D. L. and Schwartz, J. Trends in cancer mortality: US white males and females, 1968-83. Lancet, 19;1: 633-636, 1988.
- 9. Greig, N. H., Ries, L. G., Yancik, R., and Rapoport, S. I. Increasing annual incidence of primary malignant brain tumors in the elderly. J.Natl.Cancer Inst., *82*: 1621-1624, 1990.
- Modan, B., Wagener, D. K., Feldman, J. J., Rosenberg, H. M., and Feinleib, M. Increased mortality from brain tumors: a combine outcome of diagnostic technology and change of attitude toward the elderly? Am.J.Epidemiol., *135*: 1349-1357, 1992.
- 11. Helseth, A. Increasing incidence of primary central nervous system tumors in the elderly: real increase or improved detection? J.Natl.Cancer Inst., *85*: 1871-1872, 1993.
- Kernohan, J. W., Mabon, R. F., Svien, H. J., and Adson, A. W. A simplified classification of gliomas. Proc.Staff Meet.Mayo Clin., 24: 71-75, 1949.
- 13. Ringertz, J. Grading of gliomas. Acta Pathol.Microbiol.Scand., 27: 51-64, 1950.
- Kleihues, P., Davis, R. L., Ohgaki, H., Burger, P. C., Westphal, M. M., and Cavenee, W. K. Diffuse astrocytoma. *In* P. Kleihues and W. K. Cavenee (eds.), Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, 2nd ed, pp. 22-26. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000.
- Lantos, P. L., VandenBerg, S. R., and Kleihues, P. Tumours of the nervous system. *In* D. I. Graham and P. L. Lantos (eds.), Greenfield's Neuropathology, 6th ed, pp. 583-795. Arnold, 1997.
- 16. Burger, P. C. and Scheithauer, B. W. Tumors of the Central Nervous System, vol. 10.Washington: Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, 1994.
- 17. Watanabe, K., Tachibana, O., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Role of gemistocytes in astrocytoma progression. Lab.Invest., *76*: 277-284, 1997.
- Krouwer, H. G., Davis, R. L., Silver, P., and Prados, M. Gemistocytic astrocytomas: a reappraisal. J.Neurosurg., 74: 399-406, 1991.
- Hoshino, T., Wilson, B. C., and Ellis, W. G. Gemistocytic astrocytes in gliomas. An autoradiographic study. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 34: 263-281, 1975.

- Kros, J. M., Schouten, W. C., Janssen, P. J., and van der Kwast, T. H. Proliferation of gemistocytic cells and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-positive oligodendroglial cells in gliomas: a MIB-1/GFAP double labeling study. Acta Neuropathol., *91*: 99-103, 1996.
- Holland, E. C. Gliomagenesis: genetic alterations and mouse models. Nat.Rev.Genet., 2: 120-129, 2001.
- Kreutzberg, G. W., blakemore, W. F., and Graeber, M. B. Cellular pathology of central nervous system. *In D. I. Graham and P. L. Lantos (eds.)*, Greenfield's Neuropathology, 6th ed, pp. 85-140. Arnold, 1997.
- 23. Nissl, F. Zur Histopathologie der paralytischen Rindenerkrankung. Histol.Histopathol.Arb.Grosshirn, 1: 315, 1904.
- Kleihues, P., Davis, R. L., Coons, S. W., and Burger, P. C. Anaplastic astrocytoma. *In P. Kleihues and W. K. Cavenee (eds.)*, Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, 2nd ed, pp. 27-28. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000.
- Watanabe, K., Sato, K., Biernat, W., Tachibana, O., von Ammon, K., Ogata, N., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Incidence and timing of p53 mutations during astrocytoma progression in patients with multiple biopsies. Clin.Cancer Res., *3*: 523-530, 1997.
- Surawicz, T. S., Davis, F., Freels, S., Laws, E. R., and Menck, H. R. Brain tumor survival: results from the National Cancer Data Base. J Neurooncol., 40: 151-160, 1998.
- Kleihues, P., Burger, P. C., Collins, V. P., Newcomb, E. W., Ohgaki, H., and Cavenee, W. K. Glioblastoma. *In* P. Kleihues and W. K. Cavenee (eds.), Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, 2nd ed, pp. 29-39. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000.
- Scherer, H. J. Cerebral astrocytomas and their derivatives. Am.J.Cancer, 40: 159-198, 1940.
- 29. Kleihues, P. and Ohgaki, H. Phenotype vs genotype in the evolution of astrocytic brain tumors. Toxicol.Pathol., 28: 164-170, 2000.
- Watanabe, K., Tachibana, O., Sato, K., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Overexpression of the EGF receptor and p53 mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol., 6: 217-224, 1996.
- Forsyth, P. A. and Cairncross, J. G. Treatment of malignant glioma in adults. Curr.Opin.Neurol., 8: 414-418, 1995.
- Scott, J. N., Rewcastle, N. B., Brasher, P. M., Fulton, D., Hagen, N. A., MacKinnon, J. A., Sutherland, G., Cairncross, J. G., and Forsyth, P. Long-term glioblastoma multiforme survivors: a population-based study. Can.J.Neurol.Sci., 25: 197-201, 1998.
- Sabel, M., Reifenberger, J., Weber, R. G., Reifenberger, G., and Schmitt, H. P. Long-term survival of a patient with giant cell glioblastoma. Case report. J. Neurosurg., 94: 605-611, 2001.
- Ohgaki, H., Peraud, A., Nakazato, Y., Watanabe, K., and von Deimling, A. Giant cell glioblastoma. *In P. Kleihues and W. K. Cavenee (eds.)*, Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, 2nd ed, pp. 40-41. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000.
- Peraud, A., Watanabe, K., Schwechheimer, K., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Genetic profile of the giant cell glioblastoma. Lab.Invest., 79: 123-129, 1999.
- Biernat, W., Hegi, M., Aguzzi, A., and Kleihues, P. Gliosarcoma. *In* P. Kleihues and W. K. Cavenee (eds.), Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, pp. 27-28. Lyon: IARC Press, 1997.

- 37. Feigin, I. M., Allen, L. B., Lipkin, L., and Gross, S. W. The endothelial hyperplasia of the cerebral blood vessels, and its sarcomatous transformation. Cancer, *11*: 264-277, 1958.
- Grant, J. W., Steart, P. V., Aguzzi, A., Jones, D. B., and Gallagher, P. J. Gliosarcoma: an immunohistochemical study. Acta Neuropathol., 79: 305-309, 1989.
- Kochi, N. and Budka, H. Contribution of histiocytic cells to sarcomatous development of the gliosarcoma. An immunohistochemical study. Acta Neuropathol., 73: 124-130, 1987.
- Biernat, W., Aguzzi, A., Sure, U., Grant, J. W., Kleihues, P., and Hegi, M. E. Identical mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor gene in the gliomatous and the sarcomatous components of gliosarcomas suggest a common origin from glial cells. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 54: 651-656, 1995.
- Boerman, R. H., Anderl, K., Herath, J., Borell, T., Johnson, N., Schaeffer-Klein, J., Kirchhof, A., Raap, A. K., Scheithauer, B. W., and Jenkins, R. B. The glial and mesenchymal elements of gliosarcomas share similar genetic alterations. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 55: 973-981, 1996.
- 42. Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R. A. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, 100: 57-70, 2000.
- 43. Ponder, B. A. Cancer genetics. Nature, 411: 336-341, 2001.
- 44. Pardee, A. B. G1 events and regulation of cell proliferation. Science, 246: 603-608, 1989.
- 45. Sherr, C. J. The Pezcoller lecture: cancer cell cycles revisited. Cancer Res., 60: 3689-3695, 2000.
- 46. Sherr, C. J. Cancer cell cycles. Science, 274: 1672-1677, 1996.
- 47. Mulligan, G. and Jacks, T. The retinoblastoma gene family: cousins with overlapping interests. Trends Genet., 14: 223-229, 1998.
- Quelle, D. E., Zindy, F., Ashmun, R. A., and Sherr, C. J. Alternative reading frames of the INK4A tumor suppressor gene encode two unrelated proteins capable of inducing cell cycle arrest. Cell, 83: 993-1000, 1995.
- Schmidt, E. E., Ichimura, K., Reifenberger, G., and Collins, V. P. CDKN2 (p16/MTS1) gene deletion or CDK4 amplification occurs in the majority of glioblastomas. Cancer Res., 54: 6321-6324, 1994.
- Ichimura, K., Bolin, M. B., Goike, H. M., Schmidt, E. E., Moshref, A., and Collins, V. P. Deregulation of the p14^{ARF}/MDM2/p53 pathway is a prerequisite for human astrocytic gliomas with G₁-S transition control gene abnormalities. Cancer Res., *60*: 417-424, 2000.
- Nakamura, M., Watanabe, T., Klangby, U., Asker, C. E., Wiman, K. G., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. p14^{krt} deletion and methylation in genetic pathways to glioblastomas. Brain Pathol., *11*: 159-168, 2001.
- Merlo, A., Herman, J. G., Mao, L., Lee, D. J., Gabrielson, E., Burger, P. C., Baylin, S. B., and Sidransky, D. 5' CpG island methylation is associated with transcriptional silencing of the tumour suppressor p16/CDKN2/MTS1 in human cancers. Nat.Med., *1*: 686-692, 1995.
- Costello, J. F., Berger, M. S., Huang, H. J., and Cavenee, W. K. Silencing of p16/CDKN2 expression in human gliomas by methylation and chromatin condensation. Cancer Res., 56: 2405-2410, 1996.
- Ueki, K., Ono, Y., Henson, J. W., Efird, J. T., von Deimling, A., and Louis, D. N. CDKN2/p16 or RB alterations occur in the majority of glioblastomas and are inversely correlated. Cancer Res., 56: 150-153, 1996.

- Biernat, W., Tohma, Y., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Alterations of cell cycle regulatory genes in primary (*de novo*) and secondary glioblastomas. Acta Neuropathol., *94*: 303-309, 1997.
- Jones, P. A. and Laird, P. W. Cancer epigenetics comes of age. Nat.Genet., 21: 163-167, 1999.
- Hannon, G. J. and Beach, D. p15INK4B is a potential effector of TGF-beta-induced cell cycle arrest. Nature, 371: 6338-6339, 1994.
- Jen, J., Harper, J. W., Bigner, S. H., Bigner, D. D., Papadopoulos, N., Markowitz, S., Willson, J. K., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. Deletion of p16 and p15 genes in brain tumors. Cancer Res., 54: 6353-6358, 1994.
- Schmidt, E. E., Ichimura, K., Messerle, K. R., Goike, H. M., and Collins, V. P. Infrequent methylation of CDKN2A(MTS1/p16) and rare mutation of both CDKN2A and CDKN2B(MTS2/p15) in primary astrocytic tumours. Br.J.Cancer, 75: 2-8, 1997.
- Simon, M., Koster, G., Menon, A. G., and Schramm, J. Functional evidence for a role of combined CDKN2A (p16-p14^{ARF})/CDKN2B (p15) gene inactivation in malignant gliomas. Acta Neuropathol., 98: 444-452, 1999.
- Herman, J. G., Jen, J., Merlo, A., and Baylin, S. B. Hypermethylation-associated inactivation indicates a tumor suppressor role for p15INK4B. Cancer Res., 56: 722-727, 1996.
- Ichimura, K., Schmidt, E. E., Goike, H. M., and Collins, V. P. Human glioblastomas with no alterations of the CDK2A (p16^{INK4A}, MTS1) and CDK4 genes have frequent mutations of the retinoblastoma gene. Oncogene, *13*: 1065-1072, 1996.
- 63. Nakamura, M., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Promoter hypermethylation of the RB1 gene in glioblastomas. Lab.Invest., *81*: 77-82, 2001.
- Reifenberger, G., Reifenberger, J., Ichimura, K., Meltzer, P. S., and Collins, V. P. Amplification of multiple genes from chromosomal region 12q13-14 in human malignant gliomas: preliminary mapping of the amplicons shows preferential involvement of CDK4, SAS, and MDM2. Cancer Res., 54: 4299-4303, 1994.
- Costello, J. F., Plass, C., Arap, W., Chapman, V. M., Held, W. A., Berger, M. S., Huang, H. J., and Cavenee, W. K. Cyclin-dependent kinase 6 (CDK6) amplification in human gliomas identified using two-dimensional separation of genomic DNA. Cancer Res., *57*: 1250-1254, 1997.
- Lam, P. Y., Di Tomaso, E., Ng, H. K., Pang, J. C., Roussel, M. F., and Hjelm, N. M. Expression of p19INK4d, CDK4, CDK6 in glioblastoma multiforme. Br.J.Neurosurg., 14: 28-32, 2000.
- Buschges, R., Weber, R. G., Actor, B., Lichter, P., Collins, V. P., and Reifenberger, G. Amplification and expression of cyclin D genes (CCND1, CCND2 and CCND3) in human malignant gliomas. Brain Pathol., *9*: 435-442, 1999.
- Bogler, O., Huang, H. J., Kleihues, P., and Cavenee, W. K. The p53 gene and its role in human brain tumors. Glia, 15: 308-327, 1995.
- 69. Vogelstein, B., Lane, D., and Levine, A. J. Surfing the p53 network. Nature, 408: 307-310, 2000.
- 70. Levine, A. p53: the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell, 89: 323-331, 1997.
- North, S. and Hainaut, P. p53 and cell-cycle control: a finger in every pie. Pathol.Biol., 48: 255-270, 2000.

- 72. Lane, D. P. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature, 358: 15-16, 1992.
- Sherr, C. J. and Roberts, J. M. CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1-phase progression. Genes Dev., 13: 1501-1512, 1999.
- Albrechtsen, N., Dornreiter, I., Grosse, F., Kim, E., Wiesmuller, L., and Deppert, W. Maintenance of genomic integrity by p53: complementary roles for activated and nonactivated p53. Oncogene, 18: 7706-7717, 1999.
- Hainaut, P., Hernandez, T., Robinson, A., Rodriguez-Tome, P., Flores, T., Hollstein, M., Harris, C. C., and Montesano, R. IARC database of p53 gene mutation in human tumors and cell lines: updated compilation, revised formats and new visualisation tools. Nucleic Acids Res., 26: 205-213, 1998.
- Sigal, A. and Rotter, V. Oncogenic mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor: the demons of the guardian of the genome. Cancer Res., 60: 6788-6793, 2000.
- Hernandez-Boussard, T., Rodriguez-Tome, P., Montesano, R., and Hainaut, P. IARC p53 mutation database: a relational database to compile and analyze p53 mutations in human tumors and cell lines. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Hum.Mutat., 14: 1-8, 1999.
- Watanabe, K., Peraud, A., Gratas, C., Wakai, S., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. p53 and PTEN gene mutations in gemistocytic astrocytomas. Acta Neuropathol., *95*: 559-564, 1998.
- Ohgaki, H., Vital, A., Kleihues, P., and Hainaut, P. Li-Fraumeni syndrome and TP53 germline mutations. *In P. Kleihues and W. K. Cavenee (eds.)*, Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, 2nd ed, pp. 231-234. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000.
- Kinzler, K. W. and Vogelstein, B. Cancer-susceptibility genes. Gatekeepers and caretakers. Nature, 1997.
- Sidransky, D., Mikkelsen, T., Schwechheimer, K., Rosenblum, M. L., Cavenee, W. K., and Vogelstein, B. Clonal expansion of p53 mutant cells is associated with brain tumour progression. Nature, 355: 846-847, 1992.
- Ishii, N., Tada, M., Hamou, M. F., Janzer, R. C., Meagher-Villemure, K., Wiestler, O. D., Tribolet, N., and Van Meir, E. G. Cells with TP53 mutations in low grade astrocytic tumors evolve clonally to malignancy and are an unfavorable prognostic factor. Oncogene, *18*: 5870-5878, 1999.
- Bogler, O., Huang, H. J., and Cavenee, W. K. Loss of wild-type p53 bestows a growth advantage on primary cortical astrocytes and facilitates their in vitro transformation. Cancer Res., 55: 2746-2751, 1995.
- Yahanda, A. M., Bruner, J. M., Donehower, L. A., and Morrison, R. S. Astrocytes derived from p53-deficient mice provide a multistep in vitro model for development of malignant gliomas. Mol.Cell Biol., 15: 4249-4259, 1995.
- Van Meir, E. G., Roemer, K., Diserens, A. C., Kikuchi, T., Rempel, S. A., Haas, M., Huang, H. J., Friedmann, T., de Tribolet, N., and Cavenee, W. K. Single cell monitoring of growth arrest and morphological changes induced by transfer of wild-type p53 alleles to glioblastoma cells. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, *92*: 1008-1012, 1995.
- Mercer, W. E., Shields, M. T., Amin, M., Sauve, G. J., Appella, E., Romano, J. W., and Ullrich, S. J. Negative growth regulation in a glioblastoma tumor cell line that conditionally expresses human wild-type p53. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, 87: 6166-6170, 1990.
- 87. Prives, C. Signaling to p53: breaking the MDM2-p53 circuit. Cell, 95: 5-8, 1998.

- Barak, Y., Gottlieb, E., Juven Gershon, T., and Oren, M. Regulation of mdm2 expression by p53: alternative promoters produce transcripts with nonidentical translation potential. Genes Dev., 8: 1739-1749, 1994.
- 89. Zauberman, A., Flusberg, D., Haupt, Y., Barak, Y., and Oren, M. A functional p53responsive intronic promoter is contained within the human mdm2 gene. Nucleic Acids Res., 23: 2584-2592, 1995.
- Lev Bar-Or, R., Maya, R., Segel, L. A., Alon, U., Levine, A. J., and Oren, M. Generation of oscillations by the p53-Mdm2 feedback loop: a theoretical and experimental study. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, 97: 11250-11255, 2000.
- Reifenberger, G., Liu, L., Ichimura, K., Schmidt, E. E., and Collins, V. P. Amplification and overexpression of the MDM2 gene in a subset of human malignant gliomas without p53 mutations. Cancer Res., 53: 2736-2739, 1993.
- Biernat, W., Kleihues, P., Yonekawa, Y., and Ohgaki, H. Amplification and overexpression of MDM2 in primary (de novo) glioblastomas. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 56: 180-185, 1997.
- Korkolopoulou, P., Christodoulou, P., Kouzelis, K., Hadjiyannakis, M., Priftis, A., Stamoulis, G., Seretis, A., and Thomas-Tsagli, E. MDM2 and p53 expression in gliomas: a multivariate survival analysis including proliferation markers and epidermal growth factor receptor. Br.J.Cancer, 75: 1269-1278, 1997.
- Kamijo, T., Weber, J. D., Zambetti, G., Zindy, F., Roussel, M. F., and Sherr, C. J. Functional and physical interactions of the ARF tumor suppressor with p53 and Mdm2. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, *95*: 8292-8297, 1998.
- Pomerantz, J., Schreiber-Agus, N., Liegeois, N. J., Silverman, A., Alland, L., Chin, L., Potes, J., Chen, K., Orlow, I., Lee, H. W., Cordon-Cardo, C., and DePinho, R. A. The *Ink4a* tumor suppressor gene product, p19^{Art}, interacts with MDM2 and neutralizes MDM2's inhibition of p53. Cell, *92*: 713-723, 1998.
- Bates, S., Phillips, A. C., Clark, P. A., Stott, F., Peters, G., Ludwig, R. L., and Vousden, K. H. p14^{ARF} links the tumour suppressors RB and p53. Nature, *395*: 124-125, 1998.
- Zindy, F., Eischen, C. M., Randle, D. H., Kamijo, T., Cleveland, J. L., Sherr, C. J., and Roussel, M. F. Myc signaling via the ARF tumor suppressor regulates p53-dependent apoptosis and immortalization. Genes Dev., *12*: 2424-2433, 1998.
- McMahon, M. and Woods, D. Regulation of the p53 pathway by Ras, the plot thickens. Biochim.Biophys.Acta, 1471: M63-M71, 2001.
- Esteller, M., Tortola, S., Toyota, M., Capella, G., Peinado, M. A., Baylin, S. B., and Herman, J. G. Hypermethylation-associated inactivation of p14^{ARF} is independent of p16^{INK4a} methylation and p53 mutational status. Cancer Res., 60: 129-133, 2000.
- Sanchez-Cespedes, M., Reed, A. L., Buta, M., Wu, L., Westra, W. H., Herman, J. G., Yang, S. C., Jen, J., and Sidransky, D. Inactivation of the INK4A/ARF locus frequently coexists with TP53 mutations in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncogene, *18*: 5843-5849, 1999.
- Blattner, C., Sparks, A., and Lane, D. Transcription factor E2F-1 is upregulated in response to DNA damage in a manner analogous to that of p53. Mol.Cell Biol, *19*: 3704-3713, 1999.
- 102. Yarden, Y. and Ullrich, A. Growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases. Annu.Rev.Biochem., 57:443-78.: 443-478, 1988.
- 103. Libermann, T. A., Nusbaum, H. R., Razon, N., Kris, R., Lax, I., Soreq, H., Whittle, N., Waterfield, M. D., Ullrich, A., and Schlessinger, J. Amplification, enhanced expression, and

possible rearrangement of EGF receptor gene in primary brain tumors of glial origin. Nature, 313: 144-147, 1985.

- Wong, A. J., Bigner, S. H., Bigner, D. D., Kinzler, K. W., Hamilton, S. R., and Vogelstein, B. Increased expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in malignant gliomas is invariably associated with gene amplification. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, 84: 6899-6903, 1987.
- Ekstrand, A. J., James, C. D., Cavenee, W. K., Seliger, B., Pettersson, R. F., and Collins, V. P. Genes for epidermal growth factor receptor, transforming growth factor alpha, and epidermal growth factor and their expression in human gliomas in vivo. Cancer Res., *51*: 2164-2172, 1991.
- Hunter, S. B., Abbott, K., Varma, V. A., Olson, J. J., Barnett, D. W., and James, C. D. Reliability of differential PCR for the detection of EGFR and MDM2 gene amplification in DNA extracted from FFPE glioma tissue. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 54: 57-64, 1995.
- Tohma, Y., Gratas, C., Biernat, W., Peraud, A., Fukuda, M., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. PTEN (MMAC1) mutations are frequent in primary glioblastomas (de novo) but not in secondary glioblastomas. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 57: 684-689, 1998.
- Sugawa, N., Ekstrand, A. J., James, C. D., and Collins, V. P. Identical splicing of aberrant epidermal growth factor receptor transcripts from amplified rearranged genes in human glioblastomas. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, 87: 8602-8606, 1990.
- Ekstrand, A. J., Sugawa, N., James, C. D., and Collins, V. P. Amplified and rearranged epidermal growth factor receptor genes in human glioblastomas reveal deletions of sequences encoding portions of the N- and/or C-terminal tails. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, 89: 4309-4313, 1992.
- Ekstrand, A. J., Longo, N., Hamid, M. L., Olson, J. J., Liu, L., Collins, V. P., and James, C. D. Functional characterization of an EGF receptor with a truncated extracellular domain expressed in glioblastomas with EGFR gene amplification. Oncogene, *9*: 2313-2320, 1994.
- Holgado-Madruga, M., Emlet, D. R., Moscatello, D. K., Godwin, A. K., and Wong, A. J. A Grb2-associated docking protein in EGF- and insulin-receptor signalling. Nature, 379: 560-564, 1996.
- Nagane, M., Coufal, F., Lin, H., Bogler, O., Cavenee, W. K., and Huang, H. J. A common mutant epidermal growth factor receptor confers enhanced tumorigenicity on human glioblastoma cells by increasing proliferation and reducing apoptosis. Cancer Res., 56: 5079-5086, 1996.
- Richardson, W. D., Pringle, N., Mosley, M. J., Westermark, B., and Dubois Dalcq, M. A role for platelet-derived growth factor in normal gliogenesis in the central nervous system. Cell, 53: 309-319, 1988.
- Nister, M., Claesson-Welsh, L., Eriksson, A., Heldin, C. H., and Westermark, B. Differential expression of platelet-derived growth factor receptors in human malignant glioma cell lines. J.Biol.Chem., 266: 16755-16763, 1991.
- Hart, C. E., Forstrom, J. W., Kelly, J. D., Seifert, R. A., Smith, R. A., Ross, R., Murray, M. J., and Bowen-Pope, D. F. Two classes of PDGF receptor recognize different isoforms of PDGF. Science, 240: 1529-1531, 1988.
- LaRochelle, W. J., Jeffers, M., McDonald, W. F., Chillakuru, R. A., Giese, N. A., Lokker, N. A., Sullivan, C., Boldog, F. L., Yang, M., Vernet, C., Burgess, C. E., Fernandes, E., Deegler, L. L., Rittman, B., Shimkets, J., Shimkets, R. A., Rothberg, J. M., and Lichenstein, H. S. PDGF-D, a new protease-activated growth factor. Nat.Cell Biol., *3*: 517-521, 2001.

- 117. Li, X., Ponten, A., Aase, K., Karlsson, L., Abramsson, A., Uutela, M., Backstrom, G., Hellstrom, M., Bostrom, H., Li, H., Soriano, P., Betsholtz, C., Heldin, C. H., Alitalo, K., Ostman, A., and Eriksson, U. PDGF-C is a new protease-activated ligand for the PDGF alpha-receptor. Nat.Cell Biol, 2: 302-309, 2000.
- 118. Bergsten, E., Uutela, M., Li, X., Pietras, K., Ostman, A., Heldin, C. H., Alitalo, K., and Eriksson, U. PDGF-D is a specific, protease-activated ligand for the PDGF beta-receptor. Nat.Cell Biol., *3*: 512-516, 2001.
- 119. Kumabe, T., Sohma, Y., Kayama, T., Yoshimoto, T., and Yamamoto, T. Amplification of alpha-platelet-derived growth factor receptor gene lacking an exon coding for a portion of the extracellular region in a primary brain tumor of glial origin. Oncogene, *7*: 627-633, 1992.
- Westermark, B., Heldin, C. H., and Nister, M. Platelet-derived growth factor in human glioma. Glia, 15: 257-263, 1995.
- 121. Perucho, M. Cancer of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. Biol.Chem., 377: 675-684, 1996.
- Kinzler, K. W. and Vogelstein, B. Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell, 87: 159-170, 1996.
- 123. Lengauer, C., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature, 396: 643-649, 1998.
- Zhu, J., Guy, S. Z., Beggs, A. H., Maruyama, T., Santarius, T., Dashner, K., Olsen, N., Wu, J. K., and Black, P. Microsatellite instability analysis of primary human brain tumors. Oncogene, *12*: 1417-1423, 1996.
- 125. von Deimling, A., Fimmers, R., Schmidt, M. C., Bender, B., Fassbender, F., Nagel, J., Jahnke, R., Kaskel, P., Duerr, E. M., Koopmann, J., Maintz, D., Steinbeck, S., Wick, W., Platten, M., M Iler, D. J., Przkora, R., Waha, A., Bl mcke, B., Wellenreuther, R., Meyer-Puttlitz, B., Schmidt, O., Mollenhauer, J., Poustka, A., Stangl, A. P., Lenartz, D., and von Ammon, K. Comprehensive allelotype and genetic anaysis of 466 human nervous system tumors. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., *59*: 544-558, 2000.
- 126. Orr-Weaver, T. L. and Weinberg, R. A. A checkpoint on the road to cancer. Nature, 392: 223-224, 1998.
- Campomenosi, P., Ottaggio, L., Moro, F., Urbini, S., Bogliolo, M., Zunino, A., Camoriano, A., Inga, A., Gentile, S. L., Pellegata, N. S., Bonassi, S., Bruzzone, E., Iannone, R., Pisani, R., Menichini, P., Ranzani, G. N., Bonatti, S., Abbondandolo, A., and Fronza, G. Study on aneuploidy and p53 mutations in astrocytomas. Cancer Genet.Cytogenet., 88 : 95-102, 1996.
- Ganju, V., Jenkins, R. B., O'Fallon, J. R., Scheithauer, B. W., Ransom, D. T., Katzmann, J. A., and Kimmel, D. W. Prognostic factors in gliomas. A multivariate analysis of clinical, pathologic, flow cytometric, cytogenetic, and molecular markers. Cancer, 74: 920-927, 1994.
- 129. Heim, S. and Mitelman, F. Cancer cytogenetics, 2nd ed.New York: Wiley Liss Inc., 1995.
- 130. Sen, S. Aneuploidy and cancer. Curr.Opin.Oncol., 12: 82-88, 2000.
- 131. Murray, A. W. The genetics of cell cycle checkpoints. Curr.Opin.Genet.Dev., 5: 5-11, 1995.
- 132. Nasmyth, K. At the heart of the budding yeast cell cycle. Trends Genet., 12: 405-412, 1996.
- 133. Paulovich, A. G., Toczyski, D. P., and Hartwell, L. H. When checkpoints fail. Cell, 88: 315-321, 1997.

- Li, R. and Murray, A. W. Feedback control of mitosis in budding yeast. Cell, 66: 519-531, 1991.
- Hoyt, M. A., Totis, L., and Roberts, B. T. S. cerevisiae genes required for cell cycle arrest in response to loss of microtubule function. Cell, 66: 507-517, 1991.
- Weiss, E. and Winey, M. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae spindle pole body duplication gene MPS1 is part of a mitotic checkpoint. J.Cell Biol., 132: 111-123, 1996.
- Cahill, D. P., Lengauer, C., Yu, J., Riggins, G. J., Willson, J. K., Markowitz, S. D., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. Mutations of mitotic checkpoint genes in human cancers. Nature, 392 : 300-303, 1998.
- Kwon, T. K., Hawkins, A. L., Griffin, C. A., and Gabrielson, E. Assignment of BUB3 to human chromosome band 10q26 by in situ hybridization. Cytogenet.Cell Genet., 88: 202-203, 2000.
- Cahill, D. P., da Costa, L. T., Carson-Walter, E. B., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., and Lengauer, C. Characterization of MAD2B and other mitotic spindle checkpoint genes. Genomics, 58: 181-187, 1999.
- 140. Jin, D. Y., Spencer, F., and Jeang, K. T. Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 oncoprotein Tax targets the human mitotic checkpoint protein MAD1. Cell, *93*: 81-91, 1998.
- Basu, J., Bousbaa, H., Logarinho, E., Li, Z., Williams, B. C., Lopes, C., Sunkel, C. E., and Goldberg, M. L. Mutations in the essential spindle checkpoint gene bub1 cause chromosome missegregation and fail to block apoptosis in Drosophila. J.Cell Biol., 146: 13-28, 1999.
- Taylor, S. S. and McKeon, F. Kinetochore localization of murine Bub1 is required for normal mitotic timing and checkpoint response to spindle damage. Cell, 89: 727-735, 1997.
- Kalitsis, P., Earle, E., Fowler, K. J., and Choo, K. H. Bub3 gene disruption in mice reveals essential mitotic spindle checkpoint function during early embryogenesis. Genes Dev., 14: 2277-2282, 2000.
- Fults, D., Pedone, C. A., Thompson, G. E., Uchiyama, C. M., Gumpper, K. L., Iliev, D., Vinson, V. L., Tavtigian, S. V., and Perry III, W. L. Microsatellite deletion mapping on chromosome 10q and mutation analysis of MMAC1, FAS, and MXI1 in human glioblastoma multiforme. Int.J.Oncol., *12*: 905-910, 1998.
- 145. Ichimura, K., Schmidt, E. E., Miyakawa, A., Goike, H. M., and Collins, V. P. Distinct patterns of deletion on 10p and 10q suggest involvement of multiple tumor suppressor genes in the development of astrocytic gliomas of different malignancy grades. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, 22: 9-15, 1998.
- Karlbom, A. E., James, C. D., Boethius, J., Cavenee, W. K., Collins, V. P., Nordenskjold, M., and Larsson, C. Loss of heterozygosity in malignant gliomas involves at least three distinct regions on chromosome 10. Hum.Genet., *92*: 169-174, 1993.
- Albarosa, R., Colombo, B. M., Roz, L., Magnani, I., Pollo, B., Cirenei, N., Giani, C., Conti, A. M. F., DiDonato, S., and Finocchiaro, G. Deletion mapping of gliomas suggests the presence of two small regions for candidate tumor-suppressor genes in a 17-cM interval on chromosome 10q. Am.J.Hum.Genet., *58*: 1260-1267, 1996.
- Voesten, A. M. J., Bijleveld, E. H., Westerveld, A., and Hulsebos, T. J. M. Fine mapping of a region of common deletion on chromosome arm 10p in human glioma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, 20: 167-172, 1997.

- Sonoda, Y., Murakami, Y., Tominaga, T., Kayama, T., Yoshimoto, T., and Sekiya, T. Deletion mapping of chromosome 10 in human glioma. Jpn.J.Cancer Res., 87: 363-367, 1996.
- Maier, D., Comparone, D., Taylor, E., Zhang, Z., Gratzl, O., Van Meir, E. G., Scott, R. J., and Merlo, A. New deletion in low-grade oligodendroglioma at the glioblastoma suppressor locus on chromosome 10q25-26. Oncogene, 15: 997-1000, 1997.
- 151. Fujisawa, H., Kurrer, M., Reis, R. M., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Acquisition of the glioblastoma phenotype during astrocytoma progression is associated with LOH on chromosome 10q25-qter. Am.J.Pathol., 155: 387-394, 1999.
- 152. Li, J., Yen, C., Liaw, D., Podsypanina, K., Bose, S., Wang, S. I., Puc, J., Miliaresis, C., Rodgers, L., McCombie, R., Bigner, S. H., Giovanella, B. C., Ittmann, M., Tycko, B., Hibshoosh, H., Wigler, M. H., and Parsons, R. PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. Science, 275: 1943-1947, 1997.
- Steck, P. A., Pershouse, M. A., Jasser, S. A., Yung, W. K., Lin, H., Ligon, A. H., Langford, L. A., Baumgard, M. L., Hattier, T., Davis, T., Frye, C., Hu, R., Swedlund, B., Teng, D. H. F., and Tavtigian, S. V. Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, MMAC1, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. Nat.Genet., *15*: 356-362, 1997.
- Li, D. M. and Sun, H. TEP1, encoded by a candidate tumor suppressor locus, is a novel protein tyrosine phosphatase regulated by transforming growth factor beta. Cancer Res., 57: 2124-2129, 1997.
- 155. Myers, M. P. and Tonks, N. K. PTEN: sometimes taking it off can be better than putting it on. Am.J.Hum.Genet., 61: 1234-1238, 1997.
- Tamura, M., Gu, J., Matsumoto, K., Aota, S., Parsons, R., and Yamada, K. M. Inhibition of cell migration, spreading, and focal adhesions by tumor suppressor PTEN. Science, 280: 1614-1617, 1998.
- 157. Weng, L. P., Brown, J. L., and Eng, C. PTEN coordinates G₁ arrest by down-regulating cyclin D1 via its protein phosphatase activity and up-regulating p27 via its lipid phosphatase activity in a breast cancer model. Hum.Mol.Genet., *10*: 599-604, 2001.
- Maehama, T. and Dixon, J. E. The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. J.Biol.Chem., 273: 13375-13378, 1998.
- 159. Stambolic, V., Suzuki, A., de la Pompa, J. L., Brothers, G. M., Mirtsos, C., Sasaki, T., Ruland, J., Penninger, J. M., Siderovski, D. P., and Mak, T. W. Negative regulation of PKB/Akt-dependent cell survival by the tumor suppressor PTEN. Cell, *95*: 29-39, 1998.
- Lee, J. O., Yang, H., Georgescu, M. M., Di Cristofano, A., Maehama, T., Shi, Y., Dixon, J. E., Pandolfi, P., and Pavletich, N. P. Crystal structure of the PTEN tumor suppressor: implications for its phosphoinositide phosphatase activity and membrane association. Cell, 99: 323-334, 1999.
- 161. Downward, J. Mechanisms and consequences of activation of protein kinase B/Akt. Curr.Opin.Cell Biol., 10: 262-267, 1998.
- Carpenter, C. L. and Cantley, L. C. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase and the regulation of cell growth. Biochim.Biophys.Acta, 1288: M11-M16, 1996.
- Weng, L. P., Smith, W. M., Dahia, P. L., Ziebold, U., Gil, E., Lees, J. A., and Eng, C. PTEN suppresses breast cancer cell growth by phosphatase activity-dependent G1 arrest followed by cell death. Cancer Res., *59*: 5808-5814, 1999.

- Paramio, J. M., Navarro, M., Segrelles, C., Gomez-Casero, E., and Jorcano, J. L. PTEN tumour suppressor is linked to the cell cycle control through the retinoblastoma protein. Oncogene, 18: 7462-7468, 1999.
- Furnari, F. B., Su Huang, H. J., and Cavenee, W. K. The Phosphoinositol Phosphatase Activity of PTEN Mediates a Serum-sensitive G₁ Growth Arrest in Glioma Cells. Cancer Res., 58: 5002-5008, 1998.
- Gottschalk, A. R., Basila, D., Wong, M., Dean, N. M., Brandts, C. H., Stokoe, D., and Haas-Kogan, D. A. p27^{kip1} is required for PTEN-induced G₁ growth arrest. Cancer Res., *61*: 2105-2111, 2001.
- Wen, S., Stolarov, J., Myers, M. P., Su, J. D., Wigler, M. H., Tonks, N. K., and Durden, D. L. PTEN controls tumor-induced angiogenesis. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, 98: 4622-4627, 2001.
- Zundel, W., Schindler, C., Haas-Kogan, D., Koong, A., Kaper, F., Chen, E., Gottschalk, A. R., Ryan, H. E., Johnson, R. S., Jefferson, A. B., Stokoe, D., and Giaccia, A. J. Loss of PTEN facilitates HIF-1-mediated gene expression. Genes Dev., *14*: 391-396, 2000.
- 169. Eng, C. and Peacocke, M. PTEN and inherited hamartoma-cancer syndromes. Nat.Genet., 19: 223, 1998.
- Liaw, D., Marsh, D. J., Li, J., Dahia, P. L. M., Wang, S. I., Zheng, Z., Bose, S., Call, K. M., Tsou, H. C., Peacocke, M., Eng, C., and Parsons, R. Germline mutations of the *PTEN* gene in Cowden disease, an inherited breast and thyroid cancer syndrome. Nat.Genet., *16*: 64-67, 1997.
- 171. Marsh, D. J., Dahia, P. L. M., Zheng, Z., Liaw, D., Parsons, R., Gorlin, R. J., and Eng, C. Germline mutations in PTEN are present in Bannayan-Zonana syndrome. Nature Genet., 16: 333-334, 1997.
- 172. Marsh, D. J., Kum, J. B., Lunetta, K. L., Bennett, M. J., Gorlin, R. J., Ahmed, S. F., Bodurtha, J., Crowe, C., Curtis, M. A., Dasouki, M., Dunn, T., Feit, H., Geraghty, M. T., Graham, J. M., Hodgson, S. V., Hunter, A., Korf, B. R., Manchester, D., Miesfeldt, S., Murday, V. A., Nathanson, K. L., Parisi, M., Pober, B., Romano, C., Eng, C., and . PTEN mutation spectrum and genotype-phenotype correlations in Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba ,syndrome suggest a single entity with Cowden syndrome. Hum.Mol.Genet., 8: 1461-1472, 1999.
- 173. Sutphen, R., Diamond, T. M., Minton, S. E., Peacocke, M., Tsou, H. C., and Root, A. W. Severe Lhermitte-Duclos disease with unique germline mutation of PTEN. Am.J.Med.Genet., 82: 290-293, 1999.
- 174. Zhou, X. P., Marsh, D. J., Hampel, H., Mulliken, J. B., Gimm, O., and Eng, C. Germline and germline mosaic PTEN mutations associated with a Proteus-like syndrome of hemihypertrophy, lower limb asymmetry, arteriovenous malformations and lipomatosis. Hum.Mol.Genet., 9: 765-768, 2000.
- 175. Ali, I. U., Schriml, L. M., and Dean, M. Mutational spectra of PTEN/MMAC1 gene: a tumor suppressor with lipid phosphatase activity. J.Natl.Cancer Inst., *91*: 1922-1932, 1999.
- Rasheed, B. K., Stenzel, T. T., McLendon, R. E., Parsons, R., Friedman, A. H., Friedman, H. S., Bigner, D. D., and Bigner, S. H. PTEN gene mutations are seen in high-grade but not in low-grade gliomas. Cancer Res., *57*: 4187-4190, 1997.
- 177. Salvesen, H. B., MacDonald, N., Ryan, A., Jacobs, I. J., Lynch, E. D., Akslen, L. A., and Das, S. PTEN methylation is associated with advanced stage and microsatellite instability in endometrial carcinoma. Int.J.Cancer, *91*: 22-26, 2001.
- 178. Mollenhauer, J., Wiemann, S., Scheurlen, W., Korn, B., Hayashi, Y., Wilgenbus, K. K., von Deimling, A., and Poustka, A. DMBT1, a new member of the SRCR superfamily, on

chromosome 10q25.3-26.1 is deleted in malignant brain tumours. Nat.Genet., 17: 32-39, 1997.

- Somerville, R. P. T., Shoshan, Y., Eng, C., Barnett, G., Miller, D., and Cowell, J. K. Molecular analysis of two putative tumour suppressor genes, PTEN and DMBT, which have been implicated in glioblastoma multiforme disease progression. Oncogene, *17*: 1755-1757, 1998.
- Saxeria, A., Shriml, L. M., Dean, M., and Ali, I. U. Comparative molecular genetic profiles of anaplastic astrocytomas/glioblastomas multiforme and their subsequent recurrences. Oncogene, 18: 1385-1390, 1999.
- Lin, H., Bondy, M. L., Langford, L. A., Hess, K. R., Delclos, G. L., Wu, X., Chan, W., Pershouse, M. A., Yung, W. K., and Steck, P. A. Allelic deletion analyses of MMAC/PTEN and DMBT loci in gliomas: relationship to prognostic significance. Clin.Cancer Res., 4: 2447-2454, 1998.
- Steck, P. A., Lin, H., Langford, L. A., Jasser, S. A., Koul, D., Yung, W. K., and Pershouse, M. A. Functional and molecular analyses of 10q deletions in human gliomas. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, 24: 135-143, 1999.
- Wechsler, D. S., Shelly, C. A., Petroff, C. A., and Dang, C. V. MXI1, a putative tumor suppressor gene, suppresses growth of human glioblastoma cells. Cancer Res., 57: 4905-4912, 1997.
- Zervos, A. S., Gyuris, J., and Brent, J. Mxi1, a protein that specifically interacts with Max to bind Myc-Max recognition sites. Cell, 72: 223-232, 1993.
- Chernova, O. B., Somerville, R. P. T., and Cowell, J. K. A novel gene, LGI1, from 10q24 is rearranged and downregulated in malignant brain tumors. Oncogene, *17*: 2873-2881, 1998.
- Moschonas, N. K., Spurr, N. K., and Mao, J. Report of the first international workshop on human chromosome 10 mapping 1995. Cytogenet.Cell Genet., 72: 99-112, 1996.
- Nakamura, H., Yoshida, M., Tsuiki, H., Ito, K., Ueno, M., Nakao, M., Oka, K., Tada, M., Kochi, M., Kuratsu, J., Ushio, Y., and Saya, H. Identification of a human homolog of the Drosophila neuralized gene within the 10q25.1 malignant astrocytoma deletion region. Oncogene, 16: 1009-1019, 1998.
- Nakamura, M., Yang, F., Fujisawa, H., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 19 in secondary glioblastomas. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 59: 539-543, 2000.
- 189. Smith, J. S., Alderete, B., Minn, Y., Borell, T. J., Perry, A., Mohapatra, G., Hosek, S. M., Kimmel, D., O'Fallon, J., Yates, A., Feuerstein, B. G., Burger, P. C., Scheithauer, B. W., and Jenkins, R. B. Localization of common deletion regions on 1p and 19q in human gliomas and their association with histological subtype. Oncogene, *18*: 4144-4152, 1999.
- Bello, M. J., Vaquero, J., de Campos, J. M., Kusak, M. E., Sarasa, J. L., Saez Castresana, J., Pestana, A., and Rey, J. A. Molecular analysis of chromosome 1 abnormalities in human gliomas reveals frequent loss of 1p in oligodendroglial tumors. Int.J.Cancer, *57*: 172-175, 1994.
- Bello, M. J., Leone, P. E., Vaquero, J., de Campos, J. M., Kusak, M. E., Sarasa, J. L., Pestana, A., and Rey, J. A. Allelic loss at 1p and 19q frequently occurs in association and may represent early oncogenic events in oligodendroglial tumors. Int.J.Cancer, 64: 207-210, 1995.
- Cairncross, J. G., Ueki, K., Zlatescu, M. C., Lisle, D. K., Finkelstein, D. M., Hammond, R. R., Silver, J. S., Stark, P. C., Macdonald, D. R., Ino, Y., Ramsay, D. A., and Louis, D. N.

Specific genetic predictors of chemotherapeutic response and survival in patients with anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. J.Natl.Cancer Inst., *90*: 1473-1479, 1998.

- 193. Ahomadegbe, J. C., Tourpin, S., Kaghad, M., Zelek, L., Vayssade, M., Mathieu, M. C., Rochard, F., Spielmann, M., Tursz, T., Caput, D., Riou, G., and B,nard, J. Loss of heterozygosity, allele silencing and decreased expression of p73 gene in breast cancers: Prevalence of alterations in inflammatory breast cancers. Oncogene, 19: 5413-5418, 2000.
- 194. Lapointe, J., Lachance, Y., Labrie, Y., and Labrie, C. A p18 mutant defective in CDK6 binding in human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res., *56*: 4586-4589, 1996.
- 195. Sonoda, Y., Iizuka, M., Yasuda, J., Makino, R., Ono, T., Kayama, T., Yoshimoto, T., and Sekiya, T. Loss of heterozygosity at 11p15 in malignant glioma. Cancer Res., *55*: 2166-2168, 1995.
- Schiebe, M., Ohneseit, P., Hoffmann, W., Meyermann, R., Rodemann, H. P., and Bamberg, M. Loss of heterozygosity at 11p15 and p53 alterations in malignant gliomas. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol., *127*: 325-328, 2001.
- 197. Fults, D., Petronio, J., Noblett, B. D., and Pedone, C. A. Chromosome 11p15 deletions in human malignant astrocytomas and primitive neuroectodermal tumors. Genomics, 14: 799-801, 1992.
- Ransom, D. T., Ritland, S. R., Moertel, C. A., Dahl, R. J., O'Fallon, J. R., Scheithauer, B. W., Kimmel, D. W., Kelly, P. J., Olopade, O. I., and Diaz, M. O. Correlation of cytogenetic analysis and loss of heterozygosity studies in human diffuse astrocytomas and mixed oligoastrocytomas. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, *5*: 357-374, 1992.
- von Deimling, A., Louis, D. N., von Ammon, K., Petersen, I., Wiestler, O. D., and Seizinger, B. R. Evidence for a tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 19q associated with human astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas, and mixed gliomas. Cancer Res., *52*: 4277-4279, 1992.
- James, C. D., Carlbom, E., Dumanski, J. P., Hausen, M., Nordenskjold, M. D., Collins, V. P., and Cavenee, W. K. Clonal genomic alterations in glioma malignancy stages. Cancer Res., 48: 5546-5551, 1988.
- Rey, J. A., Bello, M. J., Jimenez Lara, A. M., Vaquero, J., Kusak, M. E., de Campos, J. M., Sarasa, J. L., and Pestana, A. Loss of heterozygosity for distal markers on 22q in human gliomas. Int.J.Cancer, *51*: 703-706, 1992.
- Hoang-Xuan, K., Merel, P., Vega, F., Hugot, J. P., Cornu, P., Delattre, J. Y., Poisson, M., Thomas, G., and Delattre, O. Analysis of the NF2 tumor-suppressor gene and chromosome 22 deletions in gliomas. Int.J.Cancer, *60*: 478-481, 1995.
- Oskam, N. T., Bijleveld, E. H., and Hulsebos, T. J. A region of common deletion in 22q13.3 in human glioma associated with astrocytoma progression. Int.J.Cancer, 85: 336-339, 2000.
- Ino, Y., Silver, J. S., Blazejewski, L., Nishikawa, R., Matsutani, M., von Deimling, A., and Louis, D. N. Common regions of deletion on chromosome 22q12.3-q13.1 and 22q13.2 in human astrocytomas appear related to malignancy grade. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 58: 881-885, 1999.
- Goussia, A. C., Agnantis, N. J., Rao, J. S., and Kyritsis, A. P. Cytogenetic and molecular abnormalities in astrocytic gliomas (Review). Oncol.Rep., 7: 401-412, 2000.
- Sallinen, S. L., Sallinen, P. K., Haapasalo, H. K., Helin, H. J., Helen, P. T., Schraml, P., Kallioniemi, O. P., and Kononen, J. Identification of differentially expressed genes in human gliomas by DNA microarray and tissue chip techniques. Cancer Res., 60: 6617-6622, 2000.

- Huang, H., Colella, S., Kurrer, M., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Gene expression profiling of low-grade diffuse astrocytomas by cDNA arrays. Cancer Res., 60: 6868-6874, 2000.
- 208. Costello, J. F., Plass, C., and Cavenee, W. K. Aberrant methylation of genes in low-grade astrocytomas. Brain Tumor Pathol., *17*: 49-56, 2000.
- Okada, Y., Okada, T., Numata, M., Hayashi, Y., Yamashima, T., and Yamashita, J. Increased expression of deoxyribonucleic acid methyltransferase gene in human astrocytic tumors. Neurol.Med.Chir., 40: 564-570, 2000.
- Cheng, Y., Ng, H. K., Ding, M., Zhang, S. F., Pang, J. C., and Lo, K. W. Molecular analysis of microdissected de novo glioblastomas and paired astrocytic tumors. J.Neuropathol.Clin.Neurol., 58: 120-128, 1999.
- Collins, V. P. and James, C. D. Gene and chromosomal alterations associated with the development of human gliomas. FASEB J., 7: 926-930, 1993.
- Collins, V. P. Progression as exemplified by human astrocytic tumors. Semin.Cancer Biol., 9: 267-276, 1999.
- Rempel, S. A. Molecular biology of central nervous system tumors. Curr.Opin.Oncol., 10: 179-185, 1998.
- van Meyel, D. J., Ramsay, D. A., Casson, A. G., Keeney, M., Chambers, A. F., and Caimcross, J. G. p53 mutation, expression, and DNA ploidy in evolving gliomas: evidence for two pathways of progression. J.Natl.Cancer Inst., 86: 1011-1017, 1994.
- 215. Collins, V. P. Gliomas. Cancer Surv., 32: 37-51, 1998.
- Hulsebos, T. J., Oskam, N. T., Troost, D., Leenstra, S., and Bijleveld, E. H. Dynamics of genetic alterations associated with glioma recurrence. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, 23: 153-158, 1998.
- Shuangshoti, S., Navalitloha, Y., Kasantikul, V., Shuangshoti, S., and Mutirangura, A. Genetic heterogeneity and progression in different areas within high-grade diffuse astrocytoma. Oncol Rep., 7: 113-117, 2000.
- von Deimling, A., von Ammon, K., Schoenfeld, D., Wiestler, O. D., Seizinger, B. R., and Louis, D. N. Subsets of glioblastoma multiforme defined by molecular genetic analysis. Brain Pathol., *3*: 19-26, 1993.
- Meyer-Puttlitz, B., Hayashi, Y., Waha, A., Rollbrocker, B., Bostrom, J., Wiestler, O. D., Louis, D. N., Reifenberger, G., and von Deimling, A. Molecular genetic analysis of giant cell glioblastomas. Am.J.Pathol., 151: 853-857, 1997.
- Jenkins, R. B., Kimmel, D. W., Moertel, C. A., Schultz, C. G., Scheithauer, B. W., Kelly, P. J., and Dewald, G. W. A cytogenetic study of 53 human gliomas. Cancer Genet.Cytogenet., 39: 253-279, 1989.
- Bigner, S. H., Mark, J., and Bigner, D. D. Cytogenetics of human brain tumors. Cancer Genet.Cytogenet., 47: 141-154, 1990.
- 222. Nieder, C., Petersen, S., Petersen, C., and Thames, H. D. The challenge of p53 as prognostic and predictive factor in gliomas. Cancer Treat.Rev., *26*: 67-73, 2000.
- Nozaki, M., Tada, M., Kobayashi, H., Zhang, C. L., Sawamura, Y., Abe, H., Ishii, N., and Van Meir, E. G. Roles of the functional loss of p53 and other genes in astrocytoma tumorigenesis and progression. Neuro-Oncology, 1: 124-137, 1999.

- Weber, R. G., Sabel, M., Reifenberger, J., Sommer, C., Oberstrasse, J., Reifenberger, G., Kiessling, M., and Cremer, T. Characterization of genomic alterations associated with glioma progression by comparative genomic hybridization. Oncogene, 13: 983-994, 1996.
- Kraus, J. A., Bolln, C., Wolf, H. K., Neumann, J., Kindermann, D., Fimmers, R., Forster, F., Baumann, A., and Schlegel, U. TP53 alterations and clinical outcome in low grade astrocytomas. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, *10*: 143-149, 1994.
- Rasheed, B. K., McLendon, R. E., Herndon, J. E., Friedman, H. S., Friedman, A. H., Bigner, D. D., and Bigner, S. H. Alterations of the TP53 gene in human gliomas. Cancer Res., 54: 1324-1330, 1994.
- Cho, Y., Gorina, S., Jeffrey, P. D., and Pavletich, N. P. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. Science, 265: 346-355, 1994.
- Hermanson, M., Funa, K., Koopmann, J., Maintz, D., Waha, A., Westermark, B., Heldin, C. H., Wiestler, O. D., Louis, D. N., von Deimling, A., and Nister, M. Association of loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 17p with high platelet-derived growth factor alpha receptor expression in human malignant gliomas. Cancer Res., 56: 164-171, 1996.
- McLendon, R. E., Enterline, D. S., Tien, R. D., Thorstad, W. L., and Bruner, J. M. Tumors of central neuroepithelial origin. *In* D. D. Bigner, R. E. McLendon, and J. M. Bruner (eds.), Russell and Rubinstein's Pathology of Tumors of the Nervous System, 6th ed, pp. 307-571. London Sydney Auckland: Arnold, 1998.
- 230. Kosel, S., Scheithauer, B. W., and Graeber, M. B. Genotype-phenotype correlation in gemistocytic astrocytomas. Neurosurgery, *48*: 187-193, 2001.
- Hockel, M. and Vaupel, P. Biological consequences of tumor hypoxia. Semin.Oncol., 28: 36-41, 2001.
- 232. Le, Y. J. and Corry, P. M. Hypoxia-induced bFGF gene expression is mediated through the JNK signal transduction pathway. Mol.Cell Biochem., *202*: 1-8, 1999.
- Paulus, W., Grothe, C., Sensenbrenner, M., Janet, T., Baur, I., Graf, M., and Roggendorf, W. Localization of basic fibroblast growth factor, a mitogen and angiogenic factor, in human brain tumors. Acta Neuropathol., *79*: 418-423, 1990.
- Stefanik, D. F., Rizkalla, L. R., Soi, A., Goldblatt, S. A., and Rizkalla, W. M. Acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors are present in glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Res., *51*: 5760-5765, 1991.
- Graeber, T. G., Osmanian, C., Jacks, T., Housman, D. E., Koch, C. J., Lowe, S. W., and Giaccia, A. J. Hypoxia-mediated selection of cells with diminished apoptotic potential in solid tumours. Nature, *379*: 88-91, 1996.
- 236. Plate, K. H., Breier, G., and Risau, W. Molecular mechanisms of developmental and tumor angiogenesis. Brain Pathol., *4*: 207-218, 1994.
- 237. Kinzler, K. W. and Vogelstein, B. Life (and death) in a malignant tumour. Nature, 379: 19-20, 1996.
- Liang, X. H., Mungal, S., Ayscue, A., Meissner, J. D., Wodnicki, P., Hockenbery, D., Lockett, S., and Herman, B. Bcl-2 protooncogene expression in cervical carcinoma cell lines containing inactive p53. J.Cell Biochem., *57*: 509-521, 1995.
- 239. Kros, J. M., Waarsenburg, N., Hayes, D. P., Hop, W. C., and van Dekken, H. Cytogenetic analysis of gemistocytic cells in gliomas. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., *59*: 679-686, 2000.

- Rasheed, B. K., McLendon, R. E., Friedman, H. S., Friedman, A. H., Fuchs, H. E., Bigner, D. D., and Bigner, S. H. Chromosome 10 deletion mapping in human gliomas: a common deletion region in 10q25. Oncogene, *10*: 2243-2246, 1995.
- Lang, F. F., Miller, D. C., Koslow, M., and Newcomb, E. W. Pathways leading to glioblastoma multiforme: a molecular analysis of genetic alterations in 65 astrocytic tumors. J.Neurosurg., 81: 427-436, 1994.
- Leenstra, S., Oskam, N. T., Bijleveld, E. H., Bosch, D. A., Troost, D., and Hulsebos, T. J. M. Genetic sub-types of human malignant astrocytoma correlate with survival. Int.J.Cancer, 79: 159-165, 1998.
- 243. von Deimling, A., Louis, D. N., von Ammon, K., Petersen, I., Hoell, T., Chung, R. Y., Martuza, R. L., Schoenfeld, D. A., Yasargil, M. G., Wiestler, O. D., and Seizinger, B. R. Association of epidermal growth factor receptor gene amplification with loss of chromosome 10 in human glioblastoma multiforme. J.Neurosurg., 77: 295-301, 1992.
- Olesen, S. H., Thykjaer, T., and Orntoft, T. F. Mitotic checkpoint genes hBUB1, hBUB1B, hBUB3 and TTK in human bladder cancer, screening for mutations and loss of heterozygosity. Carcinogenesis, 22: 813-815, 2001.
- Myrie, K. A., Percy, M. J., Azim, J. N., Neeley, C. K., and Petty, E. M. Mutation and expression analysis of human BUB1 and BUB1B in aneuploid breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Lett., 152: 193-199, 2000.
- Sato, M., Sekido, Y., Horio, Y., Takahashi, M., Saito, H., Minna, J. D., Shimokata, K., and Hasegawa, Y. Infrequent Mutation of the hBUB1 and hBUBR1 Genes in Human Lung Cancer. Jpn.J.Cancer Res., *91*: 504-509, 2000.
- 247. Haruki, N., Saito, H., Harano, T., Nomoto, S., Takahashi, T., Osada, H., Fujii, Y., and Takahashi, T. Molecular analysis of the mitotic checkpoint genes BUB1, BUBR1 and BUB3 in human lung cancers. Cancer Lett., *162*: 201-205, 2001.
- 248. Katagiri, T., Futamura, M., and Nakamura, Y. A Gln/Arg polymorphism at codon 349 of the hBUBR1 gene. J.Hum.Genet., 44: 131-132, 1999.
- 249. Kozak, M. Point mutations define a sequence flanking the AUG initiator codon that modulates translation by eukaryotic ribosomes. Cell, 44: 283-292, 1986.
- Imai, Y., Shiratori, Y., Kato, N., Inoue, T., and Omata, M. Mutational inactivation of mitotic checkpoint genes, hsMAD2 and hBUB1, is rare in sporadic digestive tract cancers. Jpn.J.Cancer Res., 90: 837-840, 1999.
- Hernando, E., Orlow, I., Liberal, V., Nohales, G., Benezra, R., and Cordon-Cardo, C. Molecular analyses of the mitotic checkpoint components hsMAD2, hBUB1 and hBUB3 in human cancer. Int.J.Cancer, 20: 223-227, 2001.
- Nomoto, S., Haruki, N., Takahashi, T., Masuda, A., Koshikawa, T., Takahashi, T., Fujii, Y., Osada, H., and Takahashi, T. Search for in vivo somatic mutations in the mitotic checkpoint gene, hMAD1, in human lung cancers. Oncogene, *18*: 7180-7183, 1999.
- 253. Takahashi, T., Haruki, N., Nomoto, S., Masuda, A., Saji, S., Osada, H., and Takahashi, T. Identification of frequent impairment of the mitotic checkpoint and molecular analysis of the mitotic checkpoint genes, hsMAD2 and p55CDC, in human lung cancers. Oncogene, 18: 4295-4300, 1999.
- Tsukasaki, K., Miller, C. W., Greenspun, E., Eshaghian, S., Kawabata, H., Fujimoto, T., Tomonaga, M., Sawyers, C., Said, J. W., and Koeffler, H. P. Mutations in the mitotic check point gene, MAD1L1, in human cancers. Oncogene, *20*: 3301-3305, 2001.

- Shigeishi, H., Yokozaki, H., Kuniyasu, H., Nakagawa, H., Ishikawa, T., Tahara, E., and Yasui, W. No mutations of the Bub1 gene in human gastric carcinomas. Oncol.Rep., 8: 791-794, 2001.
- 256. Gemma, A., Seike, M., Seike, Y., Uematsu, K., Hibino, S., Kurimoto, F., Yoshimura, A., Shibuya, M., Harris, C. C., and Kudoh, S. Somatic mutation of the hBUB1 mitotic checkpoint gene in primary lung cancer. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, 29: 213-218, 2000.
- Yamaguchi, K., Okami, K., Hibi, K., Wehage, S. L., Jen, J., and Sidransky, D. Mutation analysis of hBUB1 in aneuploid HNSCC and lung cancer cell lines. Cancer Lett., *139*: 183-187, 1999.
- Ohshima, K., Haraoka, S., Yoshioka, S., Hamasaki, M., Fujiki, T., Suzumiya, J., Kawasaki, C., Kanda, M., and Kikuchi, M. Mutation analysis of mitotic checkpoint genes (hBUB1 and hBUBR1) and microsatellite instability in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. Cancer Lett., *158*: 141-150, 2000.
- Jaffrey, R. G., Pritchard, S. C., Clark, C., Murray, G. I., Cassidy, J., Kerr, K. M., Nicolson, M. C., and McLeod, H. L. Genomic instability at the BUB1 locus in colorectal cancer, but not in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res., 60: 4349-4352, 2000.
- 260. Forsyth, P. A. and Roa, W. H. Primary Central Nervous System Tumors in Adults. Curr.Treat.Options Neurol., 1: 377-394, 1999.
- Ino, Y., Zlatescu, M. C., Sasaki, H., Macdonald, D. R., Stemmer-Rachamimov, A. O., Jhung, S., Ramsay, D. A., von Deimling, A., Louis, D. N., and Cairncross, J. G. Long survival and therapeutic responses in patients with histologically disparate high-grade gliomas demonstrating chromosome 1p loss. J.Neurosurg., *92*: 983-990, 2000.
- Morita, M., Rosenblum, M. K., Bilsky, M. H., Fraser, R. A., and Rosenfeld, M. R. Long-term survivors of glioblastoma multiforme: clinical and molecular characteristics. J.Neurooncol., 27: 259-266, 1996.
- Kraus, J. A., Wenghoefer, M., Schmidt, M. C., von Deimling, A., Berweiler, U., Roggendorf, W., Diete, S., Dietzmann, K., Muller, B., Heuser, K., Reifenberger, G., and Schlegel, U. Long-term survival of glioblastoma multiforme: importance of histopathological reevaluation. J Neurol., 247: 455-460, 2000.
- 264. Salcman, M., Scholtz, H., Kaplan, R. S., and Kulik, S. Long-term survival in patients with malignant astrocytoma. Neurosurgery, 34: 213-219, 1994.
- Morita, M., Kuwano, H., Ohno, S., Sugimachi, K., Seo, Y., Tomoda, H., Furusawa, M., and Nakashima, T. Multiple occurrence of carcinoma in the upper aerodigestive tract associated with esophageal cancer: reference to smoking, drinking and family history. Int.J.Cancer, 58: 207-210, 1994.
- Cavenee, W. K., Burger, P. C., and Van Meir, E. G. Turcot syndrome. *In* P. Kleihues and W. K. Cavenee (eds.), Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System, 2nd ed, pp. 238-239. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000.
- Greenblatt, M. S., Bennett, W. P., Hollstein, M., and Harris, C. C. Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: clues to cancer etiology and molecular pathogenesis. Cancer Res., 54: 4855-4878, 1994.
- Wiebauer, K. and Jiricny, J. Mismatch-specific thymine DNA glycosylase and DNA polymerase beta mediate the correction of G.T mispairs in nuclear extracts from human cells. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA, 87: 5842-5845, 1990.

- Hendrich, B., Hardeland, U., Ng, H. H., Jiricny, J., and Bird, A. The thymine glycosylase MBD4 can bind to the product of deamination at methylated CpG sites. Nature, 401: 301-304, 1999.
- Yatsuoka, T., Furukawa, T., Abe, T., Yokoyama, T., Sunamura, M., Kobari, M., Matsuno, S., and Horii, A. Genomic analysis of the thymine-DNA glycosylase (TDG) gene on 12q22q24.1 in human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Int.J.Pancreatol., 25: 97-102, 1999.
- 271. Schmutte, C., Baffa, R., Veronese, L. M., Murakumo, Y., and Fishel, R. Human thymine-DNA glycosylase maps at chromosome 12q22-q24.1: a region of high loss of heterozygosity in gastric cancer. Cancer Res., 57: 3010-3015, 1997.
- 272. Riccio, A., Aaltonen, L. A., Godwin, A. K., Loukola, A., Percesepe, A., Salovaara, R., Masciullo, V., Genuardi, M., Paravatou-Petsotas, M., Bassi, D. E., Ruggeri, B. A., Klein-Szanto, A. J., Testa, J. R., Neri, G., and Bellacosa, A. The DNA repair gene MBD4 (MED1) is mutated in human carcinomas with microsatellite instability [letter]. Nat.Genet., 23: 266-268, 1999.
- Bader, S., Walker, M., Hendrich, B., Bird, A., Bird, C., Hooper, M., and Wyllie, A. Somatic frameshift mutations in the MBD4 gene of sporadic colon cancers with mismatch repair deficiency. Oncogene, 18: 8044-8047, 1999.
- 274. Pegg, A. E. Repair of O⁶-alkylguanine by alkyltransferases. Mutat.Res., *462*: 83-100, 2000.
- 275. Esteller, M., Toyota, M., Sanchez-Cespedes, M., Capella, G., Peinado, M. A., Watkins, D. N., Issa, J. P., Sidransky, D., Baylin, S. B., and Herman, J. G. Inactivation of the DNA repair gene O⁶-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase by promoter hypermethylation is associated with G to A mutations in *K-ras* in colorectal tumorigenesis. Cancer Res., *60*: 2368-2371, 2000.
- 276. Aquilina, G., Biondo, R., Dogliotti, E., Meuth, M., and Bignami, M. Expression of the endogenous O⁶-methylguanine-DNA-methyltransferase protects Chinese hamster ovary cells from spontaneous G:C to A:T transitions. Cancer Res., *52*: 6471-6475, 1992.
- 277. Nakamura, M., Watanabe, T., Yonekawa, Y., Kleihues, P., and Ohgaki, H. Promoter methylation of the DNA repair gene MGMT in astrocytomas is frequently associated with G:C --> A:T mutations of the TP53 tumor suppressor gene. Carcinogenesis, 22: 1715-1719, 2001.
- Bigner, S. H., Mark, J., Burger, P. C., Mahaley, M. S., Jr., Bullard, D. E., Muhlbaier, L. H., and Bigner, D. D. Specific chromosomal abnormalities in malignant human gliomas. Cancer Res., 48: 405-411, 1988.
- Koochekpour, S., Jeffers, M., Rulong, S., Taylor, G., Klineberg, E., Hudson, E. A., Resau, J. H., and Vande, W. G. Met and hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor expression in human gliomas. Cancer Res., *57*: 5391-5398, 1997.
- Wullich, B., Sattler, H. P., Fischer, U., and Meese, E. Two independent amplification events on chromosome 7 in glioma: amplification of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene and amplification of the oncogene MET. Anticancer Res., 14: 577-579, 1994.
- Paulus, W., Bayas, A., Ott, G., and Roggendorf, W. Interphase cytogenetics of glioblastoma and gliosarcoma. Acta Neuropathol., 88: 420-425, 1994.
- Perry, J. R., Ang, L. C., Bilbao, J. M., and Muller, P. J. Clinicopathologic features of primary and postirradiation cerebral gliosarcoma. Cancer, 75: 2910-2918, 1995.
- Sreenan, J. J. and Prayson, R. A. Gliosarcoma: a study of 13 tumors, including p53 and CD34 immunohistochemistry. Arch.Pathol.Lab.Med., *121*: 129-133, 1997.

- 284. Morantz, R. A., Feigin, I., and Ransohoff, J. Clinical and pathological study of 24 cases of gliosarcoma. J.Neurosurg., *45*: 398-408, 1976.
- Slowik, F., Jellinger, K., Gaszo, L., and Fischer, J. Gliosarcomas: histological, immunohistochemical, ultrastructural, and tissue culture studies. Acta Neuropathol., 67: 201-210, 1985.
- Haddad, S. F., Moore, S. A., Schelper, R. L., and Goeken, J. A. Smooth muscle can comprise the sarcomatous component of gliosarcomas. J.Neuropathol.Exp.Neurol., 51: 493-498, 1992.
- 287. Tsai, R. Y. and McKay, R. D. Cell contact regulates fate choice by cortical stem cells. J.Neurosci., 20: 3725-3735, 2000.
- Mujtaba, T., Mayer-Proschel, M., and Rao, M. S. A common neural progenitor for the CNS and PNS. Dev.Biol., 200: 1-15, 1998.
- McKeever, P. E., Davenport, R. D., and Shakui, P. Patterns of antigenic expression of human glioma cells. Crit Rev Neurobiol., 6: 119-147, 1991.
- Frankel, R. H., Bayona, W., Koslow, M., and Newcomb, E. W. p53 mutations in human malignant gliomas:comparison of loss of heterozygosity with mutation frequency. Cancer Res., 52: 1427-1433, 1992.
- Duerr, E.M., Rollbrocker, B., Hayashi, Y., Peters, N., Meyer-Puttlitz, B., Louis, D. N., Schramm, J., Wiestler, O. D., Parsons, R., Eng, C., and Von Deimling, A. PTEN mutations in gliomas and glioneuronal tumors. Oncogene, *16*: 2259-2264, 1998.
- Bigner, S. H., Wong, A. J., Mark, J., Muhlbaier, L. H., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Bigner, D. D. Relationship between gene amplification and chromosomal deviations in malignant human gliomas. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet., 29: 165-170, 1987.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas constitute the most frequent malignant primary brain tumours. These tumours exhibit an inherent tendency to progress to more malignant phenotypes and a broad range of clinical-pathological features with distinct behaviour and therapeutic implications. The understanding of the genetic alterations associated with astrocytic tumourigenesis is increasing but remains limited. The present work aimed to analyse the involvement of some genetic alterations in diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas subtypes development. This study was divided in 4 parts: **1**, *p53* mutations and gemistocytes in diffuse astrocytomas; **2**, Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on chromosome 10 and mutations of human *BUB* genes family in glioblastomas; **3**, Second primary glioblastoma; and **4**, Genetic characterisation of gliosarcomas.

1-p53 mutations and gemistocytes in diffuse astrocytomas

Diffuse astrocytomas (WHO grade II) are well differentiated and slow growing tumours that have a tendency for diffuse infiltration of neighbouring brain tissue, leading almost invariably to recurrence and progression to anaplastic astrocytoma, and ultimately, glioblastomas. Mutations of the p53 gene are considered a genetic hallmark in diffuse astrocytomas. However, their degree of expansion, role and timing of appearance remain unclear. Aiming to elucidate this issue we screened all tumour areas of a fibrillary astrocytoma, as well as adjacent non-tumour tissue of a whole brain section for the presence of p53 mutations Our observation of a p53 mutation in all tumour areas of a diffuse astrocytoma, suggest that at least a subset of diffuse astrocytomas evolve through clonal expansion of p53 mutated cells, supporting the role of p53 as a gatekeeper.

Gemistocytic astrocytoma (WHO grade II), a histological variant of diffuse astrocytoma, is particularly prone to rapid malignant progression. However, gemistocytes do not proliferate and are suggested to represent a terminal differentiation status. Moreover, they resemble to some extent reactive astrocytes that are encountered under a variety of non-neoplastic CNS diseases. These facts have raised the question of whether gemistocytes are neoplastic cells or reactive astrocytes. We conducted a laser microdissection analysis of both tumour gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells, and consistently observed the presence of identical *p53* mutations in both cell types. These findings strongly support their monoclonality and that gemistocytes are indeed neoplastic cells in gemistocytic astrocytomas.

2-Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on chromosome 10 and human *BUB* gene family mutations in glioblastomas

Glioblastomas can develop through progression of lower grade astrocytic tumours and are termed secondary glioblastomas. More frequently, they developed rapidly, with a short clinical history, without evidence of a precursor lesion, and are termed *de novo* or primary glioblastomas. These glioblastomas subtypes arise through distinct known genetic pathways. Since loss of chromosome 10 material is the most frequent genetic lesion reported in glioblastomas, we aimed to determine whether the frequency and pattern of LOH on chromosome 10 (LOH#10) differ between primary and secondary glioblastomas. The results showed that LOH#10 is frequent and it occurs at similar frequencies (approximately 50%) in both subtypes. However, the pattern of deletion was different, with primary glioblastomas exhibiting loss of the entire chromosome 10, whereas in secondary glioblastomas suggest that LOH#10q is a major event in the evolution of glioblastoma as the common phenotypic end point of both genetic pathways, whereas LOH#10q is largely restricted to primary glioblastoma.

Glioblastomas are characterised by marked aneuploidy. This type of genetic instability has been associated with defects in mitotic spindle checkpoint genes in a subset of other neoplasms. We performed a mutational analysis of a family of mitotic checkpoint genes, *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3*, in a series of glioblastomas. None of the cases showed inactivating mutations of any of the genes, suggesting that mutations of these genes are not involved in the causation of chromosomal instability in glioblastomas. However, we detected several polymorphisms. The allelic frequency of the Gln349 \rightarrow Arg *hBUBR1* polymorphism was significantly different in Caucasian and Japanese population. Given the role of *hBUBR1* in mitotic checkpoint, this polymorphism may be of interest because of its possible association with different susceptibility in distinct populations to the occurrence of aneuploidy.

3-Second primary glioblastoma

Glioblastomas are the most malignant brain tumours and carry a dismal prognosis, with a mean survival time of less than one year. Long-term survivors with glioblastomas are rare, and their genetic background is unknown. We reported a patient who was diagnosed with a glioblastoma and had survived 10 years before developing a second glioblastoma. The molecular analysis of both glioblastomas detected the presence of multiple mutations in *p53* and *PTEN* tumour suppressor genes, as well as homozygous deletion of *p16^{INK4a}* in both tumours. Strikingly, none of the mutations occurred in both tumours, suggesting that

the second tumour was not a recurrence of the first glioblastoma, but it was a second *de novo* glioblastoma.

Although their *de novo* fashion, genetically, both tumours share some features of primary glioblastomas (e.g. *PTEN* mutations and $p16^{INK4a}$ homozygous deletion) and with secondary glioblastomas (e.g. *p53* mutations and absence of *EGFR* amplification). There was no evidence of an inherited tumour syndrome. To our knowledge, this is the first report of a secondary primary glioblastoma confirmed by genetic analyses. These findings also suggest the possibility of a novel unknown disease mechanism, characterised by multiple alterations in transformation-associated genes and with long-term survival patient with glioblastoma.

4-Genetic characterisation of gliosarcomas

Gliosarcoma is a rare variant of glioblastomas characterised by a biphasic tissue pattern with alternating areas of sarcomatous and gliomatous differentiation. Aiming to depict the genetic alterations underlying this neoplasm, we carried out an extensive molecular analysis. We showed that this variant disclosed a genetic profile similar to primary glioblastomas, with a high frequency of *PTEN* mutations (37%) and *p16^{INK4a}* homozygous deletion (37%); a significant fraction of gliosarcomas (26%) harboured *p53* mutations; the only but striking difference is the absence of *EGFR* amplification or overexpression that is frequently observed in primary glioblastomas.

In addition, we conducted a comparative genetic analysis of both sarcomatous and gliomatous tumour components to elucidate the histogenesis of the sarcomatous component. We identified identical genetic alterations in both tumour components. These findings strongly suggest their monoclonal origin, and that the sarcomatous component evolved due to aberrant mesenchymal differentiation in a highly malignant astrocytic neoplasm.

SUMÁRIO E CONCLUSÕES

Os astrocitomas infiltrativos difusos, são as neoplasias mais frequentes do sistema nervoso central. Caracterizam-se pela tendência para progredir para formas malignas e incluem entidades clínico-patológicas que exibem diferenças biológicas com implicações terapêuticas. Embora o conhecimento das alterações genéticas associadas ao processo de tumorigénese nos tumores astrocíticos tenha evoluído consideravelmente continua ainda longe de estar completamente elucidado. O presente trabalho tem como objectivo geral estudar o envolvimento de algumas anomalias genéticas no desenvolvimento de vários subtipos de astrocitomas infiltrativos difusos. Para a prossecução deste objectivo o trabalho foi estruturado em quatro tópicos: **1**, Mutações do gene *p53* e gemistócitos em astrocitomas difusos; **2**, Perda de heterozigotia (LOH) no cromossoma 10 e mutações da família de genes *BUB* em glioblastomas; **3**, Segundo glioblastoma primário; e **4**, Caracterização genética de gliossarcomas.

1-Mutações do gene p53 e gemistócitos em astrocitomas difusos

Os astrocitomas difusos (grau II, OMS), são tumores bem diferenciados de baixo índice proliferativo, que infiltram de modo difuso o tecido cerebral adjacente e tendem a recidivar e progredir frequentemente para tumores de alto grau (astrocitoma anaplásico e glioblastoma). As mutações do gene *p53* são frequentes em astrocitomas difusos. No entanto, não há consenso quanto à extensão, "timing" e papel das mutações do *p53* neste tumores. Na tentativa de elucidar este problema procedemos ao mapeamento de uma mutação do gene *p53* numa secção completa de cérebro com um astrocitoma difuso. A mutação estava presente em todas as áreas tumorais. Estes resultados sugerem que pelo menos alguns astrocitomas difusos derivam da expansão clonal de células com mutação do gene *p53*, que funcionaria como gene "gatekeeper".

Os astrocitomas gemistocíticos (grau II, OMS), são uma variante histológica de astrocitomas difusos com abundantes gemistócitos, que têm particular propensão para progredir para neoplasias mais agressivas. No entanto, não há evidências de que as células gemistocíticas proliferem pelo que são consideradas células em estado de diferenciação terminal. As células gemistocíticas também ocorrem em várias patologias cerebrais não neoplásicas. Estas observações levantam dúvidas sobre a natureza neoplásica dos gemistócitos que ocorrem em tumores astrocíticos. Na tentativa de clarificar este assunto, utilizamos um microscópio com microdisseção a laser para isolar células gemistocíticas e células neoplásicas não gemistocíticas quer as células metações do gene *p53.* Os resultados mostraram que quer as células gemistocíticos apresentam mutações idênticas do gene *p53.* Estes resultados dão suporte ao conceito de monoclonalidade de

ambas as células e sugerem que as células gemistocíticas dos astrocitomas gemistócitos são realmente células neoplásicas.

2-Perda de heterozigotia (LOH) no cromossoma 10 e mutações da família de genes BUB em glioblastomas

Os glioblastomas (grau IV, OMS) podem ser classificados em primários e secundários. Os glioblastomas secundários resultam da progressão de tumores de menor grau de malignidade. Os glioblastomas primários são mais frequentes, evoluem rapidamente, com uma curta história pré-clinica e sem evidência de neoplasia precursora. Estes 2 subtipos de glioblastomas possuem mecanismos genéticos distintos. A perda de partes ou de todo o cromossoma 10 é a alteração genética mais frequentemente observada em glioblastomas. Neste estudo pretendemos analisar a frequência e o padrão de perda de heterozigotia do cromossoma 10 (LOH#10) em glioblastomas primários e secundários. Verificámos que a frequência de LOH#10 é similar em ambos os subtipos de glioblastomas (aproximadamente 50%). No entanto o padrão de deleção observado é distinto; os glioblastomas primários perdem uma cópia inteira do cromossoma 10, enquanto que os glioblastomas secundários apenas exibem perda do braço longo (10q). Estes resultados sugerem que: a)- LOH#10q é um evento importante na evolução de ambos os subtipos de glioblastomas; b)- há gene(s) localizado(s) no 10p preferencialmente associado(s) com a evolução dos glioblastomas primários.

A grande maioria dos glioblastomas são aneuplóides. Alguns estudos mostraram uma associação entre este tipo de instabilidade genética e anomalias em genes de regulação do "checkpoint" mitótico. Neste estudo investigamos em glioblastomas a presença de mutações em genes do "checkpoint" mitótico: *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* e *hBUB3*. Não identificamos mutações inactivantes em qualquer dos genes estudados. No entanto, detectámos vários polimorfismos; um dos polimorfismos (Gln349→Arg do gene *hBUBR1*) tinha uma frequência alélica significativamente diferente em populações Caucasiana e Japonesa utilizadas como referência. Dada a importante função do gene *hBUBR1* na regulação do "checkpoint" mitótico, é possivel que o polimorfismo observado possa estar associado a diferenças na susceptibilidade das populações para a ocorrência de aneuploidia.

3-Segundo glioblastoma primário

Os glioblastomas (grau IV, OMS), são as neoplasias cerebrais primárias mais frequentes e malignas estando associados a um prognóstico sombrio, inferior a um ano de sobrevida. São raros os casos descritos de doentes com glioblastoma com sobrevida

longa, pelo que é escassa a informação sobre as suas características biológicas. Descrevemos o caso de um doente com um glioblastoma 10 anos após tratamento por outro glioblastoma no hemisfério cerebral contralateral. Identificamos múltiplas mutações dos genes supressores tumorais *p53* e *PTEN*, assim como deleção homozigótica do gene $p16^{INK4a}$ em ambos os glioblastomas. Surpreendentemente, nenhuma das mutações observadas era comum aos dois tumores, indicando que o segundo tumor não representa uma recidiva do primeiro glioblastoma, mas sim um novo tumor independente (segundo glioblastoma primário).

Embora ambos os glioblastomas descritos sejam clinicamente *de novo* (sem evidência de lesão precursora prévia), possuem alterações comuns a glioblastomas primários (ex: mutações do gene *PTEN* e deleção homozigótica do gene *p16^{I/K/da}*) e a glioblastomas secundários (ex: mutações do gene *p53* e ausência de amplificação do *EGFR*). A história clínica do doente, assim como os estudo moleculares, permitem afastar a possibilidade do caso descrito representar um síndrome hereditário conhecido. Os resultados deste estudo documentam evidência genética original em glioblastomas primários metácronos e independentes num doente com sobrevida longa. Acresce que as alterações genéticas observadas sugerem a possibilidade de um novo mecanismo genético caracterizado por múltiplas alterações em genes supressores tumorais e associado a sobrevida longa.

4-Caracterização genética de gliossarcomas

Os gliossarcomas são uma variante rara de glioblastoma, caracterizados por um padrão morfológico bifásico, com um componente sarcomatoso alternando com um componente glial. Com o intuito de descrever as alterações genéticas subjacentes aos gliossarcomas, realizamos uma análise molecular extensa em 19 gliossarcomas. Verificamos que os gliossarcomas têm um perfil genético semelhante ao descrito em glioblastomas primários: elevada frequência de mutações do gene *PTEN* (37%) e deleções homozigóticas do gene $p16^{INK4a}$ (37%). Um número apreciável de gliossarcomas apresentam mutações do gene p53 (26%). A ausência de amplificação ou sobre-expressão do gene *EGFR*, que constitui uma característica genética dos glioblastomas primários, foi a diferença mais importante sistematicamente observada em todos os gliossarcomas.

Com o objectivo de clarificar a histogénese do componente sarcomatoso, realizamos uma análise genética comparativa de ambos os componentes sarcomatoso e glial dos gliossarcomas. Os resultados obtidos mostraram a presença de alterações genéticas idênticas em ambos os componentes. Estes factos suportam a hipótese de uma origem monoclonal dos gliossarcomas e sugerem que o componente sarcomatoso resulta de uma transformação mesenquimatosa de células do componente glial.

PAPER I



EXPRESS COMMUNICATION

Rui M. Reis · Akira Hara · Paul Kleihues Hiroko Ohgaki

Genetic evidence of the neoplastic nature of gemistocytes in astrocytomas

Received: 10 July 2001 / Revised, accepted: 30 July 2001 / Published online: 25 August 2001 © Springer-Verlag 2001

Abstract Gemistocytic astrocytoma is characterized by a predominance of large astrocytes with plump processes and massive accumulation of glial fibrillary acidic protein (gemistocytes). This histological variant of low-grade diffuse astrocytoma (WHO grade II) is prone to more rapid progression to anaplastic astrocytoma and glioblastoma than the ordinary fibrillary astrocytoma. The biological basis of this unfavorable prognosis is unclear, since gemistocytes themselves have low proliferative activity, even if present in anaplastic astrocytomas or glioblastomas. This has raised the question of whether gemistocytes are neoplastic cells or dysplastic reactive astrocytes. In this study, gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells were separated by laser-assisted microdissection from six gemistocytic astrocytomas carrying TP53 mutations. In all cases, identical TP53 mutations were identified in both cell types. indicating that gemistocytes are indeed neoplastic cells. Their lack of proliferative activity may indicate terminal differentiation.

Keywords Gemistocytic astrocytoma · Low-grade diffuse astrocytoma · *TP53* mutation · Laser microdissection

Introduction

Low-grade diffuse astrocytomas (WHO grade II) are welldifferentiated, slowly growing tumors but have an inherent tendency to invade neighboring brain tissue and to progress to more malignant phenotypes, i.e., anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO grade III) and glioblastoma (WHO grade IV) [3, 9, 17]. However, some low-grade astrocytomas progress very rapidly, while others remain as low-

R.M. Reis · A. Hara · P. Kleihues · H. Ohgaki (*)

Unit of Molecular Pathology,

International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), 69372 Lyon, France

e-mail: ohgaki@iarc.fr,

Tel.: +33-4-72738534, Fax: +33-4-72738564

grade diffuse astrocytoma for long periods [3, 9, 17]. A tendency towards rapid recurrence and malignant progression is particularly observed in gemistocytic astrocytoma [9, 16, 19, 26, 29], a histological variant of diffuse astrocytoma characterized by a predominance of gemistocytes with large, eosinophilic cytoplasm, plump cell processes and marked cytoplasmic accumulation of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) [3, 9, 16, 17, 29]. Patients with gemistocytic astrocytoma show a considerably lower 5-year survival rate than patients with astrocytomas containing no or few gemistocytes [16].

Although histologically predominant, gemistocytes rarely account for more than 50% of tumor cells. In the new WHO classification of brain tumors [9], a minimum cutoff value of 20% gemistocytes has been proposed as a diagnostic criterion. We have previously shown that patients with low-grade diffuse astrocytoma containing more than 5% gemistocytes have a significantly shorter time before progression to more malignant lesions [29]. Occasionally, the fraction of gemistocytes increases during astrocytoma progression [2, 21], and this may precede an increase in proliferative activity [21].

TP53 mutations are the most frequent genetic alteration in low-grade diffuse astrocytomas [1, 9]. In gemistocytic astrocytomas, the frequency of *TP53* mutations appears to be particularly high (60–82%), irrespective of whether or not progression to a more malignant phenotype has occurred [10, 29, 30]. Despite the unfavorable outcome associated with gemistocytic astrocytoma, gemistocytes themselves show low proliferative activity [6, 14, 29], and resemble to some extent reactive astrocytes that are encountered under a variety of pathological conditions [4, 6, 12, 13, 20]. This raises the question of whether gemistocytes are truly neoplastic cells. To elucidate this issue, gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells were isolated by laser microdissection and analyzed for the presence of *TP53* mutations.
 Table 1
 Single-cell laser

 microdissection analysis of
 gemistocytic astrocytomas

| Patient | Age/sex | WHO | Gemisto- | TP53 mutation | | |
|---------|---------|-------|-----------|---------------------|-----------------------------------|--|
| | | grade | cytes (%) | Gemistocytic cells | Non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells | |
| 142 | 54/M | П | 15.2 | Codon 242, TGC->GGC | Codon 242, TGC->GGC | |
| 145 | 57/M | П | 30.4 | Codon 248, CGG->CAG | Codon 248, CGG->CAG | |
| 147 | 20/F | H | 43.3 | Codon 175, CGC->CAC | Codon 175, CGC->CAC | |
| 148 | 38/M | II | 25.6 | Codon 248, CGG->CAG | Codon 248, CGG->CAG | |
| 150 | 32/M | 11 | 40.1 | Intron 7, G->C | Intron 7, G->C | |
| 151 | 33/F | Ш | 32.8 | Codon 273, CGT->TGT | Codon 273, CGT->TGT | |

Material and methods

Laser microdissection and DNA extraction

The specimens of gemistocytic astrocytomas were obtained from six patients diagnosed in the University Hospital of Zurich, Switzerland. These tumors were previously reported to carry *TP53* mutations [30]. The age and sex of patients are shown in Table 1.

Gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells were microdissected using the PALM Laser Microbeam System (Bernied, Germany). Gemistocytes were recognized by their large GFAPpositive cytoplasm and eccentric nuclei. Glial cells with mild atypical dense nuclei and small cytoplasm were selected as non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells. Microdissection was carried out as follows: 5-um tissue sections of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tumor samples were mounted on a 1- to 3-um-thin, stretched polyethylene membrane, which was attached to a non-coated slide. The membrane serves as a support to facilitate laser pressure catapulting (LPC) and avoid fragmentation of tissue. After deparaffinization and staining with H&E or GFAP stain, the slides were placed on a robot-stage microscope equipped with a UV laser (wavelength 337 nm and 30 pulses/s). Individual cells were dissected with the UV laser beam and then, with a single laser shot, catapulted into a cap of an Eppendorf tube. In each specimen, 50-120 cells of each cell type were collected, then recovered in 20 µl lysis buffer (100 mmol/l TRIS-HCl pH 7.5 and 500 µg/ml proteinase K), and were spun down by centrifugation. After incubation at 55°C overnight, proteinase K was inactivated at 99°C for 10 min.

Direct DNA sequencing

Direct sequencing analysis of the *TP53* gene was performed as follows: PCR was carried out with 2 μ l of DNA solution, 0.2 μ M of each primer, 50 μ M of dNTPs, 10 mM TRIS pH 8.8, 50 μ M KCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂ and 1 U Platinum Taq polymerase (GIBCO-BRL,



Fig. 1A, B Laser microdissection of gemistocytes (case 142). First, a laser cuts around individual gemistocytes (**A**). Then, the gemistocytes are catapulted from the slide to an Eppendorf cap (**B**)

Cergy Pontoise, France) in a final volume of 20 µl. Forty to 45 cycles of denaturation (95°C) for 50 s, annealing (60°C for exon 7, 58°C for exon 8 and 55°C for exon 5) for 60 s and extension (72°C) for 70 s, were performed in a robocycler 96 gradient temperature cycler (Stratagenc GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany). Primer sequences for PCR have been previously described [25]. Care was taken to avoid contamination. In each PCR reaction, two negative controls (water and lysis buffer) were used to ensure the absence of nonspecific PCR amplification. PCR products were purified on MicroSpinTM S-300 HR columns (Pharmacia Biotech, Uppsala) and submitted to a cycle sequencing reaction using an ABI PRISM BigDye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit (Perkin-Elmer-Cetus) and were analyzed with an ABI PRISM 310 Genetic Analyzer (Perkin-Elmer-Cetus) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Each sequencing reaction was carried out at least twice.

Results

Using a laser-assisted microdissection system, we separately isolated DNA from gemistocytes and from nongemistocytic neoplastic cells in six cases of gemistocytic astrocytomas (Fig. 1 and Table 1). Direct DNA sequencing revealed that in each case, both gemistocytes and nongemistocytic neoplastic cells contained an identical *TP53* mutation (Fig. 2 and Table 1). In all tumors, the wild-type allele was lost. The absence of mutated *TP53* in non-tu-



Fig.2 Mutation analysis of codon 242 of *TP53* gene after laser microdissection of gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells (case 142). Identical mutations were detected in both cell types. Note the loss of wild-type base

noral tissue from the same patients excludes the possibilty of a germ-line mutation.

Discussion

Gemistocytic astrocytoma, a variant of diffuse astrocyoma, is characterized by the presence of gemistocytic cells. The term gemistocytes is derived from the Greek "gemisos", which means "filled up" and describes cells characerized by voluminous, slightly eosinophilic cytoplasm, eccentric nuclei, plump cell processes and marked expression of GFAP [9, 17, 19, 31].

Kros et al. [15] screened astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas and mixed oligoastrocytomas with gemistocytes for abnormality of chromosomes 1, 7, 10 and 17 by in situ hybridization. There was no difference in spot distribution between gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic tumor cells in six out of nine cases with abnormality; in the remaining cases, the concordance was incomplete [15]. In the present study, TP53 mutation analysis was performed in pure populations of gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells from gemistocytic astrocytomas. Using laserassisted microdissection, we isolated single cells, and demonstrated that both gemistocytes and non-gemistocytic neoplastic cells contained an identical TP53 mutation in each of six tumors analyzed, indicating that both cell types have a common monoclonal origin, and that gemistocytic cells are indeed neoplastic.

It is notable that in all samples, only the mutated allele was detectable, indicating loss of the wild-type allele, consistent with the model of two-hit inactivation of tumor suppressor genes. This observation also confirms the absence of significant DNA contamination from non-neoplastic cells. In a previous study, in which tumor areas were dissected manually, the wild-type allele was detectable in four out of six cases, probably due to contamination with entrapped non-neoplastic cells [30]. This underlines the importance of single cell microdissection in unambiguous determination of loss of wild-type allele in primary tumor samples.

The poor prognosis associated with gemistocytic astrocytomas may be due to the high frequency of TP53 mutations (60-82%) [10, 30]. Ishii et al. [7] reported that the presence of TP53 mutations in low-grade astrocytomas is associated with malignant progression and shorter progression-free survival. However, other studies failed to find any such association [10, 11, 28]. We have previously observed marked bcl-2 expression in gemistocytes [29]. In cervical carcinoma cell lines and non-Hodgkin lymphomas, increased bcl-2 expression under TP53 inactivation provides cells with a selective survival advantage [18, 23]. Other studies have shown increased expression of acid and basic fibroblastic growth factor (FGF) by gemistocytes [22, 27]. These growth factors are mitogenic for several cell types, including astrocytes, and induce angiogenesis leading to tumor growth [22, 27]. The possibility exists that gemistocytes promote tumor growth by paracrine release of FGF and related growth factors.

The biological mechanisms that lead to the gemistocyte phenotype are still unknown. Some authors have suggested that gemistocytes represent a non-proliferative pool of cells that have undergone a phenotypic change due to deprivation of nutrients and oxygen caused by competition with surrounding tumor cells [6]. Indeed, cells with a gemistocyte phenotype are encountered in a variety of central nervous system diseases associated with hypoxic or ischemic brain tissue [4, 6, 12, 13, 20]. The anoxic tumor environment could be responsible not only for the morphological changes present in gemistocytes but also for their more aggressive behavior. It has been suggested that hypoxia selects for apoptosis-resistant tumor cells with inactivated TP53. [5]. The hypoxic environment would thus favor the development of more resistant neoplastic cells and, ultimately, lead to more aggressive behavior of the tumor [5, 8, 24].

In summary, the presence of identical *TP53* mutations in gemistocytes and small, non-gemistocytic astrocytoma cells provides evidence of their monoclonal origin and neoplastic nature.

Acknowledgements The authors thank Ms. N. Lyandrat and Ms A.M. Canus-Randon for excellent technical assistance. R.M. Reis was supported by a grant from the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia, (PRAXIS XXI), Portugal. This work was supported by a grant from the Foundation for Promotion of Cancer Research, Japan.

References

- 1. Bögler O, Huang HJ, Kleihues P, Cavenee WK (1995) The p53 gene and its role in human brain tumors. Glia 15:308–327
- Burger PC, Kleihues P (1989) Cytologic composition of the untreated glioblastoma with implications for evaluation of needle biopsies. Cancer 63:2014–2023
- Burger PC, Scheithauer BW (1994) Tumors of the Central Nervous System. Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, Washington
- Eng LF, Ghirnikar RS (1994) GFAP and astrogliosis. Brain Pathol 4:229–237
- Graeber TG, Osmanian C, Jacks T, Housman DE, Koch CJ, Lowe SW, Giaccia AJ (1996) Hypoxia-mediated selection of cells with diminished apoptotic potential in solid tumors. Nature 379:88–91
- Hoshino T, Wilson BC, Ellis WG (1975) Gemistocytic astrocytes in gliomas. An autoradiographic study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 34:263–281
- Ishii N, Tada M, Hamou MF, Janzer RC, Meagher-Villemure K, Wiestler OD, Tribolet N, Van Meir EG (1999) Cells with TP53 mutations in low grade astrocytic tumors evolve clonally to malignancy and are an unfavorable prognostic factor. Oncogene 18:5870–5878
- Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1996) Life (and death) in a malignant tumor. Nature 379:19–20
- Kleihues P, Davis RL, Ohgaki H, Burger PC, Westphal MM, Cavenee WK (2000) Diffuse astrocytoma. In: Kleihues P, Cavenee WK (eds) Pathology and genetics of tumors of the nervous system. IARC Press, Lyon, pp 22–26
- Kösel S, Scheithauer BW, Graeber MB (2001) Genotype-phenotype correlation in gemistocytic astrocytomas. Neurosurgery 48:187–193
- 11. Kraus JA, Bolln C, Wolf HK, Neumann J, Kindermann D, Fimmers R, Forster F, Baumann A, Schlegel U (1994) TP53 alterations and clinical outcome in low grade astrocytomas. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 10:143–149

- Kreutzberg GW, Blakemore WF, Graeber MB (1997) Cellular pathology of the central nervous system. In: Graham DI, Lantos PL (eds) Greenfield's neuropathology. Arnold, London, pp 85–156
- Kros JM, Stefanko SZ, Jong AA de, Vroonhoven CC van, Heul RO van der, Kwast TH van der (1991) Ultrastructural and immunohistochemical segregation of gemistocytic subsets. Hum Pathol 22:33–40
- 14. Kros JM, Schouten WC, Janssen PJ, Kwast TH van der (1996) Proliferation of gemistocytic cells and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-positive oligodendroglial cells in gliomas: a MIB-1/GFAP double labeling study. Acta Neuropathol 91:99– 103
- Kros JM, Waarsenburg N, Hayes DP, Hop WC, Dekken H van (2000) Cytogenetic analysis of gemistocytic cells in gliomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 59:679–686
- Krouwer HG, Davis RL, Silver P, Prados M (1991) Gemistocytic astrocytomas: a reappraisal. J Neurosurg 74:399–406
- Lantos PL, VandenBerg SR, Kleihues P (1996) Tumors of the nervous system. In: Graham DI, Lantos PL (eds) Greenfield's neuropathology. Arnold, London, pp 583–879
- Liang XH, Mungal S, Ayscue A, Meissner JD, Wodnicki P, Hockenbery D, Lockett S, Herman B (1995) Bcl-2 protooncogene expression in cervical carcinoma cell lines containing inactive p53. J Cell Biochem 57:509–521
- 19. McLendon RE, Enterline DS, Tien RD, Thorstad WL, Bruner JM (1998) Tumors of central neuroepithelial origin. In: Bigner DD, McLendon RE, Bruner JM (eds) Russell and Rubinstein's pathology of tumors of the nervous system. Arnold, London, pp 307–571
- Norenberg MD (1994) Astrocyte responses to CNS injury. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 53:213–220
- 21. Ohgaki H, Watanabe K, Peraud A, Biernat W, Deimling A von, Yasargil G, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P (1999) A case history of glioma progression. Acta Neuropathol 97:525–535
- 22. Paulus W, Grothe C, Sensenbrenner M, Janet T, Baur I, Graf M, Roggendorf W (1990) Localization of basic fibroblast growth factor, a mitogen and angiogenic factor, in human brain tumors. Acta Neuropathol 79:418–423

- 23. Piris MA, Pezzella F, Martinez-Montero JC, Orradre JL, Villuendas R, Sanchez-Beato M, Cuena R, Cruz MA, Martinez B, Garrido MC, Gatter K, Aiello A, Delia D, Giardini R, Rilke F (1994) p53 and bcl-2 expression in high-grade B-cell lymphomas: correlation with survival time. Br J Cancer 69:337– 341
- 24. Plate KH, Breier G, Risau W (1994) Molecular mechanisms of developmental and tumor angiogenesis. Brain Pathol 4:207– 218
- Reis RM, Konu-Lebleblicioglu D, Lopes JM, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H (2000) Genetic profile of gliosarcomas. Am J Pathol 156:425–432
- 26. Shaw EG, Daumas Duport C, Scheithauer BW, Gilbertson DT, O'Fallon JR, Earle JD, Laws ER Jr, Okazaki H (1989) Radiation therapy in the management of low-grade supratentorial astrocytomas. J Neurosurg 70:853–861
- Stefanik DF, Rizkalla LR, Soi A, Goldblatt SA, Rizkalla WM (1991) Acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors are present in glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Res 51:5760–5765
- 28. Von Deimling A, Fimmers R, Schmidt MC, Bender B, Fassbender F, Nagel J, Jahnke R, Kaskel P, Duerr EM, Koopmann J, Maintz D, Steinbeck S, Wick W, Platten M, Müller DJ, Przkora R, Waha A, Blümcke B, Wellenreuther R, Meyer-Puttlitz B, Schmidt O, Mollenhauer J, Poustka A, Stangl AP, Lenartz D, Ammon K von (2000) Comprehensive allelotype and genetic anaysis of 466 human nervous system tumors. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 59:544–558
- 29. Watanabe K, Tachibana O, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H (1997) Role of gemistocytes in astrocytoma progression. Lab Invest 76:277–284
- Watanabe K, Peraud A, Gratas C, Wakai S, Kleihues P. Ohgaki H (1998) p53 and PTEN gene mutations in gemistocytic astrocytomas. Acta Neuropathol 95:559–564
- 31. Zulch KJ (1986) Brain tumors. Their biology and pathology. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York

PAPER II

Loss of Heterozygosity on Chromosome 10 Is More Extensive in Primary (De Novo) Than in Secondary Glioblastomas

Hironori Fujisawa, Rui M. Reis, Mitsutoshi Nakamura, Stefano Colella, Yasuhiro Yonekawa, Paul Kleihues, and Hiroko Ohgaki

International Agency for Research on Cancer (HF, RMR, MN, SC, PK, HO), Lyon, France; and Department of Neurosurgery (YY), University Hospital, Zürich, Switzerland

SUMMARY: Glioblastomas develop de novo (primary glioblastomas) or through progression from low-grade or anaplastic astrocytoma (secondary glioblastomas). There is increasing evidence that these glioblastoma subtypes develop through different genetic pathways. Primary glioblastomas are characterized by *EGFR* and *MDM2* amplification/overexpression, *PTEN* mutations, and *p16* deletions, whereas secondary glioblastomas frequently contain *p53* mutations. Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on chromosome 10 (LOH#10) is the most frequent genetic alteration in glioblastomas; the involvement of tumor suppressor genes, other than *PTEN*, has been suggested. We carried out deletion mappings on chromosome 10, using PCR-based microsatellite analysis. LOH#10 was detected at similar frequencies in primary (8/17; 47%) and secondary glioblastomas (7/13; 54%). The majority (88%) of primary glioblastomas with LOH#10 showed LOH at all informative markers, suggesting loss of the entire chromosome 10. In contrast, secondary glioblastomas with LOH#10 showed partial or complete loss of chromosome 10 glioblastoma multiform as the common phenotypic end point of both genetic pathways, whereas LOH on 10p is largely restricted to the primary (de novo) glioblastoma. (*Lab Invest 2000, 80:65–72*).

lioblastoma (World Health Organization [WHO] Grade IV) is the most frequent and malignant human brain tumor, occurring at a frequency of two to three new cases per 100,000 population and per year for most European and North American countries (Lantos et al, 1996). Despite progress in surgery and adjuvant therapy, patients with glioblastoma still have a dismal prognosis and they usually succumb to the disease within 1 year after diagnosis (Galanis et al. 1998; Leenstra et al, 1998). Glioblastomas may develop rapidly, with a short clinical history (primary or de novo glioblastoma), or more slowly through progression from low-grade (WHO Grade II) or anaplastic (WHO Grade III) astrocytoma (secondary glioblastoma) (Kleihues and Ohgaki, 1999). These glioblastoma subtypes, although largely indistinguishable histologically, constitute distinct disease entities that manifest in different age groups and develop through different genetic pathways. Primary glioblastomas occur in older patients and are characterized by EGFR amplification/overexpression and, less frequently, MDM2 amplification, PTEN (MMAC1) mutations, and p16 homozygous deletion, while secondary glioblastomas occur in younger patients and contain p53 mutations as a genetic hallmark (Kleihues and Ohgaki, 1999).

Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on chromosome 10 (LOH#10) is the most frequent genetic alteration in glioblastomas, reportedly occurring in up to 80% of cases (Albarosa et al, 1996; Fults et al, 1998; Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Kon et al, 1998; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996; Voesten et al, 1997). LOH#10 is less frequent (~40%) in anaplastic astrocytomas (Albarosa et al, 1996; Bijleveld et al, 1997; Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Kon et al, 1998; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996; Voesten, 1997), and rarely occurs in low-grade astrocytomas (Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Kon et al, 1998; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996; Voesten et al, 1997). The majority of glioblastomas appear to have lost an entire copy of chromosome 10 (Albarosa, 1996; Fults et al, 1998; Ichimura et al, 1998; Kon et al, 1998; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Voesten et al, 1997). In glioblastomas with partial LOH#10, at least three common deletions have been identified: (a) 10p14-pter (Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Kimmelman et al, 1996; Kon et al, 1998; Sonoda et al, 1996; Voesten et al, 1997); (b) 10q23-24 (Albarosa et al, 1996; Fults, et al, 1998; Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996); and (c) 10q25-qter (Albarosa et al, 1996; Fults et al, 1998; Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996), suggesting the presence of multiple tumor suppressor

Received October 5, 1999.

Address reprint requests to: Dr. H. Obgaki, Unit of Molecular Pathology, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 69372 Lyon Cedex 08, France. Fax: +33 4 72 73 85 64; E-mail:obgaki@iarc.fr

Fujisawa et al

genes. LOH#10 has been detected in 60% to 100% of glioblastomas with *EGFR* amplification (Lang et al, 1994; Leenstra et al, 1998; von Deimling et al, 1992) and in 40% to 80% of glioblastomas with a *p53* mutation (Lang et al, 1994; Leenstra et al, 1998), suggesting that LOH#10 is involved in the development of both primary and secondary glioblastomas.

The objective of the present study was to clarify whether the frequency and allelic patterns of LOH#10 differ between primary and secondary glioblastomas. We carried out deletion mapping on chromosome 10, using PCR-based microsatellite analysis in 17 primary glioblastomas (using normal DNA as a reference) and 13 secondary glioblastomas which progressed from low-grade astrocytomas (using normal or low-grade astrocytoma DNA as a reference). The presence and pattern of LOH#10 were correlated with other genetic alterations, including *EGFR* amplification and *p53* and *PTEN* mutations.

Results

LOH on Chromosome 10

Using 28 microsatellite markers, we examined a total of 840 polymorphic loci on chromosome 10 and obtained 621 (74%) informative results. Eight (47%) of 17 primary glioblastomas showed LOH#10. Of these, seven (88%) showed deletions at all informative loci; this was interpreted as the loss of an entire copy of chromosome 10. Case 294 was exceptional, with deletions at all informative loci on 10p but with none on 10q (Figs. 1 and 2).

In secondary glioblastomas, LOH#10 was demonstrated in 7 of 13 (54%) cases, ie, at a frequency similar to that in primary glioblastomas (p = 1.0). However, in all cases, deletions were partial and typically located on 10q. One glioblastoma (case 25) showed LOH at all informative loci on 10q. In the remaining six cases, chromosomal deletions on 10q were partial. One tumor (case 70) showed an additional small deletion on 10p at D10S199. The most common deletion in all seven cases was on 10q25qter distal to D10S1683, covering the *DMBT1* (Mollenhauer et al, 1997) and *FGFR2* (Moschonas et al, 1996) loci (Fig. 1).

For three secondary glioblastomas in which lowgrade astrocytoma DNA was used as a reference, DNA from adjacent normal brain tissue (Cases 57 and 68) and peripheral blood leukocytes (Case 72) was also subjected to analysis. Allelic patterns of normal tissues and low-grade astrocytomas were concordant at all informative loci. In another case (Case 26), one of the two alleles showed significant decrease (>50%) in signal intensity when compared with the remaining allele at markers D10S587, 1723, and 1700 (Fig. 1, marked as asterisk), which may suggest that LOH had already occurred in low-grade astrocytoma.



Figure 1.

Allelic patterns of chromosome 10 in 17 primary and 13 secondary glioblastomas. Case numbers are indicated at the top of each column. The overall frequency of loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on chromosome 10 is similar in both glioblastoma subtypes but the extent of chromosomal loss differs. Primary glioblastomas often show complete loss (10p, q) while in secondary glioblastomas, LOH is typically restricted to the long arm (10q).

| y Glioblastomas |
|-----------------|
| l Secondar |
| y and |
| Primar |
| Alterations in |
| Genetic |
| Other |
| 0 and |
| Chromosome 1 |
| y on |
| Heterozygosity |
| Loss of |
| Table 1. |

| mor location Clir | cation Clinical history | a | 5 | ped miscoaing mutation | PTEN missense mutation | EGFR/CF ratio |
|-------------------|-------------------------|----|---|--------------------------|-------------------------|---------------|
| | | | | | | |
| mont | hs | 1 | 9 | t | ī | 06.0 |
| mont | E | + | + | I | 61, CAT->CCT, His->Pro | 0.72 |
| days | | I | 1 | 253, ACC->GCC, Thr->Ala | 1 | 0.93 |
| mont | hs | Ĩ | 1 | 3 | ſ | 1.47 |
| wee | ¥ | Ţ | 1 | Ē | Ĩ | 0.69 |
| ШC | inth | + | + | ť | ī | 0.87 |
| Ĕ | onths | + | + | ī | 1 | 1 18 |
| 0 L | nths | + | + | 1 | Ĩ | 8.42 |
| ШO | nth | 3 | T | Ē | Ĩ | 1.50 |
| wee | ks | + | Ē | Ĩ | 1 | 1 19 |
| mor | iths | I | ī | I | I | 0.98 |
| mon | th | + | + | Т | Î | 6.08 |
| Neel | ~ | Ŧ | ÷ | Ļ | Ĩ | 4 54 |
| non | ths | + | + | I | 122. ATT->AGT. IIe->Ser | 5 04 |
| veek | S | 1 | ī | 1 | L | 2.07 |
| week | S | ŋ | 1 | 126, TAC->TAA, Tvr->stop | I | 14 1 |
| Nee | SS | E | Ē | I | 1 | 0.92 |
| | | | | | | |
| de l | _ | ĩ | ī | 163, TAC->TGC, Tyr->Cys | L | 1.96 |
| 9 | = | 1 | + | 275, TGT->TTT, Cys->Phe | ľ | 1.62 |
| 1e | = | 1 | + | 163, TAC->TGC, Tyr->Cys | 1 | 1.08 |
| Je | _ | I | Ī | 273, CGT->TGT, Arg->Cys | 1 | 1.17 |
| e | = | Ĩ | 1 | 175, CGC->CAC, Arg->His | I | 1.11 |
| de - | | 1 | 1 | 141, TGC->TAC, Cys->Tyr | I | 1.05 |
| de l | | Ē | I | 175, CGC->CAC, Arg->His | 1 | 1.36 |
| le II | | ï | + | | 1 | 1.20 |
| le II | | 1 | + | 300->89 bp del | - I | 1 93 |
| le II | | ĥ | + | 278. CCT->ACT. Pro->Thr | I | 111 |
| le II | | + | + | | I | 1 22 |
| le II | | Ĩ, | 1 | 301->2 bp del | Ţ | 2 02 |
| e | _ | 1 | + | 245, GGC->AGC, Gly->Ser | ſ | 0.96 |


Figure 2.

Representative results of loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on chromosome 10 in a primary (case 300) and a secondary (case 70) glioblastoma. Microsatellite markers are indicated on the left side of each panel. LOH is indicated by *arrows. N*, normal (blood); *II*, low-grade astrocytoma (World Health Organization Grade II); *IV*, glioblastoma (Grade IV).

Correlation of LOH#10 with Other Genetic Alterations

PCR-SSCP, followed by DNA sequencing, demonstrated *p53* missense mutations in 2 (12%) of 17 primary glioblastomas and in 11 (85%) of 13 secondary glioblastomas (p = 0.0001; Table 1). *PTEN* mutations were found in 2 (12%) of 17 primary glioblastomas but none in secondary glioblastomas (Table 1). *EGFR* amplification was detected by differential PCR in 5 (29%) of 17 primary glioblastomas but in none of the secondary glioblastomas (Table 1). *EGFR* amplification tended to be associated with complete LOH#10: 4 (80%) of 5 primary glioblastomas with *EGFR* amplification showed an entire loss of chromosome 10, whereas only 3 (25%) of 12 glioblastomas without *EGFR* amplification showed complete LOH#10. However, this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.10). There was no significant correlation between the presence of LOH#10 and other genetic alterations.

Discussion

Entire or partial loss of chromosome 10 is a common genetic alteration in a variety of human cancers, including glioblastomas (Albarosa et al, 1996; Fults et al, 1998; Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Kon et al, 1998; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996; Voesten et al, 1997), malignant meningiomas (Rempel et al, 1993; Simon et al, 1995), endometrial carcinomas (Peiffer et al, 1995), prostate carcinomas (Gray et al, 1995), renal carcinomas (Morita et al, 1991), small cell lung carcinomas (Ried et al, 1994), non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (Speaks et al, 1992), and melanomas (Herbst et al, 1994; Isshiki et al, 1993). In glioblastomas, there appear to be at least three putative tumor suppressor loci, ie, 10p14-pter, 10q23-24, and 10q25-qter (Albarosa et al, 1996; Fults et al, 1998; Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Kimmelman et al, 1996; Kon et al, 1998; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996; Voesten et al, 1997). However, little is known whether the frequency and extent of LOH on chromosome 10 are different between primary and secondary glioblastomas. Ichimura et al (1998) carried out extensive LOH study in 198 astrocytic gliomas and showed that most glioblastomas lost one entire chromosome, while astrocytomas preferentially lost only 10p. However, the astrocytomas and glioblastomas that were analyzed were derived from different patients. Using comparative genome hybridization (CGH) analysis, Weber et al (1996) reported that 4 of 10 anaplastic astrocytomas and glioblastomas that had progressed from lowgrade astrocytoma showed a reduced number of chromosome segments on 10q. Recently, we reported that LOH on 10q25-qter is often associated with abrupt morphologic transition from low-grade or anaplastic astrocytoma to a highly malignant, undifferentiated glioblastoma phenotype lacking glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) expression (Fujisawa et al, 1999).

The present study is the first to demonstrate unequivocally that LOH#10 occurs at a similar frequency in primary and secondary glioblastomas but that the patterns of allelic loss are different. Entire loss of chromosome 10 was typical for primary glioblastomas, whereas partial LOH on 10q was characteristic for secondary glioblastomas. This pattern is consistent with the observation in this and previous studies (Lang et al, 1994; Leenstra et al, 1998; von Deimling et al, 1992) that glioblastomas with *EGFR* amplification, a genetic hallmark of primary glioblastomas, typically show complete loss of chromosome 10.

Several transformation-associated genes have been identified on 10q, including *PTEN* at 10q23.3 (Li et al,

1997; Steck et al, 1997), LGI1 at 10q24 (Chernova et al, 1998), BUB3 at 10q24-q26 (Cahill et al, 1999), MXI1 at 10g25.1 (Eagle et al, 1995), hours-neu at 10g25.1 (Nakamura et al, 1998), abLIM or LIMAB1 at 10q25.1 (Kim et al, 1997; Roof et al, 1997) and DMBT1 at 10g26.1 (Mollenhauer et al, 1997). The PTEN gene, which encodes a protein with homology to the catalytic domain of tyrosine phosphatase and to the cytoskeletal proteins tensin and auxilin (Li et al, 1997; Steck et al, 1997), is mutated frequently in glioblastomas (Boström et al. 1998; Chiariello et al, 1998; Duerr et al, 1998; Fults et al, 1998; Maier et al, 1998; Tohma et al, 1998; Wang et al, 1997), prostate carcinomas (Cairns et al, 1997; Suzuki et al, 1998), and endometrial carcinomas (Risinger et al, 1997; Tashiro et al, 1997). We previously reported that mutations in the PTEN gene, which is located on 10q23, are common (32%) in primary but rare (4%) in secondary glioblastomas (Tohma et al, 1998). DMBT1 is deleted frequently in glioblastomas (Mollenhauer et al, 1997; Somerville et al, 1998) but DMBT1 mutations have not vet been identified. Although growth suppression has been observed after microcell-mediated transfer of chromosome fragments from 10p14-15 into T98G glioblastoma cells (Kon et al, 1998), the putative tumor suppressor gene at this locus has not yet been identified.

The present study suggests that the involvement of different tumor suppressor gene(s) on chromosome 10 is between primary and secondary glioblastoma. Tumor suppressor gene(s) on chromosome 10p may play an important role in the evolution of primary, but not secondary, glioblastomas. Alternatively, the more extensive deletion on chromosome 10 in primary, rather than in secondary glioblastomas may result from greater chromosomal instability in primary glioblastomas of chromosomal deletion, except for the general assumption that it is probably attributed to chromosomal instability caused by the disruption of mitotic checkpoints (Lengauer et al, 1998) or premature mitosis involving damaged DNA (Paulovich et al, 1997).

In conclusion, this study shows that LOH on chromosome 10 is more extensive in primary glioblastomas, rather than in secondary gliobastomas. Primary glioblastomas are characterized by an entire loss of chromosome 10, whereas in secondary glioblastomas, LOH is restricted to chromosome 10q, suggesting that different tumor suppressor genes on this chromosome are involved in the development of these glioblastoma subtypes.

Materials and Methods

Tumor and Blood Samples

Seventeen primary and 13 secondary glioblastomas were obtained from the patients operated on in the Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital, Zü-rich, Switzerland. All patients with primary glioblastoma had a clinical history of <3 months and did not show any histologic or radiologic evidence of a pre-

cursor lesion, whereas all patients with secondary glioblastoma had surgeries for low-grade astrocytoma >6 months before the second operation for glioblastoma. Seventeen patients were men and 13 were women (Table 1). Tumors were fixed in formalin, embedded in paraffin for routine histopathologic analysis, and were classified according to the WHO grading system (Kleihues et al, 1993).

For all primary glioblastomas and two secondary glioblastomas (cases 72 and 295), aliquots of tumors were frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C until DNA extraction. Genomic DNA was extracted using TRIZOL Reagent (GIBCO BRL, Cergy Parroise, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Matched peripheral blood samples of these cases were obtained and DNA was extracted using QIAamp DNA Blood Kit (QIAGEN, Courtaboeuf, France).

For the cases in which frozen tissues were not available (low-grade astrocytoma and secondary glioblastomas, except for cases 72 and 295), DNA was extracted from paraffin sections (Brüstle et al, 1992; Fujisawa et al, 1999). In two secondary glioblastomas (cases 57 and 68), DNA was also extracted from the peritumoral brain tissue in paraffin sections. In case 72, DNA was extracted from paraffin-embedded, lowgrade astrocytoma, frozen glioblastoma, and blood samples.

Analysis of LOH on Chromosome 10

LOH on chromosome 10 was studied by PCR-based microsatellite analysis (Fujisawa et al, 1999). Twentyeight microsatellite loci were selected to cover chromosome 10, including reported common deletions on 10p14-pter (Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Kimmelman et al, 1996; Kon et al, 1998; Sonoda et al, 1996; Voesten et al, 1997), 10q23-24 (Albarosa et al, 1996; Fults et al, 1998; Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996), and 10q25-gter (Albarosa et al, 1996; Fults et al. 1998; Ichimura et al, 1998; Karlbom et al, 1993; Maier et al, 1997; Rasheed et al, 1995; Sonoda et al, 1996). All microsatellite markers were purchased from Research Genetics (Huntsville, AL); all were dinucleotide repeats, except for D10S1435 (tetranucleotide repeats). The size range and heterozygosity of each marker were obtained from the Genome Database (http://gdbwww.gdb.org/). The genetic map and distances of chromosome 10 were obtained from the enhanced location database at ftp://cedar.genetics.soton.ac.uk/pub/chrom 10/gmap (Collins et al, 1996).

For all primary glioblastomas and two secondary glioblastomas, DNA from peripheral blood samples from the same patient was used as a reference, whereas for secondary glioblastomas except for two cases, DNA samples from low-grade astrocytoma from the respective patients were used as a reference. After PCR amplification, the allelic pattern for each marker was determined by comparing the electrophoretic pattern of DNA from glioblastoma with that of

Fujisawa et al

reference DNA, ie, blood DNA or DNA samples extracted from low-grade astrocytoma. PCR was performed according to the instructions of Research Genetics with minor modifications. Briefly, 10 ng of DNA (1 µl) samples of fresh-frozen tumors and blood samples or 1 μ l of DNA solution from paraffin sections were subjected to PCR with 2 μ l of 5× PCR buffer. 200 µM of each dNTP, 6 pmol of each sense and antisense primer, 1 μ Ci of [α -³³P]-dCTP (ICN Biomedicals, specific activity 3000 Ci/mmol), 0.225 units of Tag polymerase (Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, Missouri), and 1.5 mm of MgCl₂ in a final volume of 10 µl, with an initial denaturation of 95° C for 2 minutes, followed by 30 cycles (DNA from frozen tumors and blood sample) or 35 cycles (DNA from paraffin sections) of denaturation at 94° C for 45 seconds, annealing at 57° C for 45 seconds and polymerization at 72° C for 1 minute, and a final extension at 72° C for 7 minutes, using a Genius DNA Thermal Cycler (Techne, Cambridge, United Kingdom). PCR products were mixed with an equivalent volume of the denaturing solution containina 95% formamide, 20 mM EDTA, 0.05% xylene cvanol, and 0.05% bromophenol blue. Immediately after heating at 95° C for 5 minutes, 4 μ l of the mixture was loaded onto a 7% polyacrylamide/7 M of urea sequencing gel. Gels were run at 70 watts (W) for 3 to 6 hours, dried at 80° C, and autoradiographed for 24 to 96 hours. Gels were also exposed to Storage Phosphor screens (Molecular Dynamics, Sunnyvale, California). LOH was scored when signal intensity was reduced in glioblastoma by >50% of reference DNA, which was measured by densitometry (Bio-Rad model GS-670) or by a Phosphorimager (Molecular Dynamics).

Other Genetic Alterations

The genetic alterations in secondary glioblastomas, except for two cases, were reported previously (Tohma et al, 1998; Watanabe et al, 1996) (Table 1). For all primary glioblastomas and two cases of secondary glioblastomas (cases 72 and 295), the following genetic analyses were carried out.

PCR-SSCP Analysis and Direct DNA Sequencing for p53 and PTEN Mutations. Prescreening for mutations by PCR-SSCP analysis was carried out, as previously described in exons 5–8 of the *p53* gene (Watanabe et al, 1996) and in exons 1–9 of the *PTEN* gene (Reis et al, 1999; Tohma et al, 1998; Watanabe et al, 1998). Samples which showed mobility shifts in the SSCP gels were further analyzed by direct DNA sequencing (Reis et al, 1999; Tohma et al, 1998; Watanabe et al, 1999; Tohma et al, 1998; Watanabe et al, 1999).

Differential PCR for EGFR Amplification. To detect EGFR amplification, differential PCR was carried out, using the cystic fibrosis (CF) gene as a reference (Hunter et al, 1995), with some modifications (Tohma et al, 1998). The mean EGFR/CF ratio, using normal blood DNA sampling, was 1.11 with a standard variation of 0.11. An EGFR/CF ratio >2.6 was regarded as evidence of EGFR amplification (Rollbrocker et al, 1996). One primary glioblastoma, which showed

Statistical Analyses

Fisher's exact test was carried out to analyze the contingency table for frequency of *EGFR* amplification, *p53* and *PTEN* mutations, and LOH#10 between primary and secondary glioblastomas.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by a grant from the Foundation for Promotion of Cancer Research, Japan.

References

Albarosa R, Colombo BM, Roz L, Magnani I, Pollo B, Cirenei N, Giani C, Conti AMF, DiDonato S, and Finocchiaro G (1996). Deletion mapping of gliomas suggests the presence of two small regions for candidate tumor-suppressor genes in a 17-cM interval on chromosome 10q. Am J Hum Genet 58:1260–1267.

Boström J, Cobbers JMJL, Wolter M, Tabatabai G, Weber RG, Lichter P, Collins VP, and Reifenberger G (1998). Mutation of the *PTEN (MMAC1)* tumor suppressor gene in a subset of glioblastomas but not in meningiomas with loss of chromosome arm 10q. Cancer Res 58:29–33.

Brüstle O, Ohgaki H, Schmitt HP, Walter GF, Ostertag H, and Kleihues P (1992). Primitive neuroectodermal tumors after prophylactic central nervous system irradiation in children. Association with an activated K-*ras* gene. Cancer 69:2385–2392.

Cahill DP, da Costa LT, Carson-Walter EB, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, and Lengauer C (1999). Characterization of *MAD2B* and other mitotic spindle checkpoint genes. Genomics 58:181–187.

Cairns P, Okami K, Halachmi S, Halachmi N, Esteller M, Herman JG, Jen J, Isaacs WB, Bova GS, and Sidransky D (1997). Frequent inactivation of *PTEN/MMAC1* in primary prostate cancer. Cancer Res 57:4997–5000.

Chernova OB, Somerville RPT, and Cowell JK (1998). A novel gene, *LGI1*, from 10q24 is rearranged and downregulated in malignant brain tumors. Oncogene 17:2873–2881.

Chiariello E, Roz L, Albarosa R, Magnani I, and Finocchiaro G (1998). *PTEN/MMAC1* mutations in primary glioblastomas and short-term cultures of malignant gliomas. Oncogene 16:541–545.

Collins A, Frezal J, Teague J, and Morton NE (1996). A metric map of humans: 23:500 loci in 850 bands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:14771–14775.

Duerr EM, Rollbrocker B, Hayashi Y, Peters N, Meyer-Puttlitz B, Louis DN, Schramm J, Wiestler OD, Parsons R, Eng C, and von Deimling A (1998). *PTEN* mutations in gliomas and glioneuronal tumors. Oncogene 16:2259–2264.

Eagle LR, Yin X, Brothman AR, Williams BJ, Atkin NB, and Prochownik EV (1995). Mutation of the *MXI1* gene in prostate cancer. Nat Genet 9:249–255.

Fujisawa H, Kurrer M, Reis RM, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, and Ohgaki H (1999). Acquisition of the glioblastoma phenotype during astrocytoma progression is associated with LOH on chromosome 10g25-gter. Am J Pathol 155:387–394. Fults D, Pedone CA, Thompson GE, Uchiyama CM, Gumpper KL, Iliev D, Vinson VL, Tavtigian SV, and Perry III WL (1998). Microsatellite deletion mapping on chromosome 10q and mutation analysis of *MMAC1*, *FAS*, and *MXI1* in human glioblastoma multiforme. Int J Oncol 12:905–910.

Galanis E, Buckner JC, Dinapoli RP, Scheithauer BW, Jenkins RB, Wang CH, O'Fallon JR, and Farr G Jr (1998). Clinical outcome of gliosarcoma compared with glioblastoma multiforme: North Central Cancer Treatment Group results. J Neurosurg 89:425–430.

Gray IC, Phillips SMA, Lee SJ, Neoptolemos JP, Weissenbach J, and Spurr NK (1995). Loss of the chromosomal region 10q23–25 in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 55:4800– 4803.

Herbst RA, Weiss J, Ehnis A, Cavenee WK, and Arden KC (1994). Loss of heterozygosity for 10q22–10qter in malignant melanoma progression. Cancer Res 54:3111–3114.

Hunter SB, Abbott K, Varma VA, Olson JJ, Barnett DW, and James CD (1995). Reliability of differential PCR for the detection of EGFR and MDM2 gene amplification in DNA extracted from FFPE glioma tissue. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 54:57–64.

Ichimura K, Schmidt EE, Miyakawa A, Goike HM, and Collins VP (1998). Distinct patterns of deletion on 10p and 10q suggest involvement of multiple tumor suppressor genes in the development of astrocytic gliomas of different malignancy grades. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 22:9–15.

Isshiki K, Elder DE, Guerry D, and Linnenbach AJ (1993). Chromosome 10 allelic loss in malignant melanoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 8:178–184.

Karlbom AE, James CD, Boethius J, Cavenee WK, Collins VP, Nordenskjöld M, and Larsson C (1993). Loss of heterozygosity in malignant gliomas involves at least three distinct regions on chromosome 10. Hum Genet 92:169–174.

Kim AC, Peters LL, Knoll JHM, van Huffel C, Ciciotte SL, Kleyn PW, and Chishti AH (1997). Limatin (*LIMAB1*), an actin-binding LIM protein, maps to mouse chromosome 19 and human chromosome 10q25, a region frequently deleted in human cancers. Genomics 46:291–293.

Kimmelman AC, Ross DA, and Liang BC (1996). Loss of heterozygosity of chromosome 10p in human gliomas. Genomics 34:250–254.

Kleihues P, Burger PC, and Scheithauer BW, editors (1993). Histological typing of tumours of the central nervous system. In: World Health Organization international histological classification of tumours. New York, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Verlag.

Kleihues P and Ohgaki H (1999). Primary and secondary glioblastomas: From concept to clinical diagnosis. Neuro-Oncology 1:44–51.

Kon H, Sonoda Y, Kumabe T, Yoshimoto T, Sekiya T, and Murakami Y (1998). Structural and functional evidence for the presence of tumor suppressor genes on the short arm of chromosome 10 in human gliomas. Oncogene 16:257–263.

Lang FF, Miller DC, Koslow M, and Newcomb EW (1994). Pathways leading to glioblastoma multiforme: A molecular analysis of genetic alterations in 65 astrocytic tumors. J Neurosurg 81:427–436.

Lantos PL, VandenBerg SR, and Kleihues P (1996). Tumours of the nervous system. In: Graham DI and Lantos PL, editors. Greenfield's neuropathology. London: Arnold, 583–879. Leenstra S, Oskam NT, Bijleveld EH, Bosch DA, Troost D, and Hulsebos TJM (1998). Genetic sub-types of human malignant astrocytoma correlate with survival. Int J Cancer 79:159–165.

Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, and Vogelstein B (1998). Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature 396:643–649.

Li J, Yen C, Liaw D, Podsypanina K, Bose S, Wang SI, Puc J, Miliaresis C, Rodgers L, McCombie R, Bigner SH, Giovanella BC, Ittmann M, Tycko B, Hibshoosh H, Wigler MH, and Parsons R (1997). *PTEN*, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. Science 275:1943–1947.

Maier D, Comparone D, Taylor E, Zhang Z, Gratzl O, Van Meir EG, Scott RJ, and Merlo A (1997). New deletion in low-grade oligodendroglioma at the glioblastoma suppressor locus on chromosome 10q25–26. Oncogene 15:997–1000.

Maier D, Zhang Z, Taylor E, Hamou MF, Gratzl O, Van Meir EG, Scott RJ, and Merlo A (1998). Somatic deletion mapping on chromosome 10 and sequence analysis of *PTEN/MMAC1* point to the 10q25–26 region as the primary target in low-grade and high-grade gliomas. Oncogene 16:3331–3335.

Mollenhauer J, Wiemann S, Scheurlen W, Korn B, Hayashi Y, Wilgenbus KK, von Deimling A, and Poustka A (1997). *DMBT1*, a new member of the SRCR superfamily, on chromosome 10q25.3–26.1 is deleted in malignant brain tumours. Nat Genet 17:32–39.

Morita R, Saito S, Ishikawa J, Ogawa O, Yoshida O, Yamakawa K, and Nakamura Y (1991). Common regions of deletion on chromosomes 5q, 6q, and 10q in renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 51:5817–5820.

Moschonas NK, Spurr NK, and Mao J (1996). Report of the first international workshop on human chromosome 10 mapping 1995. Cytogenet Cell Genet 72:99–112.

Nakamura H, Yoshida M, Tsuiki H, Ito K, Ueno M, Nakao M, Oka K, Tada M, Kochi M, Kuratsu J, Ushio Y, and Saya H (1998). Identification of a human homolog of the *Drosophila neuralized* gene within the 10q25.1 malignant astrocytoma deletion region. Oncogene 16:1009–1019.

Paulovich AG, Toczyski DP, and Hartwell LH (1997). When checkpoints fail. Cell 88:315–321.

Peiffer SL, Herzog TJ, Tribune DJ, Mutch DG, Gersell DJ, and Goodfellow PJ (1995). Allelic loss of sequences from the long arm of chromosome 10 and replication errors in endometrial cancers. Cancer Res 55:1922–1926.

Rasheed BKA, McLendon RE, Friedman HS, Friedman AH, Fuchs HE, Bigner DD, and Bigner SH (1995). Chromosome 10 deletion mapping in human gliomas: A common deletion region in 10q25. Oncogene 10:2243–2246.

Reis RM, Konu-Lebleblicioglu D, Lopes JM, Kleihues P, and Ohgaki H (In Press, 1999). Genetic profile of the gliosarcoma. Am J Pathol

Rempel SA, Schwechheimer K, Davis RL, Cavenee WK, and Rosenblum ML (1993). Loss of heterozygosity for loci on chromosome 10 is associated with morphologically malignant meningioma progression. Cancer Res 53:2386–2392.

Ried T, Petersen I, Holtgreve-Grez H, Speicher MR, Schröck E, du Manoir S, and Cremer T (1994). Mapping of multiple DNA gains and losses in primary small cell lung carcinomas by comparative genomic hybridization. Cancer Res 54:1801–1806.

Risinger JI, Hayes AK, Berchuck A, and Barrett JC (1997). *PTEN/MMAC1* mutations in endometrial cancers. Cancer Res 57:4736-4738.

Rollbrocker B, Waha A, Louis DN, Wiestler OD, and von Deimling A (1996). Amplification of the cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (*CDK4*) gene is associated with high cdk4 protein levels in glioblastoma multiforme. Acta Neuropathol 92:70–74.

Roof DJ, Hayes A, Adamian M, Chishti AH, and Li T (1997). Molecular characterization of abLIM, a novel actin-binding and double zinc finger protein. J Cell Biol 138:575–588.

Simon M, von Deimling A, Larson JJ, Wellenreuther R, Kaskel P, Waha A, Warnick RE, Tew JM, and Menon AG (1995). Allelic losses on chromosomes 14:10, and 1 in atypical and malignant meningiomas: A genetic model of meningioma progression. Cancer Res 55:4696–4701.

Somerville RPT, Shoshan Y, Eng C, Barnett G, Miller D, and Cowell JK (1998). Molecular analysis of two putative tumour suppressor genes, *PTEN* and *DMBT*, which have been implicated in glioblastoma multiforme disease progression. Oncogene 17:1755–1757.

Sonoda Y, Murakami Y, Tominaga T, Kayama T, Yoshimoto T, and Sekiya T (1996). Deletion mapping of chromosome 10 in human glioma. Jpn J Cancer Res 87:363–367.

Speaks SL, Sanger WG, Masih AS, Harrington DS, Hess M, and Armitage JO (1992). Recurrent abnormalities of chromosome bands 10q23–25 in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 5:239–243.

Steck PA, Pershouse MA, Jasser SA, Yung WKA, Lin H, Ligon AH, Langford LA, Baumgard ML, Hattier T, Davis T, Frye C, Hu R, Swedlund B, Teng DHF, and Tavtigian SV (1997). Identification of a candidate tumour suppressor gene, *MMAC1*, at chromosome 10q23.3 that is mutated in multiple advanced cancers. Nat Genet 15:356–362.

Suzuki H, Freije D, Nusskern DR, Okami K, Cairns P, Sidransky D, Isaacs WB, and Bova GS (1998). Interfocal heterogeneity of *PTEN/MMAC1* gene alterations in multiple metastatic prostate cancer tissues. Cancer Res 58:204–209. Tashiro H, Blazes MS, Wu R, Cho KR, Bose S, Wang SI, Li J, Parsons R, and Ellenson LH (1997). Mutations in *PTEN* are frequent in endometrial carcinoma but rare in other common gynecological malignancies. Cancer Res 57:3935–3940.

Tohma Y, Gratas C, Biernat W, Peraud A, Fukuda M, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, and Ohgaki H (1998). *PTEN* (*MMAC1*) mutations are frequent in primary glioblastomas (de novo) but not in secondary glioblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 57:684–689.

Voesten AMJ, Bijleveld EH, Westerveld A, and Hulsebos TJM (1997). Fine mapping of a region of common deletion on chromosome arm 10p in human glioma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 20:167–172.

von Deimling A, Louis DN, von Ammon K, Petersen I, Hoell T, Chung RY, Martuza RL, Schoenfeld DA, Yasargil MG, Wiestler OD, and Seizinger BR (1992). Association of epidermal growth factor receptor gene amplification with loss of chromosome 10 in human glioblastoma multiforme. J Neurosurg 77:295–301.

Wang SI, Puc J, Li J, Bruce JN, Cairns P, Sidransky D, and Parsons R (1997). Somatic mutations of *PTEN* in glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Res 57:4183–4186.

Watanabe K, Peraud A, Gratas C, Wakai S, Kleihues P, and Ohgaki H (1998). p53 and PTEN gene mutations in gemistocytic astrocytomas. Acta Neuropathol 95:559–564.

Watanabe K, Tachibana O, Sato K, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, and Ohgaki H (1996). Overexpression of the EGF receptor and *p53* mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 6:217– 224.

Weber RG, Sabel M, Reifenberger J, Sommer C, Oberstrasse J, Reifenberger G, Kiessling M, and Cremer T (1996). Characterization of genomic alterations associated with glioma progression by comparative genomic hybridization. Oncogene 13:983–994.

PAPER III

XPRESS COMMUNICATION

ii M. Reis ∙ Mitsutoshi Nakamura ∙ Jun Masuoka ikao Watanabe • Stefano Colella isuhiro Yonekawa • Paul Kleihues • Hiroko Ohgaki

lutation analysis of *hBUB1, hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes glioblastomas

ceived: 24 November 2000 / Accepted: 18 January 2001 / Published online: 29 March 2001 Springer-Verlag 2001

bstract Glioblastomas, the most malignant human brain mors, are characterized by marked aneuploidy, suggestg chromosomal instability which may be caused by a fective mitotic spindle checkpoint. We screened 22 ioblastomas for mutations in the mitotic spindle checkint genes hBUB1, hBUBR1 and hBUB3. DNA sequencg revealed a silent mutation at codon 144 of hBUB1 $AG \rightarrow CAA$, $Gln \rightarrow Gln$) in one glioblastoma, a silent utation at codon 952 of *hBUBR1* (GAC \rightarrow GAT, $p \rightarrow Asp$) in another glioblastoma, and a silent mutation at don 388 of the *hBUBR1* gene (GCG \rightarrow GCA, Ala \rightarrow Ala) 8 glioblastomas. We also observed a known polymornism at *hBUBR1* codon 349 (CAA/CGA, Gln/Arg), with allelic frequency of 0.75 for Gln and 0.25 for Arg, hich is similar to that among healthy Caucasian individ-Is (0.73 vs 0.27). The coding sequence of the hBUB3ne did not contain any mutation, but in 4 glioblastomas 8%), a C \rightarrow T point mutation was detected at position –6 nucleotides upstream of the ATG initiator codon). nalysis of blood DNA of these patients showed identical quence alterations, indicating that this is a polymorhism. Again, the frequency in glioblastomas was similar that in healthy Caucasians (15%). We further screened BUB1 in 18 cases of giant cell glioblastoma, a variant aracterized by a predominance of bizarre, multinucleed giant cells. There were no changes, except for a silent utation at codon 144 in two cases. These results suggest at mutations in these mitotic spindle checkpoint genes o not play a significant role in the causation of chromomal instability in glioblastomas.

M. Reis · M. Nakamura · J. Masuoka · T. Watanabe

Colella · P. Kleihues · H. Ohgaki (•)

ternational Agency for Research on Cancer,

0 cours Albert Thomas, 69372 Lyon Cedex 08, France mail: ohgaki@iarc.fr,

el.: +33-472-738534, Fax: +33-472-738564

. Yonekawa

he Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital Zurich, 991 Zurich, Switzerland

Keywords Mitotic checkpoint · *hBUB1/hBUBR1/hBUB3* · Glioblastoma · Giant cell glioblastoma · Polymorphism

Introduction

Genetic instability is a critical phenomenon in the development of malignant human neoplasms and occurs in two different forms, microsatellite instability and chromosomal instability [22, 24, 27, 37]. In subsets of colorectal, gastric and endometrial cancers, defective mismatch repair results in increased mutation rates at the nucleotide level and, consequently, widespread microsatellite instability [22, 24, 27, 37]. Tumors with microsatellite instability usually have a normal complement of chromosomes, i.e., a diploid or near-diploid karyotype [27]. In most other neoplasms, including brain tumors, genetic instability is typically observed at the chromosomal level and may involve gain and loss of whole chromosomes, leading to aneuploidy [27, 35]. The molecular basis of chromosomal instability is not yet fully understood, but one possible mechanism is disruption of the mitotic checkpoint [27, 35], i.e., a conserved function that delays anaphase in the presence of spindle damage [40], so as to increase the probability of successful delivery of an euploid genome to each daughter cell.

Three mitotic-arrest-deficient (*MAD*) genes, *Mad1*, *Mad2*, and *Mad3* [14, 15, 28], three budding-uninhibitedby-benzimidazole (*BUB*) genes, *Bub1*, *Bub2*, and *Bub3*, [15, 39] and *MPS1* [15, 28, 48] have been identified as being required for the execution of the mitotic checkpoint in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Several human homologues have been identified, including *hMPS1* (TTK/ MPS1L1 located on chromosome 6q13–21) [6], *hMAD1L1* (on chromosome 7pter-7p15) [6, 19], *hMAD2* (*hMAD2L1*, on chromosome 4q27) [29], *hMAD2B* (*hMAD2L2*, on chromosome 1p36) [6], *hBUB1* (on chromosome 15q14) [5, 8] and *hBUB3* (on chromosome 10q24–26) [6, 25].

Mutational inactivation of mitotic spindle checkpoint genes appears to be involved in the evolution of some human neoplasms, in particular those with aneuploidy.

Cahill et al. [5] detected hBUB1 and hBUBR1 mutations in 2 each of 19 colon cancer cell lines with chromosomal instability. Mutations in the hBUB1 gene were shown to act in a dominant-negative manner, if the exogenous expression of the mutant allele disrupts the mitotic checkpoint in euploid cell lines [5]. A somatic mutation in the hBUB1 gene was identified in 1 of 32 sporadic digestive tract cancers [16], in 2/148 lung cancers [12, 41], and in 1/10 cases of 10 adult T cell leukemia/lymphomas [34] that, in addition, contained hBUBR1 missense mutations and deletion in 3 cases. In contrast, no hBUB1 mutation was found in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas and lung cancer cell lines [49]. hBUB1 and hBUBR1 mutations were also reported absent in 19 aneuploid breast cancer cell lines [31]. hBUBR1 mutations were not found in 47 lung cancers [41]. In addition, no hBUB3 mutation was detected in 19 colon cancer cell lines [5], suggesting that mutational inactivation of these checkpoint genes is a rare event in carcinomas and malignant lymphomas.

Glioblastomas are highly an euploid tumors and frequently show loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on several chromosomes [3, 7, 11, 30, 38, 46, 47] in up to 90% of cases. LOH has frequently been observed on chromosome 10q, where *hBUB3* is located. The objective of the present study was to assess whether mutational inactivation of the *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes is involved in the evolution of the glioblastoma phenotype.

Material and methods

Tumor samples

Twenty-two glioblastomas (WHO grade IV) were obtained from patients at the Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital Zurich, Switzerland. Two glioblastomas (cases 72 and 295) were secondary glioblastomas that had progressed from low-grade astrocytoma. Other glioblastomas were primary (*de novo*) glioblastomas with a clinical history of less than 3 months. The age and sex of the patients are shown in Table 4. Twelve patients were males and ten were females. The mean age of patients at diagnosis was 55±12 years (range 28–71 years).

Tumor samples were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C. RNA and DNA were simultaneously extracted from the same portions (about 200 mg) of tumors using the TRIZOL (Gibco BRL, Cergy Pontoise, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

The sources of 18 formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded specimens of giant cell glioblastomas were reported previously [36]. Tumor samples included only typical cases showing a predominance of multinucleated monstrous, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-positive tumor cells in at least one large area of the biopsy specimens. The occurrence of occasional giant cells in a glioblastoma was not considered diagnostic for this variant. Eleven patients were males and 7 were females. The mean age of patients was 42±20 years (range 9–78 years).

hBUB1 mutations

Screening for *hBUB1* mutations was performed by polymerase chain reaction-single-strand confirmational polymorphism (PCR-SSCP) analysis using genomic DNA. PCR amplification of the 25 exons was performed using the primers described in Table 1. Briefly, PCR was performed in a total volume of 10 µL containing 1 µL DNA solution, 0.75 U Taq DNA polymerase (Sigma, St. Louis, Mo.), 0.5 μ Ci [α -³³P]dCTP (ICN Biomedicals, N.V.S./ Belgium: specific activity, 3,000 Ci/mmol), 1.5–2.5 mM MgC 0.2 mM of each dNTP, 0.2 μ M of both sense and antisen primers, 10 mM TRIS-HCl, pH 8.3, and 50 mM KCl. PCR amp fication was performed in a Genius DNA Thermal Cycler (Techn Cambridge, UK) as follows: initial denaturation for 2 min at 95° 35–40 cycles with denaturation at 95°C for 1 min, annealing 50–58°C for 1 min and extension at 72°C for 1 min, followed by final extension step for 5 min at 72°C. After PCR, 5 μ l of the pro uets was mixed with 12.5 μ l of loading buffer (95% formamid 20 mM EDTA, 0.05% xylene cyanol and bromophenol blue), d natured at 95°C for 10 min, and quenched on ice. Of the abor mixture 4 μ l was run on a 6% polyacrylamide non-denaturing g containing 6% glycerol at 6 W for 14 h. Gels were dried at 80° and autoradiographed for 12–48 h.

Samples which showed mobility shifts in the SSCP analys were further analyzed by direct DNA sequencing. PCR produc were purified on MicroSpinTM S-300 HR Columns (Pharmac Biotech, Uppsala) and sequenced using the Thermo Sequenase R diolabeled Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit (USB, Clevelan USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

hBUBR1 mutations

First-strand cDNA of the *hBUBR1* gene was synthesized as fo lows: 5 µg of total RNA in a total volume of 10 µl was heated 70°C for 10 min and then incubated at 42°C for 50 min followin addition of 10 µl of a mixture containing 1x 1st strand cDN buffer (Gibco BRL), 10 mM DTT, 1 mM dNTPs, 25 µg oligo-d primers and 200 U moloney murine leukemia virus reverse tra scriptase (M-MuLV RT, Gibco BRL), cDNA samples were the made up to 40 µl with distilled water and kept at -20° C.

Pre-screening for hBUBR1 mutations was carried out by PCF SSCP analysis. The entire coding region of the 3,583-bp hBUBK cDNA was amplified as 14 overlapping fragments. PCR was pe formed in a total volume of 10 µl, containing 0.5 µl cDNA solu tion, 0.75 U Taq DNA polymerase (Sigma), 0.5 μCi [α-33P] dCT (ICN Biomedicals, specific activity, 3,000 Ci/mmol), 1.5 ml MgCl₂, 0.2 mM of each dNTP, 0.2 μM of sense and antisens primers, 10 mM TRIS-HCl, pH 8.3, and 50 mM KCl, in a Thern Cycler (Stratagene, La Jolla, Calif.) as follows: initial denaturation for 2 min at 95°C, 35-40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 1 mir annealing at 50-58°C for 1 min followed by extension at 72°C fo 1 min, and a final extension step for 5 min at 72°C. Primer se quences are shown in Table 2. After PCR, 5 µl of products we mixed with 12.5 µl loading buffer (95% formamide, 20 ml EDTA, 0.05% xylene cyanol and bromophenol blue), denatured 95°C for 10 min, and quenched on ice. Samples of the above mi ture (4 µl) were run on a 6% polyacrylamide non-denaturing g containing 6% glycerol at 6 W for 14 h. Gels were dried at 80° and autoradiographed for 12-48 h. Samples that showed mobilit shifts in the SSCP analysis were further analyzed by direct DN sequencing as described above.

A polymorphism at codon 349 (CAA/CGA, Gln/Arg) was de tected in this study. To assess whether particular alleles are ove represented in glioblastomas, we also analyzed blood DNA obtaine from 67 healthy caucasians individuals for this polymorphism.

hBUB3 mutations

First-strand cDNA of the *hBUB3* gene was synthesized as de scribed above.

Pre-screening for *hBUB3* mutations was carried out by PCR SSCP analysis. The entire coding region of the 1,078-bp *hBUB* cDNA was amplified as 5 overlapping fragments. Primer sc quences are shown in Table 3. Briefly, PCR was performed in a to tal volume of 10 µl, containing 0.5 µl cDNA solution, 0.75 U Ta DNA polymerase (Sigma), 0.5 µCi [α -³³Pl dCTP (ICN Biomec icals, specific activity, 3,000 Ci/nmol), 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM d each dNTP, 0.2 µM of sense and antisense primers, 10 mM TRIS HCl, pH 8.3, and 50 mM KCl, in a Thermo Cycler (Stratagene, L **Table 1** Primers used forSSCP analyses of the *hBUB1*gene

| Exon | | Primer sequence | Annealing temperature (°C) | Product (bp) |
|------|--------------------|--|-------------------------------|-----------------|
| 1 | Sense Antisense | TTCTAGTTTGCGGTT TGAAGGACATTTTCC | 48 | 75 |
| 2 | Sense Antisense | GAAGTATATCTTTTGCTTGTAGAA GGGGCAGTGTATAGTTTGTT | 52 | 175 |
| 3 | Sense Antisense | TAAACAAACTATACACTGCC AAAGCAAAAGTACAACATGA | 48 | 248 |
| 4 | Sense Antisense | TTTTTGTTTTGTTCGTGT ATCACAGAGAGTTTGACTTTGTAAC | 56 | 247 |
| 5 | Sense Antisense | ATTGATGCCTTTTCTGCTGT GCATTTTAGAAAGCCTGATT | 52 | 94 |
| 6 | Sense Antisense | ATTATGTGATAATTTTACTTAC AAAGTGGATGTAGAAGGCAG | 53 | 250 |
| 7 | Sense Antisense | TGTTTTGTGAAGTAATTTGG TAAGAGCACTTAAAGGAAAC | 54 | 179 |
| 8 | Sense Antisense | TGCTCTTAGGTACATTGTTG AAGAATAACTAAAAATACAAGATT | 48 | 264 |
| 9 | Sense Antisense | ATGCAAACCATTTCTATCTTTC CATGAGGAGCACAACATACC | 60 | 199 |
| 10 | Sense Antisense | GATGTAATGCCTGATTAGTAG CACATCACTGTGATCTCTAG | 54 | 370 |
| 11 | Sense Antisense | AGATCAAGCATTTATTCTCTAG AAAATACACCTCTGAGTGATAC | 54 | 177 |
| 12 | Sense Antisense | TTCTGATTTCCCTACTGATACCAC CATTAACTTGTCATCAGTGCTAC | 62 | 223 |
| 13 | Sense Antisense | TGATGACAAGTTAATGAAAGCTCT TTTCTGTGATAACCACCTATAATG | 56 | 231 |
| 14 | Sense Antisense | TGATATTAGTTCTTTTCTGTCAGCT CGGCAGCATCCCATTAAC | 58 | 254 |
| 15 | Sense Antisense | CAAGTGATAGCATTTATTTCCT GTAGGACCCATTTCATAGATAA | 58 | 183 |
| 16 | Sense Antisense | CTTCTTTAATCCTCATTTCTTTGG GAATCAAAGTTGGCAGAAGAC | 61 | 331 |
| 17 | Sense Antisense | ATCTTGTCTCTAATTTTTGAATCT ACCAAATAAACCCTCACAAT | 52 | 139 |
| 18 | Sense Antisense | GGTTTCTTTATTCCTTTCACAC AAGGGCATAACAAAGAGTGAG | 62 | 297 |
| 19 | Sense Antisense | TTTTTTTTTTCTCATTCCTTT CGTTACCATCAACTTCTCATAG | 48 | 232 |
| 20 | Sense Antisense | TAAAATAAAAGGCGTACATAAA TCATACAAAATACAACTCAGGT | 48 | 192 |
| 21 | Sense Antisense | ATCATTTTTCAGAATACGAG ATTCATGTGCTCATCATAA | 55 | 248 |
| 22 | Sense Antisense | AACTCAGGATTCCACTTT AACCCTGTTAAAAGCATA | 56 | 215 |
| 23 | Sense Antisense | ATAGCAGCCTTTCATCATTTGT TATTTCCAAGTCCCTCACTTTA | 60 | 261 |
| 24 | Sense Antisense | CATCTTGATATAGTCATGTGTA TTAGTTATTCTCTTTTCACTAC | 44 | 226 |
| 25 | Sense Antisense | ATCCTGCATATTGAAGGCTAC CAGTGTGATTTTTAAGGACTG | 56 | 289 |

Jolla, Calif.) as follows: initial denaturation for 2 min at 95°C, 35–40 cycles with denaturation at 95°C for 1 min, annealing at 58°C for 1 min and extension at 72°C for 1 min, followed by a final extension for 5 min at 72°C. Samples which showed mobility

shifts in the SSCP analysis were further analyzed by direct DNA sequencing as described above.

A polymorphism at position -6 was detected in glioblastomas in this study. To assess the allelic frequency, we checked for the Table 2Primers used forSSCP of the hBUBR1 gene

| Fragment | | Primer sequence | Annealing temperature (°C) | Product (bp) |
|----------|--------------------|--|-------------------------------|-----------------|
| 1 | Sense Antisense | CGGAAGAAAGCCCAGGCGGT AGGGTCATTTCCAGTGTAA | 58 | 298 |
| 2 | Sense Antisense | CAAGAATCTGCCTGTAACA AAAGGCTCATTGCATAAAC | 54 | 269 |
| 3 | Sense Antisense | AGAAAAACGATATTATAGTGA TCCTCCTCTTCTTCTTCTC | 50 | 312 |
| 4 | Sense Antisense | CAGCACCGACAATTCCAAGC TAGAAGCCTCATCAGCATTT | 56 | 277 |
| 5 | Sense Antisense | CCTCAACAGATGCAAAATAA TGGTGTCATAACTGGCTGT | 58 | 279 |
| 6 | Sense Antisense | CTCGTGGCAATACAGCTTC CTTTGCTCTTTTAATTTCT | 50 | 316 |
| 7 | Sense Antisense | TTTATGCAGGAGTAGGGGA AGTCATTCCTGGTATTTTC | 50 | 272 |
| 8 | Sense Antisense | TACAAAGGAGACAACTAAA ATTCATCACAAACATCTGG | 53 | 323 |
| 9 | Sense Antisense | TCAAAACCTCAGAAAGCAT AATAATTGGGCTCAGCTTC | 53 | 338 |
| 10 | Sense Antisense | CAGCTTGTGGCACTATCTA TCCTTCTCAATTTCCAACT | 52 | 313 |
| 11 | Sense Antisense | TATAGAAGACAGACCAATG GAAGATCCTGAAGGGTGAA | 51 | 311 |
| 12 | Sense Antisense | TGGCTGTATTGTTTGGCAC CGCTGAGGGTAAAAACATC | 58 | 296 |
| 13 | Sense Antisense | TTCCTACAGTGTTGACCTT AGCTCCCCAAGAACAGACA | 56 | 309 |
| 14 | Sense Antisense | CTGAATGCCAATGATGAGG TAAATTACAGCACATACAG | 54 | 236 |

Table 3 Primers used forSSCP analyses of the *hBUB3*gene

^aA denotes pair of primers for part of genomic 5' region

| Fragmo | ent | Primer sequence | Annealing temperature (°C) | Product (bp) |
|--------|--------------------|--|-------------------------------|-----------------|
| Aª | Sense Antisense | GCGAGTGGCGAGTAGTGGAA CCCGTCCCGCACACC | 58 | 78 |
| 1 | Sense Antisense | CGTTGCTTCTGAGGGGAG ATCTAGTCCTCCACTCCAGGC | 58 | 252 |
| 2 | Sense Antisense | GCCTTCTACGATCCAACGC GGTCTCCAGACACTGAGAGGG | 58 | 259 |
| 3 | Sense Antisense | TCCTTGTAATGCTGGGACCT TTCTGTACCTCAGGGCTTGG | 58 | 267 |
| 4 | Sense Antisense | CCGAGTGGCAGTTGAGTATTT CGTAGTCCCATCATTACTGAAGG | 58 | 268 |
| 5 | Sense Antisense | GGTACCCCACGAGCATCG ATCCACCATTGGGGAGTACG | 58 | 234 |

presence of this variant at genomic level in blood DNA obtained from 60 healthy caucasians individuals.

Results

hBUB1 mutations

The PCR-SSCP analysis of all 25 exons of the *hBUB1* gene revealed a silent mutation at codon 144 (CAG \rightarrow CAA,

 $Gln \rightarrow Gln$) in one of 22 glioblastomas (case 300, Table 4 and Fig. 1) and in 2 out of 18 giant cell glioblastomas. In all cases, the wild-type base G was also present.

hBUBR1 mutations

SSCP followed by DNA sequencing of the entire coding sequence of *hBUBR1* revealed a silent mutation (GAC \rightarrow GAT, Asp \rightarrow Asp) at codon 952 in one glioblas
 Table 4 Genetic alterations in mitotic checkpoint genes in glioblastomas

| Patient ID | Age/sex | hBUB1 alteration | hBUBR1 alteration | hBUB3 alteration | |
|------------|---------|-------------------------|-------------------|----------------------|---|
| | | | Codon 349 | Other codon | |
| 72 | 28/F | _ | Gln/Arg | | Position –6, C \rightarrow T ^a |
| 201 | 63/M | _ | Gln/Arg | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | |
| 233 | 59/M | - | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | - |
| 234 | 43/M | _ | Gln/Arg | - | - |
| 256 | 56/F | | Gln/Gln | | - |
| 257 | 50/M | - | Gln/Arg | - | Position –6, C \rightarrow T ^a |
| 258 | 65/F | - | Gln/Gln | GAC→GAT, Asp→Asp 952 | Position –6, $C \rightarrow T^{b}$ |
| 287 | 47/F | <u>6.10</u> | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | - |
| 288 | 69/M | - | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | - |
| 289 | 58/F | _ | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | |
| 290 | 63/F | - | Gln/Gln | - | 75 |
| 292 | 62/M | <u></u> | Gln/Arg | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | |
| 295 | 47/M | - | Gln/Gln | | 1000 C |
| 296 | 63/F | - | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | |
| 298 | 30/M | - | Gln/Gln | | |
| 299 | 50/F | 12 | Gln/Gln | | - |
| 300 | 71/F | CAG→CAA, Gln→Gln 144 | Arg/Arg | - | _ |
| 301 | 68/F | 177 | Gln/Arg | | |
| 302 | 64/M | - | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | - |
| 303 | 67/M | - | Arg/Arg | | |
| 314 | 40/M | | Gln/Arg | | - |
| 344 | 47/M | 100 | Gln/Gln | - | Position –6, C \rightarrow T ^b |

^aHomozygous mutation

^bHeterozygous mutation



Fig. 1 Representative DNA sequencing autoradiographs of silent mutations in the *hBUB1* gene (codon 144, CAG \rightarrow CAA, Gln \rightarrow Gln) and the *hBUBR1* gene (codon 952, GAC \rightarrow GAT, Asp \rightarrow Asp), and C \rightarrow T change at –6 upstream of the initiator codon of the *hBUB3* gene. In cases 258 and 300, wild-type alleles are present, while in case 344, the wild-type allele is absent

toma and another silent mutation (GCG \rightarrow GCA, Ala \rightarrow Ala) at codon 388 in 8 glioblastomas (Fig. 1, Table 4).

We also identified a common polymorphism at codon 349 (CAA/CGA, Gln/Arg), with allelic frequencies of 0.75 for Gln and 0.25 for Arg in glioblastomas (Table 4).

These frequencies in glioblastomas were similar to those in blood DNA samples from healthy Caucasian individuals (0.73 for Gln and 0.27 for Arg).

hBUB3 mutations

A point mutation $(C \rightarrow T)$ was detected at 6 nucleotides upstream of the ATG initiator codon (position -6) in 4 of 22 (18%) glioblastomas (Table 4, Fig. 1). Of these, the wild-type base was also present together with the mutated sequence in 2 cases, whereas the other 2 showed only mutated sequences. The analysis of blood DNA from these 4 patients showed identical alterations to those detected in tumor tissues, indicating that this alteration is a polymorphism. Screening for this polymorphism in blood DNA from healthy Caucasian individuals revealed the presence of this mutation in 9/60 (15%) individuals, a similar frequency to that in the glioblastoma patients.

Discussion

Mitotic checkpoint genes play a significant role in chromosome segregation by preventing aneuploidy [1, 5, 13, 35, 40]. During mitosis, *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* proteins localize in kinetochores before chromosome alignment and form a checkpoint kinase complex with

other proteins. The hBuB1 and hBUBR1 genes encode protein kinases, while the hBUB3 protein is required for kinetochore localization of hBUB1 and hBUBR1 proteins [1, 17, 42, 45]. In Drosophila, BUB1 mutations cause chromosome missegregation and fail to block apoptosis [2]. In mice, BUB1 is required not only for checkpoint response to spindle damage but also for normal mitotic timing, and for initiation of apoptosis when an apoptotic signal is present [44]. A recent study showed that the BRCA2 gene, that is associated with inherited susceptibility to breast cancer and plays a role in replication and repair of DNA during S phase, is phosphorylated by hBUBR1 and may be involved in a mitotic checkpoint [10]. Bub1 mutations were found in three out of four thymic lymphomas that developed in Brca2-deficient mice, suggesting that inactivation of these genes works synergistically in development of these tumors [26]. Bub3-null mouse embryos do not survive [20]; the embryos showed accumulation of several mitotic errors in the form of micronuclei, chromatin bridging, lagging chromosomes and irregular nuclear morphology, confirming that Bub3 is essential for normal mitosis and for early embryonic development in mice [20].

In the present study, we investigated the status of the mitotic spindle checkpoint genes hBUB1, hBUBR1 and hBUB3 in glioblastomas. Screening of the entire coding sequence and intron-exon boundaries of the hBUB1 gene revealed a silent mutation at codon 144 (CAG \rightarrow CAA, Gln \rightarrow Gln) in one glioblastoma and two giant cell glioblastomas. Although we were unable to analyze normal tissue samples from these patients, this alteration is likely to be a polymorphism, since it has been previously reported in several colon tumors [6]. To date, seven different hBUB1 polymorphism have been reported in human tumor cell lines [6, 12, 41, 49]. It remains to be shown whether any particular polymorphism is over-represented in cancer patients.

The analysis of the hBUBR1 gene in this study showed two silent mutations at codons 952 and at 388, both of which have previously been detected in colon and lung tumors [6, 41], also suggesting a polymorphism. We found another polymorphism at codon 349 (CAA/CGA, Gln/ Arg), which has previously been reported in colon and breast carcinomas [6, 21]. The allelic frequencies of this variant in healthy individuals in Japan are 0.31 for Gln and 0.69 for Arg [21]. We found an opposite allelic pattern in glioblastomas (0.75 for Gln and 0.25 for Arg). However, our analysis of DNA from healthy Caucasian individuals showed a frequency similar to that observed in glioblastomas. This indicates that the frequency of these alleles varies significantly between ethnically different populations, but they are not over-represented in glioblastoma patients.

In the present study, $C \rightarrow T$ mutations were detected at 6 nucleotides upstream of the ATG initiator codon of the *hBUB3* gene in 4 glioblastomas. The same mutation was found in blood DNA of these patients, suggesting that this is a new polymorphism. We also carried out screening for this allelic variant in 60 healthy Caucasian individuals, and

found its frequency to be similar to that in glioblastomas, suggesting that the presence of this polymorphism does not influence susceptibility to development of glioblastomas.

LOH on chromosome 10, in particular, loss of the 10q25-qter region, is the most frequent genetic alteration in glioblastomas, suggesting the presence of putative tumor suppressor gene(s) [38]. The *hBUB3* gene is mapped on 10q24-q26 [6, 25, 45]. However, the absence of miscoding mutations in *hBUB3* in this study excludes *hBUB3* as a candidate tumor suppressor gene involved in the pathogenesis of glioblastomas. We correlated the data of base change at 6 bp upstream of initiating codon in *hBUB3* and LOH on chromosome 10 published previously [9], but did not find any correlation (data not shown).

Occasional multinucleated neoplastic giant cells are a common histological feature in glioblastomas [4, 23]. Giant cell glioblastomas are defined by the predominance of large bizarre, multinucleated giant cells measuring up to 500 μ m [33], with near-haploid or polyploid clones [4]. Our present results show that mutational inactivation of the *hBUB1* gene is not associated with giant cell phenotype. Due to unavailability of frozen samples for the generation of cDNA, we could not perform a mutational analysis of *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes.

In conclusion, this study shows absence of miscoding mutations in hBUB1, hBUBR1 and hBUB3 genes in human glioblastomas, suggesting that mutational inactivation of these genes is not significantly involved in the aneuploidy of glioblastomas. Additional studies may be necessary to clarify whether these genes are inactivated through other mechanisms. Jaffrey et al. [18] recently detected microsatellite instability within the hBUB1 gene in approximately 15% of colorectal cancers, raising the possibility that down-regulation of hBUB1 may occur through instability. It also remains to be elucidated whether alterations of other mitotic spindle checkpoint genes, including hMAD1, hMAD2, and MPS1, are present in glioblastomas. However, lung, colon and digestive tract human neoplasms have a very low frequency or absence of inactivating mutations of these genes [6, 16, 32, 43].

Acknowledgements This study was generously supported by a grant from the Foundation for Promotion of Cancer Research, Japan. We are grateful to Dr. Olga Sinilnikova, IARC, for providing the DNA samples from healthy Caucasian individuals. R.M.R. was supported by a grant from the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (PRAXIS XXI), Portugal.

References

- Amon A (1999) The spindle checkpoint. Curr Opin Genet Dev 9:69–75
- Basu J, Bousbaa H, Logarinho E, Li Z, Williams BC, Lopes C, Sunkel CE, Goldberg ML (1999) Mutations in the essential spindle checkpoint gene *bub1* cause chromosome missegregation and fail to block apoptosis in *Drosophila*. J Cell Biol 146: 13–28
- Bello MJ, Campos JM de, Kusak ME, Vaquero J, Sarasa JL, Pestana A, Rey JA (1994) Molecular analysis of genomic abnormalities in human gliomas. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 73: 122–129

- Bigner SH, Mark J, Bigner DD (1990) Cytogenetics of human brain tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 47:141–154
- Cahill DP, Lengauer C, Yu J, Riggins GJ, Willson JK, Markowitz SD, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1998) Mutations of mitotic checkpoint genes in human cancers. Nature 392:300– 303
- Cahill DP, Costa LT da, Carson-Walter EB, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Lengauer C (1999) Characterization of *MAD2B* and other mitotic spindle checkpoint genes. Genomics 58:181–187
- Campomenosi P, Ottaggio L, Moro F, Urbini S, Bogliolo M, Zunino A, Camoriano A, Inga A, Gentile SL, Pellegata NS, Bonassi S, Bruzzone E, Iannone R, Pisani R, Menichini P, Ranzani GN, Bonatti S, Abbondandolo A, Fronza G (1996) Study on aneuploidy and p53 mutations in astrocytomas. Cancer Genet.Cytogenet. 88:95–102
- Chan GK, Schaar BT, Yen TJ (1998) Characterization of the kinetochore binding domain of CENP-E reveals interactions with the kinetochore proteins CENP-F and hBUBR1. J Cell Biol 143:49–63
- Fujisawa H, Reis RM, Nakamura M, Colella S, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H (2000) Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 10 is more extensive in primary (de novo) than in secondary glioblastomas. Lab Invest 80:65–72
- Putamura M, Arakawa H, Matsuda K, Katagiri T, Saji S, Miki Y, Nakamura Y (2000) Potential role of BRCA2 in a mitotic checkpoint after phosphorylation by hBUBR1. Cancer Res 60: 1531–1535
- Ganju V, Jenkins RB, O'Fallon JR, Scheithauer BW, Ransom DT, Katzmann JA, Kimmel DW (1994) Prognostic factors in gliomas. A multivariate analysis of clinical, pathologic, flow cytometric, cytogenetic, and molecular markers. Cancer 74: 920–927
- Gemma A, Seike M, Seike Y, Uematsu K, Hibino S, Kurimoto F, Yoshimura A, Shibuya M, Harris CC, Kudoh S (2000) Somatic mutation of the *hBUB1* mitotic checkpoint gene in primary lung cancer. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 29:213–218
- Hardwick KG (1998) The spindle checkpoint. Trends Genet 14:1–4
- Hardwick KG, Murray AW (1995) Mad1p, a phosphoprotein component of the spindle assembly checkpoint in budding yeast. J Cell Biol 131:709–720
- Hoyt MA, Totis L, Roberts BT (1991) S. cerevisiae genes required for cell cycle arrest in response to loss of microtubule function. Cell 66:507–517
- 6. Imai Y, Shiratori Y, Kato N, Inoue T, Omata M (1999) Mutational inactivation of mitotic checkpoint genes, *hsMAD2* and *hBUB1*, is rare in sporadic digestive tract cancers. Jpn J Cancer Res 90:837–840
- 7. Jablonski SA, Chan GK, Cooke CA, Earnshaw WC, Yen TJ (1998) The hBUB1 and hBUBR1 kinases sequentially assemble onto kinetochores during prophase with hBUBR1 concentrating at the kinetochore plates in mitosis. Chromosoma 107: 386–396
- Jaffrey RG, Pritchard SC, Clark C, Murray GI, Cassidy J, Kerr KM, Nicolson MC, McLeod HL (2000) Genomic instability at the BUB1 locus in colorectal cancer, but not in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res 60:4349–4352
- Jin DY, Spencer F, Jeang KT (1998) Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 oncoprotein Tax targets the human mitotic checkpoint protein MAD1. Cell 93:81–91
- Kalitsis P, Earle E, Fowler KJ, Choo KH (2000) *Bub3* gene disruption in mice reveals essential mitotic spindle checkpoint function during early embryogenesis. Genes Dev 14:2277– 2282
- Katagiri T, Futamura M, Nakamura Y (1999) A Gln/Arg polymorphism at codon 349 of the *hBUBR1* gene. J Hum Genet 44: 131–132
- Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1996) Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell 87:159–170

- 23. Kleihues P, Burger PC, Collins VP, Newcomb EW, Ohgaki H, Cavenee WK (2000) Glioblastoma. In: Kleihues P, Cavenee WK (eds) Pathology and genetics of tumors of the nervous system. IARC Press, Lyon, pp 29–39
- Kolodner RD (1995) Mismatch repair: mechanisms and relationship to cancer susceptibility. Trends Biochem Sci 20:397– 401
- 25. Kwon TK, Hawkins AL, Griffin CA, Gabrielson E (2000) Assignment of BUB3 to human chromosome band 10q26 by in situ hybridization. Cytogenet Cell Genet 88:202–203
- 26. Lee H. Trainer AH. Friedman LS. Thistlethwaite FC, Evans MJ, Ponder BA, Venkitaraman AR (1999) Mitotic checkpoint inactivation fosters transformation in cells lacking the breast cancer susceptibility gene, *Brca2*. Mol Cell 4:1–10
- Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1998) Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature 396:643–649
- Li R, Murray AW (1991) Feedback control of mitosis in budding yeast. Cell 66:519–531
- Li Y, Benezra R (1996) Identification of a human mitotic checkpoint gene: *hsMAD2*. Science 274:246–248
- Louis DN (1997) A molecular genetic model of astrocytoma histopathology. Brain Pathol 7:755–764
- 31. Myrie KA, Percy MJ, Azim JN, Neeley CK, Petty EM (2000) Mutation and expression analysis of human BUB1 and BUB1B in aneuploid breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Lett 152:193–199
- 32. Nomoto S, Haruki N, Takahashi T, Masuda A, Koshikawa T, Takahashi T, Fujii Y, Osada H, Takahashi T (1999) Search for in vivo somatic mutations in the mitotic checkpoint gene, hMAD1, in human lung cancers. Oncogene 18:7180–7183
- 33. Ohgaki H, Peraud A, Nakazato Y, Watanabe K, Deimling A von (2000) Giant cell glioblastoma. In: Kleihues P, Cavenee WK (eds) Pathology and genetics of tumors of the nervous system. IARC Press, Lyon, pp 40–41
- 34. Ohshima K, Haraoka S, Yoshioka S, Hamasaki M, Fujiki T, Suzumiya J, Kawasaki C, Kanda M, Kikuchi M (2000) Mutation analysis of mitotic checkpoint genes (hBUB1 and hBUBR1) and microsatellite instability in adult T-cell leukemia/ lymphoma. Cancer Lett 158:141–150
- Orr-Weaver TL, Weinberg RA (1998) A checkpoint on the road to cancer. Nature 392:223–224
- Peraud A, Watanabe K, Schwechheimer K, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H (1999) Genetic profile of the giant cell glioblastoma. Lab Invest 79:123–129
- Perucho M (1996) Cancer of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. Biol Chem 377:675–684
- Rasheed BK, McLendon RE, Friedman HS, Friedman AH, Fuchs HE, Bigner DD, Bigner SH (1995) Chromosome 10 deletion mapping in human gliomas: a common deletion region in 10q25. Oncogene 10:2243–2246
- Roberts BT, Farr KA, Hoyt MA (1994) The Saccharomyces cerevisiae checkpoint gene BUB1 encodes a novel protein kinase. Mol Cell Biol 14:8282–8291
- Rudner AD, Murray AW (1996) The spindle assembly checkpoint. Curr Opin Cell Biol 8:773–780
- 41. Sato M, Sekido Y, Horio Y, Takahashi M, Saito H, Minna JD, Shimokata K, Hasegawa Y (2000) Infrequent mutation of the *hBUB1* and *hBUBR1* genes in human lung cancer. Jpn J Cancer Res 91:504–509
- 42. Seeley TW, Wang L, Zhen JY (1999) Phosphorylation of human MAD1 by the BUB1 kinase *in vitro*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 257:589–595
- 43. Takahashi T, Haruki N, Nomoto S, Masuda A, Saji S, Osada H, Takahashi T (1999) Identification of frequent impairment of the mitotic checkpoint and molecular analysis of the mitotic checkpoint genes. *hsMAD2* and *p55CDC*, in human lung cancers. Oncogene 18:4295-4300
- 44. Taylor SS. McKeon F (1997) Kinetochore localization of murine Bub1 is required for normal mitotic timing and checkpoint response to spindle damage. Cell 89:727–735
- 45. Taylor SS, Ha E, McKeon F (1998) The human homologue of Bub3 is required for kinetochore localization of Bub1 and a Mad3/Bub1-related protein kinase. J Cell Biol 142:1–11

- 304
- 46. Thiel G, Losanowa T, Kintzel D, Nisch G, Martin H, Vorpahl K, Witkowski R (1992) Karyotypes in 90 human gliomas. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 58:109–120
- 47. Van Meyel DJ, Ramsay DA, Casson AG, Keeney M, Chambers AF, Cairncross JG (1994) p53 mutation, expression, and DNA ploidy in evolving gliomas: evidence for two pathways of progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 86:1011–1017
- Weiss E, Winey M (1996) The Saccharomyces cerevisiae spindle pole body duplication gene MPS1 is part of a mitotic checkpoint. J Cell Biol 132:111–123
- 49. Yamaguchi K, Okami K, Hibi K, Wehage SL, Jen J, Sidransky D (1999) Mutation analysis of hBUB1 in aneuploid HNSCC and lung cancer cell lines. Cancer Lett 139:183–187

ERRATUM

Rui M. Reis · Mitsutoshi Nakamura · Jun Masuoka Takao Watanabe · Stefano Colella Yasuhiro Yonekawa · Paul Kleihues · Hiroko Ohgaki

Mutation analysis of *hBUB1*, *hBUBR1* and *hBUB3* genes in glioblastomas

Published online: 22 June 2001 © Springer-Verlag 2001

Acta Neuropathol (2001) 101:297-304

There were some mistakes in Table 4, which is therefore reprinted below.

| Table 4 | Genetic alterations | in mitotic checkpoint | genes in | glioblastomas |
|---------|---------------------|-----------------------|----------|---------------|
|---------|---------------------|-----------------------|----------|---------------|

| Patient ID | Age/sex | hBUB1 alteration | hBUBR1 alteratio | 'n | hBUB3 alteration |
|------------|---------|-------------------------|------------------|---|---|
| | | | Codon 349 | Other codon | |
| 72 | 28/F | - | Gln/Arg | | Position -6 , $C \rightarrow T^*$ |
| 201 | 63/M | | Gln/Arg | $GCG \rightarrow GCA$, Ala $\rightarrow Ala$ 388 | _ |
| 233 | 59/M | | Gln/Gln | $GCG \rightarrow GCA$, Ala \rightarrow Ala 388 | |
| 234 | 43/M | - | Gln/Arg | | 322 |
| 256 | 56/F | | Gln/Gln | _ | 12 |
| 257 | 50/M | - | Gln/Arg | - | Position -6 , $C \rightarrow T^*$ |
| 258 | 65/F | - | Gln/Gln | $GAC \rightarrow GAT$, $Asp \rightarrow Asp$ 952 | Position -6 , $C \rightarrow T^{\flat}$ |
| 287 | 47/F | - | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | - |
| 288 | 69/M | 1 — | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | |
| 289 | 58/F | - | Gln/Gln | $GCG \rightarrow GCA$, Ala \rightarrow Ala 388 | - |
| 290 | 63/F | - | Gln/Gln | in the second | |
| 292 | 62/M | - | Gln/Arg | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | - |
| 295 | 47/M | 2 | Gln/Gln | | |
| 296 | 63/F | 1 | Gln/Gln | $GCG \rightarrow GCA$, Ala \rightarrow Ala 388 | - |
| 298 | 30/M | 1 | Gln/Gln | | _ |
| 299 | 50/F | - | Gln/Gln | 6 <u>—</u> 39 | _ |
| 300 | 71/F | CAG→CAA, Gln→Gln 144 | Arg/Arg | - | - |
| 301 | 68/F | - | Gln/Arg | - | - |
| 302 | 64/M | - | Gln/Gln | GCG→GCA, Ala→Ala 388 | |
| 303 | 67/M | - | Arg/Arg | (a) provide the resonance of constant and a second seco | <u></u> |
| 314 | 40/M | - | Gln/Arg | - | <u></u> |
| 344 | 47/M | : : | Gln/Gln | - | Position –6, C \rightarrow T ^b |

Homozygous mutation

^bHeterozygous mutation

The online version of the original article can be found at http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s004010100366

R.M. Reis · M. Nakamura · J. Masuoka · T. Watanabe S. Colella · P. Kleihues · H. Ohgaki (🔊) International Agency for Research on Cancer, 150 cours Albert Thomas, 69372 Lyon Cedex 08, France e-mail: ohgaki@iarc.fr, Tel.: +33-472-738534, Fax: +33-472-738564

Y. Yonekawa

The Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital Zurich, 8091 Zurich, Switzerland

PAPER IV

Second Primary Glioblastoma

RUI M. REIS, BSC, RIITTA HERVA, MD, SEBASTIAN BRANDNER, MD, JOHN KOIVUKANGAS, MD, NIKOLAI MIRONOV, PHD, WALTER BÄR, MD, PAUL KLEIHUES, MD, AND HIROKO OHGAKI, PHD

Abstract. Although characterized by a highly variable phenotype and multiple genetic alterations, glioblastomas are considered monoclonal in origin. We here report on a 64-yr-old patient who developed a second glioblastoma in the left frontal lobe 10 yr after surgical resection of a glioblastoma of right frontal lobe. The first tumor contained 2 *p53* mutations, in codon 213 (CGA \rightarrow TGA, Arg \rightarrow stop) and codon 306 (CGA \rightarrow TGA, Arg \rightarrow stop), further, 1 missense *PTEN* mutation (codon 257, TTC \rightarrow TTA, Phe \rightarrow Leu) and a silent *PTEN* mutation (codon 154, TTC \rightarrow TTT, Phe \rightarrow Phe). The second glioblastoma also contained multiple, but different mutations: *p53* mutations in codons 158 (CGC \rightarrow CAC, Arg \rightarrow His) and 273 (CGT \rightarrow TGT, Arg \rightarrow Cys), and a *PTEN* mutation in codon 233 (CGA \rightarrow TGA, Arg \rightarrow Stop). Both neoplasms had a homozygous *p16* deletion. The discordant pattern of mutations indicates that the second glioblastoma was not a recurrence but an independent second glioblastoma. The presence in these neoplasms of multiple mutations in tumor suppressor genes suggests the involvement of a novel disease mechanism but there was no indication of a DNA mismatch repair deficiency or of an inherited tumor syndrome.

Key Words: p16 deletion; p53 mutation; PTEN mutation; Second primary glioblastoma.

INTRODUCTION

Glioblastomas are among the most malignant brain tumors and carry a poor prognosis. Despite considerable efforts aiming at a more efficient adjuvant radio- and chemotherapy, less than 2% of patients survive more than 3 yr (1). Following surgical resection, recurrent growth occurs typically within a few months. Although no systematic studies have been published on the genetics of such recurrences, it is generally assumed that they share with the first glioblastoma a common monoclonal origin. Changes in the pattern of histopathological features are sometimes observed in recurrent malignant gliomas but this may be due to the acquisition of additional genetic alterations resulting from genetic instability.

There appears to be no published evidence of the independent development of a second primary glioblastoma. We here report the case history of a patient who developed a second glioblastoma after an interval of 10 yr. Both neoplasms contained multiple, but different mutations in the tumor suppressor genes p53 and PTEN, excluding the possibility of a common monoclonal origin.

Case Report

The 54-yr-old male patient presented for 3–4 months with headache and temporal loss of memory. He had developed left-sided facial paresis 3 wk before the first visit to the hospital. His left eye did not close and the left

corner of the mouth was dropping. He was brought for the first time to the hospital after getting confused and being lost the whole day in his hometown. The cranial computed tomography (CT) revealed a large glioma in the right frontal lobe, which was only slightly enhanced by contrast medium and without evidence of extensive central necrosis (Fig. 1A). At the operation, a tumor with a large cyst was partially (approximately 75%) resected. Postoperative radiotherapy was first applied to the whole cranium from 2 opposite fields (2.0 Gy every weekday) for 3 wk (15 times). Three weeks later, the tumor area was treated locally with fractions of 2.0 Gy during 13 weekdays. The total dose to the tumor area was 56 Gy (5,600 cG). No chemotherapy was given and anti-epileptic treatment was suspended several years after the operation.

Histologically, the tumor was of glial origin with medium to high cellularity, marked nuclear atypia, and numerous hyperchromatic and multinucleated tumor cells (Fig. 2A). Abundant typical and atypical mitoses were observed. Marked focal microvascular proliferation with occasional formation of fentons was also observed. There were numerous small foci of pseudopalisading necrosis (Fig. 2B). In addition, there were foci of ischemic tumor necrosis with necrotic vessels and inflammatory response. The tumor infiltrated the adjacent brain tissue, without evidence of a less malignant lesion, e.g. low-grade diffuse astrocytoma. The MIB-1 labeling index was unusually high (40%). Histologically, there was no significant oligodendroglial component. A minor fraction of tumor cells showed a clearly recognizable cytoplasmic expression of GFAP (Fig. 2C). In some areas, there was an admixture of reactive astrocytes. Based on the presence of marked nuclear atypia, brisk mitotic activity, microvascular proliferation and necrosis, the tumor was diagnosed as glioblastoma (WHO grade IV).

From the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) (RMR, NM, PK, HO), Lyon, France; Departments of Pathology and Neurosurgery (RH, JK), University Hospital Oulu, Oulu, Finland; Institute of Neuropathology (SB), University Hospital Zürich, Zürich, and Institute of Legal Medicine (WB), University Zürich-Irchel, Zürich, Switzerland.

Correspondence to: Dr. Hiroko Ohgaki, Unit of Molecular Pathology, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 69372 Lyon, France.



Fig. 1. The CT revealed a large glioma in the right frontal lobe, which was only slightly enhanced by contrast medium but no evidence of extensive central necrosis in a 54-yr-old male patient (A). Ten years after the first operation, MRI showed a large glioblastoma predominantly in the left frontal lobe with contrast enhancement, central necrosis and perifocal edema (B).

Over a period of 9 yr after the first operation, CT or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) which were carried out every 1–2 yr, showed no significant change. Ten years after the first operation, the patient presented with memory loss, psychic changes, and aphasia. The MRI showed a large tumor predominantly in the left frontal lobe with extension into the corpus callosum, contrast enhancement, central necrosis and perifocal edema (Fig. 1B). A second surgery was performed and BCNU cytostat wafers were implanted.

Histologically, this tumor was a highly anaplastic astrocytic glioma with medium to high cellularity and marked nuclear atypia (Fig. 2D). A significant fraction of tumor cells showed a well-delineated cytoplasm with marked immunoreactivity to GFAP and peripherally located nuclei (gemistocytes, Fig. 2F). Mitoses were not very frequent, but the MIB-1 index varied focally from 5% to 40%. There were focal microvascular proliferations and large areas of ischemic necrosis (Fig. 2E). Some tumor areas lacked GFAP expression and stained positive for reticulin, but this was not extensive enough to justify the diagnosis of gliosarcoma. On the basis of its histopathological features, the tumor was diagnosed as glioblastoma (WHO grade IV) with a significant fraction of neoplastic gemistocytes. Again, there was no evidence of the presence of a less malignant precursor lesion. The patient died 3 days after the operation due to intracranial hemorrhage. The autopsy confirmed the presence of a glioblastoma with infiltration of the corpus callosum and extension into the right frontal lobe.

The family history was not remarkable. The patient's mother died at the age of 48 yr of tuberculosis and his father died at the age of 79 yr of prostate cancer. The patient had 9 sisters and brothers, none of whom developed cancer. His 3 children are alive and well.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Screening for p53 Mutations

DNA was extracted from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded histologic sections as previously described (2). Prescreening for mutations in exons 5–8 of the p53 gene was carried out by PCR-SSCP followed by direct sequencing. Briefly, PCR was carried out in final volume of 10 µl, with 2 µl DNA solution, 2.5 pmol of each primer, 0.24 mM of dNTP, 0.5 μCi of [α-3P]dCTP (ICN Biomedicals N.V. S.A. Belgium, specific activity, 3,000 Ci mmol), 10 mM Tris (pH 8.8), 50 mM KCl, MgCl, (1.5-2.5 mM) and 0.25 U of Tag polymerase (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). Forty cycles of denaturation (94°C) for 50 s, annealing (60°C for exons 6, 7 and 8, and 55°C for exon 5) for 60 s, and extension (72°C) for 70 s were carried out in a Genius DNA Thermal Cycler (Techne, Cambridge, UK). After PCR, 4 µl of PCR product were mixed with 10 µl loading buffer (95% formamide, 20 mM EDTA, 0.05% xylene cyanol and bromophenol blue), denatured at 95°C for 10 min and immediately loaded onto a 6% polyacrylamide nondenaturing gel containing 6% glycerol. Gels were run at 40 W for 3-5 h with cooling by fan at room temperature, dried at 80°C, and autoradiographed for 24-68 h. Samples that showed a mobility shift in the SSCP analyses were further analyzed by direct DNA sequencing. Primer sequences used for SSCP and DNA sequencing were described previously (3).

Screening for PTEN Mutations

PCR-SSCP followed by direct sequencing was carried out in exons 1–9 of the *PTEN* gene. Briefly, PCR was carried out with 1 µl of DNA solution, 1.5–2.5 pmol of each primer, 0.2 mM of dNTPs, 0.5 µCi of $|\alpha^{-33}P|$ -dCTP (ICN Biomedicals, specific activity, 3,000 Ci mmol), 10 mM Tris (pH 8.8), 50 mM KCl, MgCl₂ (1.5–2.5 mM) and 0.75–1.0 U of *Taq* polymerase (Sigma) in a final volume of 10 µl. PCR was performed in a robocycler 96 gradient temperature cycler (Stratagene GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany) with an initial denaturation step for 2 min at 95°C followed by 35 to 40 cycles of denaturation 95°C



Fig. 2. Histologic appearances of the first (A-C) and second (D-F) glioblastomas. The first glioblastoma with marked nuclear atypia and numerous hyperchromatic and multinucleated tumor cells (A), and with small foci of pseudopalisading necrosis (B). Immunohistochemistry shows significant fraction of tumor cells expressing GFAP (C). The second glioblastoma with marked nuclear atypia (D), and with ischemic necrosis (E). Note marked immunoreactivity to GFAP in a significant fraction of tumor cells (F).

for 60 s, annealing at 52–58°C for 50 s, extension at 72°C for 50 s. Primer sequences for PCR amplification were previously reported (4). After PCR, 4 μ l of PCR products were mixed with 10 μ l loading buffer (95% formamide, 20 mM EDTA, 0.05% xylene cyanol and bromophenol blue), denatured at 95°C for 10 min and immediately loaded onto a 6% polyacrylamide non-denaturing gel containing 6% glycerol. Gels were run at 40 W

for 3 to 5 h with cooling by fan at room temperature, dried at 80° C, and autoradiographed for 24–68 h.

Samples that showed a mobility shift in the SSCP analysis were further analyzed by direct DNA sequencing as previously described (5). Sequencing primers used were as follows: 5'-TAA AGC TGG AAA GGG ACG AA-3' (sense) and 5'-TAT CAT TAC ACC AGT TCG TC-3' (antisense) for

J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, Vol 60, February, 2001

exon 5; 5'-TGA CAG TTT GAC AGT TAA AG-3' (sense) and 5'-TGA AAT GAA AGT AAC CCT C-3' (antisense) for exon 7.

p16 Homozygous Deletion and EGFR Amplification

To detect p16 homozygous deletions, differential PCR was carried out using STS sequence as a reference, as described by Ueki et al (6), with some modifications (7). The primer sequences for differential PCR were as follows: 5'-ACAAGCTTC CTTTCCGTCAT (sense) and 5'-GCGCACGTCCAGCCG-CGCCCCGG (antisense) that amplify a 235 bp fragment of the 5' end of p16 exon 2, and 5'-ATTTCTGCCTGGAGA CAG-TGG (sense) and 5'-AGGCCTTGGGAGCCTCAGG (antisense) that amplify a 180 bp STS reference gene on the long arm of chromosome 9. After PCR, 15 µl of reaction product were electrophoresed on an 8% polyacrylamide gel and stained with ethidium bromide. Gels were photographed using Polaroid film and the intensity of the fragments was measured by means of a GS-670 densitometer (Bio-Rad, Ivry Sur Seine, France). The average p16/STS ratio using normal blood DNA was 1.04 with a standard variation of 0.15. Values of less than 0.2 for the p16/STS ratio indicated deletions of the p16 gene (7). Two primary glioblastomas, which showed a ratio of less than 0.2 in the previous study (7), served as positive controls for p16homozygous deletion.

EGFR amplification was detected by differential PCR as previously described (8) using cystic fibrosis (CF) sequence as a reference. The primer sequences were as follows: 5'-AGCCAT-GCCCGCATTAGCTC (sense) and 5'-AAAGGAATGCAA-CTTCCCAA (antisense) for *EGFR* and 5'-GGCACCATTAAA-GAAAATATCATCTT (sense) and 5'-GTTGGCATGCTTTGA-TGACGCTTC (antisense) for *CF* reference gene. The size of the PCR fragments were 110 bp for *EGFR* and 79 bp for *CF* gene. The mean *EGFR/CF* ratio using DNA from peripheral blood of healthy adults was 1.2 with a standard variation of 0.20. The threshold value 2.94 was regarded as evidence of *EGFR* amplification, according to Rollbrocker et al (9). One primary glioblastoma, which showed *EGFR* amplification in a previous study (8), was used as a positive control.

LOH of Chromosome 10 and 19

We analyzed the following microsatellite markers: D10S1779, D10S211, D10S587, D10S541, D10S1731, D10S212, D10S1700, D10S209, D10S216, D10S187, D10S1657 on chromosome 10, and D19S902, D19S246, D19S596, D19S178, D19S219, D19S412 on chromosome 19. PCR was performed as previously described (10, 11). These markers cover common deletion on chromosomes 10 and 19q (10-13). Briefly, PCR was carried out with 1 µl DNA solution, 5× PCR buffer, 6 pmol of each primer, 200 mM of each dNTP, 0.5 mCi of [a-33P]-dCTP (ICN Biomedicals, specific activity, 3,000 Ci mmol), 0.225 U of Taq polymerase (Sigma) in a final volume of 10 µl. PCR was carried out in a Genius DNA Thermal Cycler (Techne) with an initial denaturation step at 95°C for 2 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 45 s, annealing at 57°C for 45 s, extension at 72°C for 1 min, and a final extension at 72°C for 7 min. After PCR, 10 µl of loading buffer (95% formamide, 20 mM EDTA, 0.05% xylene cyanol and bromophenol blue) were mixed with PCR products, denatured at 95°C for 5 min, and immediately loaded onto a 6% polyacrylamide/7 M urea sequencing gel. Gels were run at 70 W for 3-5 h, dried at 80°C, and autoradiographed for 48–62 h.

Screening for Microsatellite Instability

Microsatellite instability was analyzed in the first and second glioblastomas. The markers used were as follows: Mfd1, Mfd84 located on chromosome 12, Mfd72 (chromosome X), MSH6 (2p21), BAX (19q13.3), MSH3 (5q11-q12), BAT25 (4q11-q12) and BAT26 (2p21). TGFβRII. The PCR was performed as previously described (14). Briefly, PCR was carried out in a total volume of 25 μ l containing 20 ng of DNA. 100 ng of each primer, 0.2 mM dCTP, 0.2 mM dGTP, 0.2 mM dTTP, 0.125 μ M dATP. 1mCi of [⁴⁰P]dATP. 0.75 U of Taq polymerase, and standard buffer. PCR was carried out for 5 cycles of 1 min at 93°C, 2 min at 58°C and 2 min at 72°C and additional 25 cycles with annealing temperature at 55°C. Aliquots of the PCR product were loaded onto a 8% polyacrylamide DNA sequencing gels. Gels were dried at 80°C and autoradiographed for 48–72 h.

Genetic Testing of Biopsies for Patient Identity

The following polymorphic markers were analyzed: SE33 (ACTBP2), TH01, D21S11, VWA, HumFES, D3S1358, FGA, TPOX, CSF1PO, D5S818, D13S317 and D7S820 (15–18). The PCR reactions were performed using 10 ng of template DNA. Electrophoresis was carried out on 6% denaturing polyacryl-amide gels at 1.600 V and 24 mA for 8 h. Analysis and fluorescent detection of the PCR products were carried out on an ABI 372A or an ABI 377 DNA Sequencer (Perkin Elmer).

RB Immunohistochemistry

The sections were deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated in graded ethanol. The endogenous peroxidase was blocked by incubation in 0.3% H₂O₂ solution in methanol for 30 min. After the sections were boiled 3 times for 5 min in 10 mM sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) in a microwave oven, the sections were allowed to cool at room temperature. The sections were then incubated overnight at 4°C with the RB monoclonal antibody (clone G3-245, PharMingen, San Diego, CA; diluted 1:100), which recognizes an epitope between amino acids 300–380 and both phosphorylated and underphosphorylated RB protein. The reaction was visualized using the Vectastain ABC Kit and diaminobenzidine (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA).

RESULTS

p53 Mutations

PCR-SSCP followed by direct sequencing revealed that first and second biopsies contain different p53 mutations (Table; Fig. 3). In the first biopsy, double p53 mutations were observed in codon 213 (CGA \rightarrow TGA, Arg \rightarrow stop) and in codon 306 (CGA \rightarrow TGA, Arg \rightarrow stop). On the second biopsy, double missense mutations were found in different codons, i.e. codon 158 (CGC \rightarrow CGA, Arg \rightarrow His) and codon 273 (CGT \rightarrow TGT, Arg \rightarrow Cys, Table; Fig. 3).

| Biopsy | First | Second | | | |
|----------------------|---|---|--|--|--|
| Age | 54 years | 64 years | | | |
| Diagnosis | Glioblastoma | Glioblastoma | | | |
| <i>p53</i> mutation | Exon 8, codon 306, CGA→TGA, Arg→Stop | Exon 8, codon 273, CGT \rightarrow TGT, Arg \rightarrow G | | | |
| ~ | Exon 6, codon 213, CGA→TGA, Arg→Stop | Exon 5, codon 158, CGC \rightarrow CAC, Arg \rightarrow | | | |
| PTEN mutation | Exon 7, codon 257, TTC→TTA, Phe→Leu | Exon 7, codon 233, CGA→TGA, Arg→ | | | |
| | Exon 5, codon 154, TTC \rightarrow TTT, Phe \rightarrow Phe | | | | |
| p16/STS ratio* | 0.03 (deletion) | 0.02 (deletion) | | | |
| EGFR/CF ratio* | 1.2 (no amplification) | 0.8 (no amplification) | | | |
| RB expression | No loss | No loss | | | |

 TABLE

 Multiple Genetic Alterations in the First and Second Primary Glioblastomas

* Values of less than 0.2 for the *p16/STS* ratio is considered to be homozygous deletion of the *p16* gene, and the three value 2.94 is regarded as evidence of *EGFR* amplification (see Materials and Methods).



Fig. 3. DNA sequencing autoradiographs for *p53* and *PTEN* mutations in first and second glioblastomas in the patient, that 2 tumors contain multiple and different mutations.

PTEN Mutations

The first and second biopsies contained different *PTEN* mutations (Table; Fig. 3). In the first biopsy, a missense mutation was detected in codon 257 (TTC \rightarrow TTA, Phe \rightarrow Leu) and a silence mutation (TTC \rightarrow TTT, Phe \rightarrow Phe) in codon 154. In the second biopsy, a nonsense mutation was found in codon 233 (CGA \rightarrow TGA, Arg \rightarrow stop, Table; Fig. 3).

p16 Deletion, EGFR Amplification, and RB Expression

p16 deletion was detected in both first and second tumors. *EGFR* amplification was not detected in either biopsy. Neoplastic cells in both first and second biopsies showed immunoreactivity to RB (Table).

LOH on Chromosomes 10 and 19q and Microsatellite Analysis

Of the 17 polymorphic markers analyzed, 12 (70%) were informative. There was no LOH on chromosome 10

J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, Vol 60, February, 2001

or on 19q. There was no evidence of allelic shift in the markers studied in both first and second gliobla mas, except for an allelic shift found in the first g blastoma, using marker D10S211.

Patient Identity

In order to exclude the remote possibility of a mista sample identity, we carried out a forensic DNA test of polymorphic DNA markers. Identical patterns were served in the first and second tumors for 11 of the markers analyzed except for a marker SE33. For marker SE33, 1 of the alleles displayed a length dience of 1 repeat, i.e. 29.2 instead of 30.2, suggestin mutational event in the second tumor. The mutation in SE33 for nontumorous tissue is 0.7% (19). The quency of the DNA profile is extremely rare: 1 in G $\times 10^{19}$, applying Caucasian allelic frequencies. The 1 lihood of the hypothesis assuming that the 2 tumors of inate from the same patient is therefore 6.46 $\times 10^{19}$ gr er than the hypothesis, assuming that the first and second tumor biopsy came from different individuals. Hence, it was confirmed that both biopsies were indeed from the same patient.

DISCUSSION

Several aspects of the case history of this patient are unusual. First, he survived a glioblastoma for 10 yr. This is exceptional, since the majority of patients dies within the first year and a recent population-based epidemiological study showed that less than 2% of glioblastoma patients survive more than 3 yr, irrespective of aggressive radio- and chemotherapy (1). Second, the patient developed a second glioblastoma in the opposite frontal lobe 10 yr later. Third, both glioblastomas contained multiple p53 and *PTEN* mutations. Most significantly, none of the mutations was present in both tumors. The occurrence of 2 or more p53 mutations has occasionally been observed (20–22) but 2 or more *PTEN* mutations are rare (5, 23). We know of no case with multiple p53 and *PTEN* mutations.

There is convincing evidence that p53 mutations are not lost during glioma progression; they typically constitute early genetic events and have been shown to persist during malignant progression (3, 20, 24, 25), metastatic spread (26), and long-term culture in vitro (27). Thus, the presence of multiple different mutations eliminates the possibility that the second glioblastoma constitutes a recurrence of the first tumor. In order to exclude the remote possibility of a mistaken sample identity, we carried out a forensic DNA test with polymorphic DNA markers and confirmed that both biopsies were indeed from the same patient.

Both glioblastomas developed clinically *de novo* after a short history and there was no evidence of a less malignant precursor lesion. Genetically, they displayed some features typical of primary (*de novo*) glioblastoma (*PTEN* mutations, p16 deletion) and others characteristic of secondary glioblastoma (p53 mutations, absence of EGFR amplification). This suggests that the underlying disease mechanism characterized by multiple mutations in transformation-associated genes puts these neoplasms into a separate category.

Since the patient received radiotherapy after the first surgery resection of the first glioblastoma, one may argue that the second glioblastoma was caused by ionizing radiation treatment (28). However, it is more likely that the development of the second tumor is associated with the genetic background of the patient since the first glioblastoma contained already multiple mutations and deletion of tumor suppressor genes.

To our knowledge, this is the first report of a second primary glioblastoma confirmed by genetic analyses. The development of 2 independent glioblastomas and the presence of multiple mutations in the p53 and PTEN

genes in both lesions suggest genetic instability as possible underlying cause. Genetic instability in human cancers exists at 2 different levels: nucleotide (microsatellite) and chromosomal instability (29). Microsatellite instability is characterized by the presence of random contraction or expansion in the length of simple sequence repeats, and is a key feature of the hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) syndrome (30). In HNPCC kindreds, the defect is associated with germline mutations in 1 of the mismatch repair genes hMSH2, hMLH1, hPMS1, or hPMS2 (31). Some sporadic tumors, including colorectal, gastric, and endometrial carcinomas also exhibit microsatellite instability in a significant fraction of cases. Genes commonly developing microsatellite instability through this mechanism include TGFRBII (32, 33), IG-FIIR (34), BAX (35), MSH3, and MSH6 (36). We carried out microsatellite analyses in the first and second glioblastoma of this patient, but failed to detect microsatellite instability, suggesting that the unusual pattern of multiple mutations in tumor suppressor genes are unrelated to known defects in DNA mismatch repair.

Another possible cause of instability at the nucleotide level is deficient nucleotide-excision repair that is mainly responsible for repairing damage caused by exogenous mutagens (29). Skin tumors are among the most frequent neoplasms in patients with nucleotide-excision repair defects (29), but the patient reported in this study did not show any sign of skin neoplasms.

It is notable that 6 of 7 point mutations detected in p53 or PTEN genes in glioblastomas from the present patient were G:C→A:T transitions, and of these, 5 were located at CpG sites (Table). This type of mutation is frequent in brain tumors (37) and is considered to be caused endogenously as a result of deamination of 5-methylcytosine, which occurs spontaneously in all cell types but is usually corrected by DNA repair mechanisms (38). Deamination of 5-methylcytosine generates a T:G mispair, and a thymine-DNA glycosylase (TDG) has been described that initiates T:G mismatch repair by specifically excising the mismatch T (39). Although mutations in the TDG gene have not yet been identified in human neoplasms (40, 41), decreased levels of mRNA expression were detected in pancreatic tumor cell lines (41) and a high frequency of LOH (42%) was observed in the TDG locus in gastric carcinomas (40). Recently, another thymine-DNA glycosylase, MBD4, was found to bind to the product of deamination at methylated CpG sites (39), suggesting that it acts as a new DNA repair gene. Riccio et al (42) detected somatic MBD4 mutations in colon (26%) and endometrial (22%) carcinomas with microsatellite instability. Similarly, Bader et al (43) reported somatic frameshift mutations in the MBD4 gene of sporadic colon cancers with mismatch repair deficiency.

It is notable that the present patient survived 10 yr after the first glioblastoma. In Turcot syndrome type 1, which is characterized by colorectal carcinoma and glioblastoma caused by germline mutations of DNA mismatch repair genes, the survival after surgical resection of the glioblastoma is often remarkably long when compared to patients with sporadic glioblastoma, suggesting that deregulation of mismatch repair is associated with a better prognosis (44). Sporadic colorectal and gastric carcinomas with microsatellite instability also carry a somewhat better prognosis (45, 46), possibly because the accumulated DNA damage rapidly rises above the threshold that activates apoptosis signaling pathways (47). Furthermore, mutations in certain genes may lead to the presentation of new surface molecules and thereby trigger a host immune response (46, 48).

Second primary tumors are considered to be rare, except in familial cancer syndromes and at organ sites with significant exposure to environmental carcinogens, e.g. esophagus and oropharynx following many years of excessive tobacco and alcohol consumption (49). There is currently no evidence of the causation of human brain tumors by exogenous carcinogens, with the exception of therapeutic X-irradiation (2). The patient described in this report did not receive radiotherapy before the development of the first glioblastoma.

In conclusion, this study provides genetic evidence of a second primary glioblastoma, both tumors being characterized by multiple mutations in tumor suppressor genes. The underlying disease mechanism may be novel and remains to be elucidated but the type of mutations identified points to an endogenous formation involving deamination of 5-methylcytosine rather than to causation by exogenous mutagenic agents.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was generously supported by a grant from the Foundation for Promotion of Cancer Research, Japan, R.M.R. was supported by a grant from the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia. (PRAXIS XXI), Portugal, We thank N. Lyandrat and M. Laval for excellent technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Scott JN, Rewcastle NB, Brasher PM, et al. Long-term glioblastoma multiforme survivors: A population-based study. Can J Neurol Sci 1998:25:197–201
- Brüstle O, Ohgaki H, Schmitt HP, Walter GF, Ostertag H, Kleihues P. Primitive neuroectodermal tumors after prophylactic central nervous system irradiation in children. Association with an activated K-ras gene. Cancer 1992;69:2385–92
- Watanabe K, Tachibana O, Sato K, Yonckawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Overexpression of the EGF receptor and *p53* mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 1996;6:217–24
- Watanabe K, Peraud A, Gratas C, Wakai S, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H, p53 and PTEN gene mutations in gemistocytic astrocytomas. Acta Neuropathol 1998;95:559–64
- Peraud A, Watanabe K, Schwechheimer K, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Genetic profile of the giant cell glioblastoma. Lab Invest 1999;79:123–29

- Ueki K, Ono Y, Henson JW, Efird JT, von Deimling A, Louis DN, CDKN2/p16 or RB alterations occur in the majority of glioblastomas and are inversely correlated. Cancer Res 1996;56:150–53
- Biernat W, Tohma Y, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H, Alterations of cell cycle regulatory genes in primary (*de novo*) and secondary glioblastomas. Acta Neuropathol 1997;94:303–9
- Tohma Y, Gratas C, Biernat W, et al. *PTEN (MMAC1)* mutations are frequent in primary glioblastomas (de novo) but not in secondary glioblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1998;57:684–89.
- Rollbrocker B, Waha A, Louis DN, Wiestler OD, von Deimling A, Amplification of the cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (*CDK4*) gene is associated with high cdk4 protein levels in glioblastoma multiforme. Acta Neuropathol 1996;92:70–74
- Fujisawa H, Kurrer M, Reis RM, Yonckawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Acquisition of the glioblastoma phenotype during astrocytoma progression is associated with LOH on chromosome 10q25-qter. Am J Pathol 1999;155:387–94
- Nakamura M, Yang F, Fujisawa H, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H, Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 19 in secondary glioblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2000;59:539–43
- Fujisawa H, Reis RM, Nakamura M, et al. Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 10 is more extensive in primary (*de novo*) than in secondary glioblastomas. Lab Invest 2000;80:65–72
- Smith JS, Alderete B, Minn Y, et al. Localization of common deletion regions on 1p and 19q in human gliomas and their association with histological subtype. Oncogene 1999;18:4144–52
- 14. Sasaki K, Mironov N, Yilmaz A, Lahm H, Odartchenko N, Yamasaki H. Malignant transformation of simian virus 40-immortalized human milk epithelial cells by chemical carcinogenesis accompanied by loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 1 but not microsatellite instability. Mol Carcinog 1998;23:20–24
- Polymeropoulos MH, Rath DS, Xiao H, Merril CR, Tetranucleotide repeat polymorphism at the human c-fcs/fps proto-oncogene (FES), Nucleic Acids Res 1991;19:4018
- Polymeropoulos MH, Rath DS, Xiao H, Merril CR, Tetranucleotide repeat polymorphism at the human beta-actin related pseudogene H-beta-Ac-psi-2 (ACTBP2). Nucleic Acids Res 1992;20:1432
- Sharma V, Litt M. Tetranucleotide repeat polymorphism at the D21S11 locus. Hum Mol Genet 1992;1:67
- Kimpton C, Walton A, Gill P. A further tetranucleotide repeat polymorphism in the vWF gene. Hum Mol Genet 1992;1:287
- Brinkmann B, Klintschar M, Neuhuber E, Huhne J, Rolf B, Mutation rate in human microsatellites: Influence of the structure and length of the tandem repeat. Am J Hum Genet 1998;62:1408–15
- Watanabe K, Sato K, Biernat W, et al. Incidence and timing of *p53* mutations during astrocytoma progression in patients with multiple biopsies. Clin Cancer Res 1997;3:523–30
- van Meyel DJ, Ramsay DA, Casson AG, Keeney M, Chambers AF, Cairncross JG, p53 mutation, expression, and DNA ploidy in evolving gliomas: Evidence for two pathways of progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 1994;86:1011–17
- Ishii N, Maier D, Merlo A, et al. Frequent co-alterations of TP53. p16/CDKN2A, p14³⁸⁰, PTEN tumor suppressor genes in human glioma cell lines. Brain Pathol 1999;9:469–79
- Risinger JI, Hayes K, Maxwell GL, et al. *PTEN* mutation in endometrial cancers is associated with favorable clinical and pathologic characteristics. Clin Cancer Res 1998;4:3005–10
- Reifenberger J, Ring GU, Gies U, et al. Analysis of p53 mutation and epidermal growth factor receptor amplification in recurrent gliomas with malignant progression. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1996; 55:822–31
- Sidransky D, Mikkelsen T, Schwechheimer K, Rosenblum ML, Cavence WK, Vogelstein B. Clonal expansion of p53 mutant cells is associated with brain tumour progression. Nature 1992;355:846–47

J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, Vol 60, February, 2001

- Reichel MB, Ohgaki H, Petersen I, Kleihues P, p53 mutations in primary human lung tumors and their metastases. Mol Carcinog 1994;9:105–9
- Anker L, Ohgaki H, Ludeke BI, Herrmann HD, Kleihues P, Westphal M, p53 protein accumulation and gene mutations in human glioma cell lines. Int J Cancer 1993;55:982–87
- Cavenee WK, Furnari FB, Nagane M, et al. Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas.In: Kleihues P, Cavenee WK, eds. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the nervous system. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000: 10–21
- Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature 1998;396:643–49
- Thibodeau SN, Bren G, Schaid D. Microsatellite instability in cancer of the proximal colon. Science 1993;260:816–19
- Karran P. Microsatellite instability and DNA mismatch repair in human cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 1996;7:15–24
- Markowitz S, Wang J, Myeroff L, et al. Inactivation of the type II TGF-β receptor in colon cancer cells with microsatellite instability. Science 1995;268:1336–38
- 33. Parsons R, Myeroff LL, Liu B, et al. Microsatellite instability and mutations of the transforming growth factor β type II receptor gene in colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 1995:55:5548–50
- Souza RF, Appel R, Yin J, et al. Microsatellite instability in the insulin-like growth factor II receptor gene in gastrointestinal tumours. Nat Genet 1996;14:255–57
- Rampino N, Yamamoto H, Ionov Y, et al. Somatic frameshift mutations in the BAX gene in colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype. Science 1997;275:967–69
- Malkhosyan S, Rampino N, Yamamoto H, Perucho M. Frameshift mutator mutations. Nature 1996;382:499–500
- Ohgaki H, Vital A, Kleihues P, Hainaut P, Li-Fraumeni syndrome and *TP53* germline mutations.In: Kleihues P, Cavenee WK, eds. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the nervous system. Lyon: IARC Press. 2000;231–34
- Hainaut P, Soussi T, Shomer B, et al. Database of p53 gene somatic mutations in human tumors and cell lines: Updated compilation and future prospects. Nucleic Acids Res 1997;25:151–57
- Hendrich B, Hardeland U, Ng HH, Jiricny J, Bird A. The thymine glycosylase MBD4 can bind to the product of deamination at methylated CpG sites. Nature 1999;401:301–4

- Schmutte C, Baffa R, Veronese LM, Murakumo Y, Fishel R, Human thymine-DNA glycosylase maps at chromosome 12q22-q24.
 A region of high loss of heterozygosity in gastric cancer. Cancer Res 1997;57:3010–15
- Yatsuoka T, Furukawa T, Abe T, et al. Genomic analysis of the thymine-DNA glycosylase (TDG) gene on 12q22-q24. 1 in human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Int J Pancreatol 1999;25:97–102
- Riccio A, Aaltonen LA, Godwin AK, et al. The DNA repair gene MBD4 (MED1) is mutated in human carcinomas with microsatellite instability [letter]. Nat Genet 1999;23:266–68
- Bader S, Walker M, Hendrich B, et al. Somatic frameshift mutations in the *MBD4* gene of sporadic colon cancers with mismatch repair deficiency. Oncogene 1999;18:8044–47
- Cavenee WK, Burger PC, Van Meir EG, Turcot syndrome.In: Kleihues P, Cavenee WK, eds. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the nervous system. Lyon: IARC Press, 2000;238–39
- Papadopoulos N, Nicolaides NC, Wei YE et al. Mutation of a mutL homolog in hereditary colon cancer. Science 1994;263:1625–29
- Kim H, Jen J, Vogelstein B, Hamilton SR. Clinical and pathological characteristics of sporadic colorectal carcinomas with DNA replication errors in microsatellite sequences. Am J Pathol 1994;145: 148–56
- Cahill DP, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Lengauer C, Genetic instability and darwinian selection in tumours. Trends Cell Biol 1999; 9:M57–M60
- Bodmer W, Bishop T, Karran P. Genetic steps in colorectal cancer. Nat Genet 1994;6:217–19
- Morita M, Kuwano H, Ohno S, et al. Multiple occurrence of carcinoma in the upper aerodigestive tract associated with esophageal cancer: Reference to smoking, drinking and family history. Int J Cancer 1994;58:207–10

Received June 5, 2000 Revision received November 17, 2000 Accepted November 20, 2000

PAPER V

Short Communication

Genetic Profile of Gliosarcomas

Rui M. Reis,* Dilek Könü-Lebleblicioglu,[†] Jose Manuel Lopes,[‡] Paul Kleihues,* and Hiroko Ohgaki*

From the International Agency for Research on Cancer,⁸ Lyon, France: the Department of Neurosurgery,¹ University Hospital, Zurich, Switzerland; and the Institute of Pathology and Molecular Immunology,¹ Medical Faculty of Porto, Porto, Portugal

There are distinct genetic pathways leading to the glioblastoma, the most malignant astrocytic brain tumor. Primary (de novo) glioblastomas develop in older patients and are characterized by epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor amplification/overexpression, p16 deletion, and PTEN mutations, whereas secondary glioblastomas that progressed from low-grade or anaplastic astrocytoma develop in younger patients and frequently contain p53 mutations. In this study, we assessed the genetic profile of gliosarcoma, a rare glioblastoma variant characterized by a biphasic tissue pattern with alternating areas displaying glial and mesenchymal differentiation. Single-strand conformation polymorphism followed by direct DNA sequencing revealed p53 mutations in five of 19 gliosarcomas (26%) and PTEN mutations in seven cases (37%). Homozygous p16 deletion was detected by differential polymerase chain reaction in seven (37%) gliosarcomas. The overall incidence of alterations in the Rb pathway (p16 deletion, CDK4 amplification, or loss of pRb immunoreactivity) was 53%, and these changes were mutually exclusive. Coamplification of CDK4 and MDM2 was detected in one gliosarcoma. None of the gliosarcomas showed amplification or overexpression of the EGF receptor. Thus gliosarcomas exhibit a genetic profile similar to that of primary (de novo) glioblastomas, except for the absence of EGFR amplification/overexpression. Identical PTEN mutations in the gliomatous and sarcomatous tumor components were found in two cases. Other biopsies contained p16 deletions, an identical p53 mutation, or coamplification of MDM2 and CDK4 in both tumor areas. This strongly supports the concept of a monoclonal origin of gliosarcomas and an evolution of the sarcomatous component due to aberrant mesenchymal differentiation in a highly

malignant astrocytic neoplasm. (Am J Pathol 2000, 156:425-432)

Glioblastoma multiforme (WHO Grade IV), the most frequent and malignant brain tumor, may arise de novo after a short clinical history without an identifiable less malignant precursor lesion. This type of glioblastoma has been designated primary glioblastoma. Secondary glioblastomas develop more slowly through progression from low-grade (WHO Grade II) or anaplastic astrocytoma (WHO Grade III).^{1,2} Primary glioblastomas typically arise in older patients (mean, 55 years), whereas secondary glioblastomas develop in younger patients (mean, 39 years).³ There is increasing evidence that these two subtypes develop through different genetic pathways. Primary glioblastomas are characterized by epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) amplification/overexpression, p16 deletion, and PTEN (MMAC1) mutations. Secondary glioblastomas typically contain p53 mutations but rarely have EGFR amplification/overexpression, p16 deletion, or PTEN mutation.2-5

We recently reported that the giant cell glioblastoma, a rare glioblastoma variant characterized by the presence of large, bizarre, multinucleated cells, occupies a hybrid position, sharing with primary (*de novo*) glioblastomas a short clinical history, the absence of a less malignant precursor lesion, and a 30% frequency of *PTEN* mutations. They have in common with secondary glioblastomas a younger patient age at manifestation and a high frequency of *p53* mutations.⁶

The gliosarcoma is another morphologically defined glioblastoma variant, originally described in 1895 by Stroebe et al.⁷ Gliosarcomas comprise approximately 2% of all glioblastomas^{8,9} and are characterized by a biphasic tissue pattern, with areas displaying glial and mesenchymal differentiation.^{10,11} Whereas morphological studies suggested an evolution of the sarcomatous component from microvascular proliferations within a highly malignant glioblastoma, two recent genetic studies revealed

Supported by a grant from the Foundation for Promotion of Cancer Research, Japan.

Accepted for publication November 26, 1999.

Address reprint requests to Dr. Hiroko Ohgaki, Unit of Molecular Pathology, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 69372 Lyon cedex 08, France, E-mail: ohgaki@iarc.fr.

the presence of identical *p53* mutations¹² and similar chromosomal imbalances and cytogenetic alterations¹³ in both tumor areas, suggesting a monoclonal origin. In this study, we screened 19 well-documented cases of gliosarcoma for a variety of genetic alterations in an attempt to identify the genetic profile of gliosarcoma as compared to other glioblastoma subtypes and to elucidate the histogenesis of the sarcomatous component present in this neoplasm.

Materials and Methods

Tumor Samples

The surgical specimens were obtained from a total of 19 patients diagnosed in the University Hospitals of Zürich (Switzerland), Porto (Portugal), and Ribeirão Preto, São Paulo (Brazil). Gliosarcomas were diagnosed according to the WHO classification of brain tumors.¹⁰ Care was taken to include only classical cases, showing the typical biphasic pattern with alternating areas of glial and mesenchymal differentiation. High-grade gliomas with a mesenchymal component that might have resulted from infiltration of the dura were excluded. The areas with glial differentiation usually expressed glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and showed necrosis and/or vascular endothelial proliferation. The sarcomatous portions showed strong reticulin staining as well as signs of malignant transformation (eq. nuclear atypia, mitotic activity, and necrosis: Figure 1). Glioblastomas with focal sarcomatous appearance but without reticulin staining were not included. The age and sex of patients are shown in Table 1. Eleven patients were male and eight were female (M/F ratio, 1.4). The mean age of patients at first diagnosis of gliosarcoma was 56 ± 12 years (range, 32-76 years).

In seven cases, we were able to microdissect the glial and mesenchymal areas (cases 210, 213, 214, 215, 218, 220, and 223), and DNA was extracted separately from these two portions. Areas were sufficiently large for manual dissection after microscopic identification and labeling of the respective tumor component.

Of 12 patients for whom we could obtain detailed clinical data, 10 were diagnosed with gliosarcoma at the first biopsy; the mean preoperative clinical history was 12 ± 16 weeks. In one case (case 221), the first biopsy was histologically classified as glioblastoma (preoperative history, 4 months), and the second biopsy as gliosarcoma. In another case (case 216), the first biopsy showed an anaplastic astrocytoma, the second biopsy a glioblastoma, and only the third biopsy showed the typical features of gliosarcoma.

Polymerase Chain Reaction-Single-Strand Conformational Polymorphism Analysis and Direct Sequencing for p53 Mutations

DNA was extracted as previously described.¹⁴ Mutations in exon 5–8 of the *p*53 gene were screened using polymerase chain reaction-single-strand conformational poly-



Figure 1. Histological features of gliosarcoma. The sarcomatous component shows a dense reticulin network (A) but lacks GEMP immunoreactivity, which is strongly expressed in the gliomatous component (B). Magnification, $\times 150$.

morphism (PCR-SSCP) as previously described.³ Samples that showed a mobility shift in the PCR-SSCP analysis were further analyzed by direct DNA sequencing. Primer sequences for PCR and DNA sequencing were described previously.³

PCR-SSCP Analysis and Direct DNA Sequencing for PTEN Mutations

Prescreening for mutations in exons 1-9 of the PTEN gene was carried out by PCR-SSCP as previously described.6 Samples that showed a mobility shift in the SSCP analysis were further analyzed by direct DNA sequencing as previously described.⁶ In some cases, individual abnormally shifted SSCP bands were cut directly from the dried gels, placed in 100 µl of distilled water. incubated at 80°C for 15 minutes and centrifuged briefly: 1 μ l of the supernatant was used for PCR. Sequencing primers used were as follows: 5'-CTC TCC TCC TTT TTC TTC A-3' (sense) and 5'-AGA AAG GTA AAG AGG AGC AG-3' (antisense) for exon 1: 5'-TTT CAG ATA TTT CTT TCC TTA-3' (sense) and 5'-TGA AAT AGA AAA TCA AAG CAT-3' (antisense) for exon 2; 5'-TAA AGC TGG AAA GGG ACG AA-3' (sense) and 5'-TAT CAT TAC ACC AGT TCG TC-3' (antisense) for exon 5: 5'-TTT TTT AGG

Table 1. Genetic Profile of Gliosarcomas

| | | | | | | DIFALMAN | e 16 lete | CDK4/ | MDM2/ | EGFR/ | lmn | nunohisto | chemis | try |
|---------------|---------|----------------------|----------|------|---|---|-----------|-------|---------------|--------------|---------|-----------|--------|-------------|
| Patient no | Age/sex | Biopsy/ diagnosis | Location | Area | ps3 miscoding mutation | mutation | ratio | ratio | ratio | ratio | p53 | MDM2 | EGFR | RB |
| 000 | 7004 | 101/05 | E. | ç | | | 0.38 | 0.95 | 1.17 | 1.25 | | + + | | + + |
| 206 | 72/M | 1st/GS | Ť | S | Exon 7-codon 245 (GGC→GAC, | | 0.04 | 0.63 | 0.79 | 0.8 | + + | | | + + |
| 207 | 55/F | 1st/GS | T.P | S | Exon 6-codon 197 (GTG→GTGTG, 2bp insertion, stop at | Exon 5-coden 111 (TGG→TAG, Trp→stop) | 0 44 | 1.06 | 1.02 | 0.99 | | | | +-+: |
| | | | | | codon 246} | | | | | | | | | |
| 208 | 76/F | 1st/GS | 0 | S | ·* | | 0.16 | 2.33 | 1.04 | 1 25 | | + | | + + |
| 209 | 32/M | 1st/GS | BS | S | | Exon 5-codor 88 (TAT→TCT, Tyr→Ser) | 0.51 | 1.30 | 1.03 | 0.94 | | +.+. | | +++ |
| 210 | 51/M | 1st/GS | Т | S | Exon 6-codon 190 (CCT→TCT, Prol→Ser) | | 1.10 | 0.92 | 1 40 | 0.96 | + + | + + | | |
| | 52/M | 2nd/GS | T | S | Exon 5-codon 151 (CCC→TCC. Prol→Ser) | | 0.32 | 0.83 | 1.22 | 1.08 | +++ | | | ++ |
| | | | | G | Exon 5-codon 151 (CCC→TCC, Prol→Ser) | | 0.50 | 0 44 | 0.78 | 0.85 | ++++ | | | - |
| 211 | 51/M | 1st/GS | Р | S | | | 0.17 | 1.34 | 1.49 | 1.67 | + + + | ÷ | | + + |
| 212 | 51/F | 1st/GS | T,O | S | nd | Exon 1-codon 17(CAA→CCA, Gin→Pro) | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| | 52/F | 2nd/GS | T,O | S | * | Exon 1-codon 17(CAA—CCA, Gln—Pro) | 0.31 | 0.95 | 0.88 | 0.76 | + + | + | + | ++ |
| 213 | 61/M | 1st/GS | | S | | 5 | 0.08 | 0.61 | 0.79 | 0.75 | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| | | | | G | | | 0.31 | 0.56 | 1.06 | 0.81 | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| 214 | 37/F | 1st/GS | Т | S | | | 0.04 | 0.74 | 0.59 | 1.23 | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| 215 | 43/F | 1st/GS | С | GS | | Exon 5-codon 107 (GAT-GCT, | 0.75 | 1.19 | 1.09 | 1.35 | ++ | + | | ++ |
| | | | | G | | Asp→Ala) Exon 5-codon 107 (GAT→GCT, Asp→Ala) | 0.65 | 1.08 | 1.02 | 0.83 | + + + | 4 | 10 | + + |
| 216 | 41/M | 1st/AA | T.P | G | | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| | 42/M | 2nd/GBN | A T | G | | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd | nd |
| | 42/M | 3rd/GS | B.S | S | Exon 8-codon 274 (GTT→GCT, Val→Ala) | | D.59 | 0.96 | 1.90 | 0.73 | +++ | ++ | | ++ |
| 217 | 52/M | 1st/GS | T | S | | | 0.33 | 2.3 | 1.43 | 0.83 | - | + | | + + + |
| 218 | 57/M | 1st/GS | Т | S | | Exon 8-codon 274 (TGG→TGA, Tro→stop) | 0.60 | 1.23 | 1.29 | 0.88 | ++ | + | | ++ |
| | | | | G | - | Exon 8-codon 274 (TGG→TGA, Trp→stop) | 0 78 | 1.24 | 1.47 | 1.28 | + + | + | | ++ |
| 219 | 67/M | 1st/GS | С | S | | Exon 8-codon 274 (TGC→TAC Trp→stop) | 0.17 | 0.34 | 0.49 | 0.58 | ++ | | | +++ |
| 220 | 63/F | 1st/GS | Т | S | | 800 | 0.62 | 3.08 | 5.78 | 1.15 | | +++ | | +++ |
| | | 0102-51 X | 1 | G | | | 0.45 | 3.44 | 9.24 | - 1.18 nd | nel | +++ | nd | t t t md |
| 221 | 56/M | 1st/GBM | P.O | G | nd | nd | 0.14 | nd | 110 1 0 96 | 0.83 | nd + | ++ | nd | +++ |
| 222 | 68/F | 2nd/GS 1st/GS | P.O T | S | Exon 7-codon 237 (ATG→ATA, | Exon 2-codon 48 (AAC→GAC | 0.8 | 3.10 |) 0.90 | 1.08 | ++ | | 1 | +++ |
| 202 | FOIF | 101/20 | т | C | ivie(→ne) | Astronapy | 0.48 | 0.7 | 0.74 | 1.13 | - | | | ++ |
| 223 | 00/h | 150/010 | | G | | | 0.58 | 0.80 | 0.68 | 3 1.06 | | | | + + |

*Previously reported by Biernat et al.¹² nd, not determined, —, negative; GS, gliosarcoma; GBM, glioblastoma multiforme; AA, anaplastic astrocytoma; S, sarcomatous component; G, gliomatous component; O, occipital; P, parietal; F, frontal; BS, brainstem; C, cerebrum. The results of immunchistochemistry were recorded as negative (-), positive in <5% of cells (+), in 5-50% of cells (++), and in >50% of cells (+++). Differential PCR data (in bold) indicate amplification or deletion (see Materials and Methods).

ACA AAA TGT TT-3' (sense) and 5'-TCA CAT ACA TAC AAG TCA CCA AC-3' (antisense) for exon 8.

Differential PCR for p16 Homozygous Deletion and EGFR, CDK4, and MDM2 Amplification

To assay *p16* homozygous deletions in gliosarcomas, differential PCR was carried out, using the *STS* reference sequence, as reported by Ueki et al, ¹⁵ with some modifications.⁴ The average *p16/STS* ratio, using normal blood DNA, was 1.04, with a standard variation of 0.15. Values of less than 0.2 for the *p16/STS* ratio indicated deletions of the *p16* gene.⁴ Two primary glioblastomas, which showed a ratio of less than 0.2 in the previous study,⁴ served as positive controls for *p16* deletion.

To detect *CDK4* amplification, differential PCR was carried out as described previously.⁴ Interferon γ (IFN γ) was used as a reference gene. The value for normal blood DNA was 1.07, with a standard variation of 0.19. A value of more than 2.7 for the *CDK4/IFNG* ratio was regarded as positive for *CDK4* amplification. This value was calculated according to the method of Rollbrocker et al. ¹⁶ One primary glioblastoma, which showed a ratio higher than 2.7 in a previous study.⁴ served as the positive control for *CDK4* amplification.

MDM2 amplification was detected by differential PCR analysis as previously described.¹⁷ Dopamine receptor (*DR*) was used as the reference gene. The *MDM2/DR* ratio from normal blood DNA was 0.91, with a standard variation of 0.4. A value of more than 3.02 for the *MDM2/DR* ratio was regarded as positive for *MDM2* amplification. Two primary glioblastomas, which showed a ratio higher than 3.02 in a previous study.¹⁷ served as positive controls for *MDM2* amplification.

To detect *EGFR* amplification, differential PCR with the cystic fibrosis (*CF*) reference gene was carried out as described previously.¹⁸ with some modifications.⁵ The mean *EGFR/CF* ratio, from DNA from the peripheral blood of healthy adults, was 1.2, with a standard variation of 0.20. The threshold value 2.94 was regarded as evidence of *EGFR* amplification, according to the method of Rollbrocker et al.¹⁶ One primary glioblastoma, which showed *EGFR* amplification in a previous study,⁵ was used as a positive control.

Immunohistochemistry

The sections were deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated in graded ethanol. The endogenous peroxidase was blocked by incubation in 0.3% $\rm H_2O_2$ solution in methanol for 30 minutes.

For p53 immunchistochemistry, the sections were boiled three times for 5 minutes in 10 mmol/L sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) in a microwave oven. The incubations of anti-human p53 monoclonal antibody (PAb 1801: Genosys Biotechnologies, Cambridge, UK; diluted 1:1000). were carried out overnight at 4°C after blocking of nonspecific binding with 5% skimmed milk for 60 minutes.

For MDM2 immunohistochemistry, the sections were boiled in 10 mmol/L sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 10 minutes in a steam cooker, subsequently incubated in 5% skimmed milk for 1 hour at room temperature, then incubated overnight at 4°C with the monoclonal antibody to MDM2 (clone IF2; Oncogene Research Products, Cambridge, MA; diluted at 1:2000).

For EGFR immunohistochemistry, sections were pretreated with 0.1% trypsin in 0.1% CaCl₂ (pH 7.8) for 15 minutes at 37°C and then incubated in 5% skimmed milk for 60 minutes. Sections were then reacted overnight at 4°C with EGFR monoclonal antibody (NCL-EGFR; Novocastra Laboratories, Newcastle, UK), which recognizes the EGFR ligand binding domain (dilution 1:100).

For RB immunohistochemistry, the sections were boiled three times for 5 minutes in 10 mmol/L sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) in a microwave oven. The sections were allowed to cool at room temperature. Sections were incubated overnight at 4°C with the RB monoclonal antibody (clone G3–245; PharMingen, San Diego, CA; diluted 1;100), which recognizes an epitope between amino acids 300 and 380 and both phosphorylated and underphosphorylated RB protein.

For c-MET immunohistochemistry, the sections were boiled for 10 minutes in 10 mmol/L sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) in a steam cooker and subsequently incubated in 5% skimmed milk overnight at room temperature. Sections were then incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with the c-MET monoclonal antibody (NCL-cMET, diluted 1:100; Novocastra Laboratories).

The reaction was visualized using the Vectastain ABC Kit and diaminobenzidine (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Sections were counterstained with hematoxylin. Fractions of positive cells were recorded as follows: -, negative; +, <5%; ++, 5-50%; +++, >50%.

Results

p53 Mutations and p53 Protein Accumulation

Miscoding p53 mutations were found in five of 19 (26%) gliosarcomas analyzed (Table 1). One tumor (case 211) contained a silent mutation (GTG→GTA, Val→Val) in codon 173. In case 210 (Table 1), the first biopsy showed the missense mutation CCC→TCT in codon 190; the second biopsy contained a different mutation, CCC→TCC, in codon 151, which was present in both the gliomatous and sarcomatous components (Table 2). In all cases, the wild-type base was present along with the mutated base. In case 216, the mutation was present only in the third biopsy but not in the first and second biopsies. Of five gliosarcomas with a p53 mutation, four showed nuclear accumulation of p53 protein in a variable fraction of neoplastic glial and mesenchymal cells (Table 1). One gliosarcoma (case 207) contained a 2-bp insertion mutation. resulting in a stop codon, and did not show p53 immunoreactivity (Table 1).

PTEN Mutations

SSCP followed by direct DNA sequencing revealed that seven of 19 (37%) gliosarcomas contained a PTEN mu-

| Patient no. | Biopsy | Area | Genetic alteration |
|-------------|--------|------|---|
| 210 | 2nd | S | p53 mutation (codon 151, CCC→TCC) |
| 210 | | G | ρ 53 mutation (codon 151, CCC \rightarrow TCC) |
| 213 | 1st | S | p16 deletion |
| 210 | | G | |
| 214 | 1st | S | p16 deletion |
| -17 | | G | p16 deletion |
| 215 | 1st | S | PTEN mutation (codon 107, GAT→GCT) |
| 215 | 1.54 | G | PTEN mutation (codon 107, GAT→GCT) |
| 218 | 1st | S | PTEN mutation (codon 274, TGG→TGA |
| 210 | Tot | G | PTEN mutation (codon 274, TGG→TGA |
| 220 | 1st | S | CDK4 amplification, MDM2 amplification |
| 220 | iot | G | CDK4 amplification, MDM2 amplification |
| 222 | 1st | S | |
| ELU. | 101 | G | |

Table 2. Genetic Alterations in Sarcomatous and Gliomatous Components of Gliosarcomas

S, sarcomatous component. G, gliomatous component. ---, no genetic alterations.

tation (Table 1). Of these, three mutations were in exon 5 (phosphatase domain), two were in exon 8, and one each were in exons 1 and 2. Three were nonsense mutations leading to a truncated protein, and four were missense mutations. In all cases, the wild-type base was also detectable. In case 212, the same mutation was present in both primary and second biopsies. In cases 215 and 218, identical mutations were detected in gliomatous and sarcomatous areas (Tables 1 and 2 and Figure 2).

p16 Deletion, CDK4 Amplification, and RB Expression

In seven cases (37%), differential PCR revealed a homozygous p16 deletion (Table 1). In one tumor (case



Strong immunoreactivity to RB was observed in 5–50% of neoplastic cells in 10 cases and in more than 50% of neoplastic cells in six cases. In one case (case 210, Table 1) RB expression was not detectable.

A cell cycle-related gene alteration (p16 deletion, CDK4 amplification, or loss of RB expression) was found in 10 of 19 (53%) gliosarcomas, but these were mutually exclusive, ie, no biopsy contained more than one of these alterations.





Figure 3. Differential PCR assay for *p16* homozygous deletion and *CDK4* and *MDM2* amplification. Both gliomatous (G) and sarcomatous (S) areas in case 220 show a significantly increased signal intensity of the *CDK4* and *MDM2* bands (C) when compared to the respective reference sequence (IFNG, DR), suggesting coamplification of these genes. In case 214 (bottom), both tumor components show a reduced *p16* signal (C) when compared to the reference sequence (Q STS), suggesting a homozygous *p16* deletion, N, normal DNA, M, molecular size marker.

Figure 2. Sequencing gels showing an identical *PTEN* mutation in codon 2⁵⁴ (TGG→TGA, Tp→Stop) in microdissected surcomatous and gliomatous areas of a gliosarcoma (case 218).

| Table 3. Clinical and Generi | Data of Glioblastoma Subtypes |
|------------------------------|-------------------------------|
|------------------------------|-------------------------------|

| | Primary glioblastoma | Gliosarcoma | Giant cell glioblastoma | Secondary glioblastoma |
|---|---|---|--|--|
| Clinical onset Preoperative clinical history | <i>De novo</i> 1.7 months ³ | <i>De novo</i> 3 months* | <i>De novo</i> 1.6 months ⁶ | Secondary 53 m. from low-grade astrocytoma ³ |
| Sex ratio (M/F) | 1.43 | 1.4* 1.8 ¹¹ | 1.26.44 | 25 m. from anaplastic astrocytoma ³ 0.8 ³ |
| Age of diagnosis | 56 ³⁻⁶⁶ | 56* 53 ¹¹ | 44 ⁽⁻⁴⁻¹ | 40 ^{3,46} |
| p53 mutation PTEN mutation p16 deletion MDM2 amplification EGFR amplification CDK4 amplification | 2/19 (11%) ³ 9/28 (32%) ⁵ 10/28 (36%) ⁴ 2/29 (7%) ¹⁷ 11/28 (39%) ⁵ 1/28 (4%) ⁴ | 8/35 (23%)* ^{12/43} 8/21 (38%)* ¹⁵ 7/19 (37%)* 1/19 (5%)* 1/22 (4%)* ⁴² 2/19 (10%)* | 31/37 (84%) ⁶⁻⁴⁴ 6/22 (27%) ⁶⁻⁴⁵ 1/37 (3%) ⁶⁻⁴⁴ 0/18 (0%) ⁶ 2/37 (5%) ⁶⁻⁴³ 1/19 (5%) ⁴⁴ | 20/30 (67%) ³ 1/25 (4%) ⁵ 1/23 (4%) ⁴ 0/27 (0%) ¹⁷ 0/22 (0%) ⁶ 3/23 (13%) ⁴ |

This study.

Superscripts are numbers from the list of references at the end of this paper.

Amplification and Overexpression of the MDM2, EGFR, and c-MET Genes

MDM2 amplification was detected by differential PCR in one biopsy (case 220), which also showed *CDK4* amplification (Tables 1 and 2 and Figure 3). In this tumor, *MDM2* overexpression was detected immunohistochemically in more than 50% of neoplastic cell nuclei of both gliomatous and sarcomatous areas.

Differential PCR did not reveal *EGFR* amplification in any of the 19 cases, and *EGFR* overexpression was also absent immunohistochemically (Table 1).

c-MET immunoreactivity presented as strong cytoplasmic and plasma membrane staining in glioma cells in gliomatous areas, but not in sarcomatous areas in all gliosarcomas analyzed.

Discussion

The term gliosarcoma was introduced in 1898 by Stroebe.7 Fifty years later, Feigin et al19 defined it as a glioblastoma subtype in which proliferating vessels had acquired the features of a sarcoma. Some studies showed expression of monohistiocytic markers, suggesting that gliosarcomas develop from histiocytes, whereas others suggested an origin from fibroblasts, pluripotent mesenchymal cells of the perivascular adventitia or perivascular spaces.^{20,21} The expression of α -smooth muscle actin in sarcomatous portions pointed to vascular smooth muscle as the potential origin of the mesenchymal tissue component.22 More recent investigations suggested a common origin of for the two tissue components: the sarcomatous areas result from advanced glioma progression with acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype.23.24 This view is strongly supported by genetic analyses, including the present study. Using interphase cytogenetic analysis. Paulus et al²⁵ detected similar cytogenetical abnormalities in the gliomatous and sarcomatous components of two gliosarcomas, but Biernat et al12 were the first to prove a monoclonal origin by demonstrating the presence of identical p53 mutations in the two tumor areas. Similar genetic alterations in both tumor components

were subsequently reported by Boerman et al.¹³ using comparative genomic hybridization (CGH), cytogenetic analysis, fluorescence *in situ* hybridization, and microsatellite analysis.

The present study extends these findings to a variety of other gene alterations (Table 2). We detected in gliomatous and sarcomatous tumor areas identical PTEN mutations (two cases), a p53 mutation (one case), homozygous p16 deletion (one case), and coamplification of MDM2 and CDK4 (one case). In one biopsy (case 213), only the sarcomatous area showed an unequivocal p16 deletion, whereas in the gliomatous portion the p16/sts ratio was 0.31 and thus did not reach the criterion of $\rho 16$ deletion. This may be due to an admixture of DNA from nonneoplastic neural tissue. Taken together, these data firmly establish the gliosarcoma as a monoclonal tumor with focal aberrant mesenchymal differentiation. Identical genetic alterations have also been detected in both the carcinomatous and sarcomatous components of uterine carcinosarcomas,²⁶ and in epithelial and stromal components of pulmonary carcinosarcomas.27

In this as well as in previous studies,¹¹ gliosarcoma typically developed in older patients (Table 3) and was diagnosed at first biopsy after a short clinical history, suggesting that these tumors developed *de novo*, ie. without an identifiable, less malignant precursor lesion. Occasionally (case 221) the histological features of gliosarcoma appeared in the second biopsy of a primary glioblastoma. Perry et al²⁶ reported that 25 of 32 cases (78%) were diagnosed as gliosarcoma in the first biopsy, whereas seven (22%) developed after irradiation for glioblastoma. Rarely, gliosarcomas develop through progression from low-grade²⁵ or anaplastic astrocytoma (Ref. 29 and case 216 of this study).

The present study shows that gliosarcomas contain some genetic alterations similar to those typically encountered in primary glioblastomas, ie, frequent p16 deletions (37%) and *PTEN* mutations (37%) (Table 3). The unexpected and most striking difference is the complete absence of amplification or overexpression of the *EGFR* gene, a hallmark of primary (*de novo*) glioblastomas.^{2,3,5} The absence of *EGFR* amplification in gliosarcomas may The most common changes in gliosarcomas detected in cytogenetic studies included gains of chromosome 7 (*EGFR* gene locus) and loss of chromosome 10, followed by deletions of the long arm of chromosomes 13 and 9. ^{13,30} ³² The absence of *EGFR* amplification in this study suggests that other protooncogenes on chromosome 7 may be involved in the evolution of this glioblastoma variant. *CDK6*, *PDGF-A* and c-*MET* genes on chromosome 7 have been reported to be amplified or overexpressed in malignant gliomas.^{33,36} c-MET immunohistochemistry in these study shows that c-MET is overexpressed in gliomatous but not in sarcomatous components in gliosarcomas. It remains to be clarified in the development of gliosarcomas.

The frequency of *p*53 mutations in gliosarcomas was 26% and thus was significantly lower than in secondary glioblastomas (67%, P = 0.0086) but somewhat higher than in our cohort of patients with primary glioblastomas, but the difference was not significant (26 versus 11%, P = 0.405).³

The 12q13–14 chromosomal region contains several genes (*MDM2*, *CDK4*, sarcoma amplified sequence SAS and *GLI*) that have been reported to be coamplified in sarcomas³⁷ and glioblastomas.³⁸ In this study, one gliosarcoma (case 220) showed coamplification of *MDM2* and *CDK4* in gliomatous and sarcomatous tumor areas.

The progression of cells from G1 to S phase is requlated by cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), their inhibitors, and the retinoblastoma protein (pRB). In a simplified model, p16 protein binds to CDK4 and inhibits the formation of CDK4/cyclin D complex. When activated, this complex phosphorylates the RB protein, thereby inducing the release of the E2F transcription factor, which in turn activates genes involved in the late G1 and S phases.^{39.40} Homozygous p16 deletion, CDK4 amplification, and loss of RB expression are frequent in glioblastomas.4,41,42 In this study, approximately one-half of gliosarcomas showed aberrant expression in one of these genes (Table 1). The frequency of p16 homozygous deletion in seven (37%) gliosarcomas is similar to that in primary glioblastomas.⁴ Our finding that in gliosarcomas homozygous p16 deletion, CDK4 amplification, and loss of RB expression were mutually exclusive corresponds to similar observations in other glioblastomas4,15,42 and indicates that altered expression of any of these genes may lead to loss of cell cycle control.

In conclusion, gliosarcomas exhibit clinical features and a genetic profile similar to those of primary (*de novo*) glioblastomas, ie, advanced patient age, short clinical history, and frequent *p16* deletions and *PTEN* mutations. The unexpected and most striking difference is the absence of amplification/overexpression of the *EGFR* gene, a genetic hallmark of primary glioblastomas. The presence of identical genetic alterations in both gliomatous and sarcomatous components strongly supports the concept of a monoclonal origin of gliosarcomas.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Dr. Leila Chimelli, Pathology Department, University of Ribeirão Preto, São Paulo, Brazil, for providing one of the gliosarcoma biopsies. We thank Ms. N. Lyandrat and Ms. M. Laval for excellent technical assistance. R. M. R. was supported by a grant from the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (PRAXIS XXI), Portugal.

References

- Kleihues P, Burger PC, Plate KH, Ohgaki H, Cavenee WK: Glioblastoma. Pathology, Genetics of Turnours of the Nervous System. Edited by P Kleihues, WK Cavenee: Lyon, International Agency for Research on Cancer. 1997, pp. 16–24.
- Kleihues P, Ohgaki H: Primary and secondary glioblastomas from concept to clinical diagnosis. Neuro-Oncology 1999, 1:44–51
- Watanabe K, Tachibana O, Sato K, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. Overexpression of the EGF receptor and p53 mutations are mutually exclusive in the evolution of primary and secondary glioblastomas. Brain Pathol 1996; 6:217–224
- 4 Biernat W. Tohma Y., Yonekawa Y. Kleihues P., Ohgaki H. Alterations of cell cycle regulatory genes in primary (de novo) and secondary glioblastomas. Acta Neuropathol 1997, 94:303–309
- Tohma Y, Gratas C, Biernat W, Peraud A, Fukuda M, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H: PTEN (MMAC1) mutations are frequent in primary glioblastomas (de novo) but not in secondary glioblastomas: J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1998, 57:684–689.
- Peraud A. Watanabe K. Schwechheimer K. Yonekawa Y. Kleihues P. Ohgaki H. Genetic profile of the giant cell glioblastoma. Lab Invest 1999, 79 123–129.
- Stroebe H. Uber Entstehung und Bau der Himgliome. Beitr Pathol Anat 1895, 18:405–486
- Burger PC, Scheithauer BW: Tumors of the Central Nervous System, Washington, Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, 1994
- Meis JM. Martz KL, Nelson JS: Mixed glioblastoma multiforme and sarcoma. A clinicopathologic study of 26 radiation therapy oncology group cases. Cancer 1991, 67:2342–2349
- Kleihues P, Burger PC, Scheithauer BW: The new WHO classification of brain tumours. Brain Pathol 1993, 3 255–268
- Biernat W, Hegi M, Aguzzi A, Kleihues P, Gliosarcoma: Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Nervous System. Edited by P Kleihues, WKCavenee. Lyon. International Agency for Research on Cancer. 1997, pp 27–28
- 12 Biernat W, Aguzzi A, Sure U, Grant JW, Kleihues P, Hegi ME: Identical mutations of the p53 tumior suppressor gene in the gliomatous and the sarcomatous components of gliosarcomas suggest a common origin from glial cells. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1995, 54:651–656
- Boerman RH, Anderl K, Herath J, Borell T, Johnson N, Schaeffer-Klein J, Kirchhof A, Raap AK, Scheithauer BW, Jenkins RB: The glial and mesenchymal elements of gliosarcomas share similar genetic alterations. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1996, 55:973-981
- Brüstle O, Ohgaki H, Schmitt HP, Walter GF, Ostertag H, Kielhues P, Primitive neuroectodermal tumors after prophylactic central nervous system irradiation in children. Association with an activated K-ras gene. Cancer 1992, 69:2385–2392.
- 15 Ueki K, Ono Y, Henson JW, Efird JT, von Deimling A, Louis DN: CDKN2/p16 or RB alterations occur in the majority of glioblastomas and are inversely correlated. Cancer Res 1996. 56:150–153
- Rollbrocker B, Waha A, Louis DN, Wiestler OD, von Deimling A Amplification of the cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) gene is asso- ciated with high cdk4 protein levels in glioblastoma multiforme. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1996, 92:70–74
- 17 Biernat W, Kleihues P, Yonekawa Y, Ohgaki H, Amplification and

overexpression of MDM2 in primary (de novo) glioblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1997, 56:180-185

- Hunter SB, Abbott K, Varma VA, Olson JJ, Barnett DW, James CD: Reliability of differential PCR for the detection of EGFR and MDM2 gene amplification in DNA extracted from FFPE glioma tissue. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1995; 54:57–64.
- Feigin IM, Allen LB, Lipkin L, Gross SW: The endothelial hyperplasia of the cerebral blood vessels and its sarcomatous transformation. Cancer 1958. 11:264–277
- Grant JW, Steart PV, Aguzzi A, Jones DB, Gallagher PJ. Gliosarcoma. an immunohistochemical study. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1989, 79. 305–309.
- Kochi N, Budka H. Contribution of histiocytic cells to sarcomatous development of the gliosarcoma. An immunohistochemical study. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1987, 73:124–130
- 22 Haddad SF, Moore SA, Schelper RL, Goeken JA. Vascular smooth muscle hyperplasia underlies the formation of glomeruloid vascular structures of glioblastoma multiforme. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1992; 51:488–492.
- Meis JM, Ho KL, Nelson JS: Gliosarcoma: a histologic and immunohistochemical realfirmation. Mod Pathol 1990; 3:19–24
- Jones H, Steart PV, Weller RO: Spindle-cell glioblastoma or gliosarcoma? Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 1991, 17:177–187
- Paulus W, Bayas A. Ott G. Roggendorf W. Interphase cytogenetics of glioblastoma and gliosarcoma. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1994, 88: 420-425
- 26. Wada H, Enomoto T, Fujita M, Yoshino K, Nakashima R, Kurachi H, Haba T, Wakasa K, Shroyer KB, Tsujimoto M. Hongyo T. Nomura T, Murata Y. Molecular evidence that most but not all carcinosarcomas of the uterus are combination tumors. Cancer Res 1997, 57:5379– 5385
- Holst VA, Finkelstein S, Colby TV, Myers JL, Yousem SA: p53 and K-ras mutational genotyping in pulmonary carcinosarcoma, spindle cell carcinoma, and pulmonary blastoma: implications for histogenesis. Am J Surg Pathol 1997, 21:801–811
- Perry JR. Ang LC. Bilbao JM, Muller PJ. Clinicopathologic features of primary and postirradiation cerebral gliosarcoma. Cancer 1995, 75: 2910–2918
- Sreenan JJ, Prayson RA. Gliosarcoma: a study of 13 tumors, including p53 and CD34 immunohistochemistry. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1997, 121:129–133
- Bigner SH, Mark J, Bigner DD: Cytogenetics of human brain tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1990, 47:141–154
- Jenkins RB, Kimmel DW, Moertel CA, Schultz CG, Scheithauer BW, Kelly PJ, Dewald GW: A cytogenetic study of 53 human gliomas Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1989, 39:253–279

- Bigner SH, Wong AJ, Mark J, Muhlbaier LH, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Bigner DD: Relationship between gene amplification and chromosomal deviations in malignant human gliomas. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1987, 29:165–170.
- 33 Costello JF, Plass C, Arap W, Chapman VM, Held WA, Berger MS, Huang HJ, Cavenee WK. Cyclin-dependent kinase 6 (CDK6) amplification in human glomas identified using two-dimensional separation of genomic DINA. Cancer Res 1997, 57:1250–1254
- Westermark B, Heldin CH, Nister M. Platelet-derived growth factor in human glioma. Glia 1995, 15:257–263
- Koochekpour S, Jeffers M, Rulong S, Taylor G, Klineberg E, Hudson EA, Resau JH, Vande WG. Met and hepatocyte growth factor/ scatter factor expression in human gliomas. Cancer Res 1997, 57:5391–5398
- 36. Wullich B, Sattler HP, Fischer U, Meese E, Two independent amplification events on chromosome 7 in glioma: amplification of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene and amplification of the oncogene MET. Anticancer Res 1994, 14:577–579
- Nilbert M, Rydholm A, Mitelman F, Meltzer PS, Mandahi N: Characterization of the 12g13–15 amplicon in soft tissue tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1995, 83-32-36
- 38 Collins VP: Gene amplification in human gliomas. Glia 1995, 15:289– 296
- 39. Sherr CJ. Cancer cell cycles. Science 1996, 274:1672-1677
- Mulligan G, Jacks T. The retinoblastoma gene family: cousins with overlapping interests. Trends Genet 1998, 14:223–229
- Schmidt EE. Ichimura K. Reifenberger G. Collins VP. CDKN2 (p16/ MTS1) gene deletion or CDK4 amplification occurs in the majority of glioblastomas. Cancer Res 1994. 54:6321–6324
- Ichimura K, Schmidt EE, Goike HM, Collins VP: Human glioblastomas with no alterations of the CDK2A (p16^{FaltAA}, MTS1) and CDK4 genes have frequent mutations of the retinoblastoma gene. Oncogene 1996, 13:1065–1072
- Frankel RH, Bayona W, Koslow M, Newcomb EW. p53 mutations in human malignant gliomas: comparison of loss of heterozygosity with mutation frequency. Cancer Res 1992. 52:1427–1433
- Meyer-PutIliz B, Hayashi Y, Waha A, Rollbrocker B, Bostrom J, Wiestler OD, Louis DN, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A: Molecular genetic analysis of giant cell glioblastomas. Am J Pathol 1997, 151:853–857
- Duerr EM, Rollbrocker B, Hayashi Y, Peters N, Meyer-Putilitz B, Louis DN, Schramm J, Wiestler OD, Parsons R, Eng C, von Deimling A: PTEN mutations in gliomas and glioneuronal lumors. Oncogene 1998, 16 2259–2264
- von Deimling A, von Ammon K, Schoenfeld D. Wiestler OD. Seizinger BR. Louis DN. Subsets of glioblastoma multiforme defined by molecular genetic analysis. Brain Pathol 1993. 3:19–26.

FICHA TÉCNICA:

Edição e design gráfico: Rui Manuel Vieira Reis

Impressão: Gráfica VISAGUE, Ermesinde

Tiragem: 100 exemplares

ISBN: 972-95714-9-X

Porto, 2001

